
Annual
Report

2020-2021



Monash Health Annual Report. 2020-212

Acknowledgement of Country
Monash Health acknowledges the Traditional Custodians of the land, the Wurundjeri and Boonwurrung 
peoples, and we pay our respects to them, their culture and their Elders past, present and future. In 
this document, ‘Aboriginal’ refers to both Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. ‘Indigenous’ 
or ‘Koori/Koorie’ is retained when part of the title of a report, program or quotation.
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Telehealth revolution transforms maternal care 
Our maternity team led by (from left to right) Andrea Rindt, 
Dr Kirsten Palmer, Dr Alice Stewart and A/Prof Ryan 
Hodges embraced telehealth in a transformation of our 
perinatal care model.

44
Our care at a glance 
Read about the high quality care our team have provided  
across south eastern metropolitan Melbourne and  
rural Victoria.
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Disclaimer: The images in this report were taken at different points across 
the year. Infection prevention precautions such as levels of PPE changed 
at different points in the year, which may be reflected in the images.
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Our strategic intent

We are relentless 
in our pursuit of 
excellence

“We see Monash Health’s teams pursuing excellence every day. 
Whether it be excellence in research and teaching, in our provision of 
care, or in establishing and maintaining the best support systems to 
allow for that care, it is the foundation for all that we do."

Andrew Stripp, 
Chief Executive



The year in review

Report of the Chair of 
Board and Chief Executive 
Welcome to the  
Monash Health Annual 
Report 2020-21

The importance of providing 
high-quality public health care 
has arguably never been more 

pronounced as over the past year as 
we dealt with the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Throughout this challenging 
period, our people’s determination 
and commitment has again led 
to an exceptional response. The 
contribution made by each, whether 
in clinical or support roles, on-site or 
remotely, ensured we continued to 
play a pivotal role in supporting our 
community’s healthcare needs. 

Fittingly, for a leading teaching 
and research health service, our 
academic and research focus played 
a prominent role in our pandemic 
response as we established new ways 
of working, and evidence-based  
learning guided our way. 

In this report you will find highlights 
and case studies that demonstrate 
our strategic guiding principles. 

While stand-out highlights are 
easy to capture, the small acts of 
kindness and care that occur every 
day across our health network 
are far harder to quantify but have 
made all the difference to those 
we care for and each other. 

Highlights include: 
• our continued response to 

COVID-19, responding to the 
needs of our patients and the 
wider community while protecting 
and supporting our employees;    

• being selected as a State 
Vaccination Hub and entrusted 
to take carriage of, store and 
distribute vaccines within 
the southeast catchment; 

• the establishment of COVID-19 
high-volume vaccination centres, 
delivering Victoria’s first dose in 
what will inevitably be our most 
extensive vaccination program; 

• creation of the South East Public 
Health Unit, establishing and 
mobilising COVID-19 screening 
clinics, COVID-19 vaccination 
clinics, developing tracing and other 
outbreak management response 
models and partnering with other 
public health services, private 
hospitals and community providers; 

• opening the new Emergency 
Department and dedicated 
children’s emergency area at 
Monash Medical Centre; 

• officially launching The Moose  
Imagination Tree; 

• the advancement of more than 
140 active research studies, 
including multiple research projects 
related to COVID-19, viral disease 
and pandemic response.

All the while, we continued providing 
high-quality healthcare for people at 
every life stage, whether it be world-
leading surgical care, emergency 
treatment, maternal care, delivering 
transformational hospital in the home, 
community-based mental health 
services or the best in palliative care.
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We are grateful for the support 
of so many organisations who all 
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with us, despite the challenges 
we all faced. Our community 
partnerships are strengthened 
and more important than ever in 
responding to the pandemic. 

We also thank our many 
volunteers and generous donors  
who have responded to our needs. 

We acknowledge and thank the 
Victorian Government, Department 
of Health and Federal Government 
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to deliver positive outcomes to our 
diverse and evolving community. 

Dipak Sanghvi
Chair of Board

Andrew Stripp
Chief Executive
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Professor Rhonda Stuart addresses media as Victorian Government  
announces $50 million to establish mRNA vaccine and therapeutic  
manufacturing in Melbourne. 



We are 
responsible for 
our neighbourhood 
and we will look 
after it.

Professor Rhonda Stuart,
Director, South East Public   
Health Unit
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COVID-19: A year in and 
out of the trenches
As the new financial year commenced, Victoria found itself in the early stages  
of a ‘second wave’ of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Monash Health team played 
a significant role in protecting the 
Victorian community from the 

pandemic in the preceding six months. 
From receiving the first patient in 
Australia in January 2020 and training 
more than 12,000 employees in the 
use of personal protective equipment 
(PPE) to conducting more than 
174,000 screening tests and caring 
for 25 COVID-19 patients, our people 
adapted time and again to overcome 
the challenges of one of the world’s 
most significant public health events.  

 As the new financial year 
commenced, Melbourne was in a 
lockdown and subject to restrictions 
extended late into the calendar year, 
with regional Victoria also subject to 
varying conditions throughout this 
period. People’s movements were 
limited, and employees who could 
work from home were required to do 
so. For Monash Health, our workforce 
and digital capabilities would pivot 
to enable around 2,000 employees 
to work remotely successfully. 

Hospital Incident Management 
Team and the evolution of 
the daily operating rhythm  
Over the first months of the pandemic, 

Monash Health put in place systems 
and processes to allow it to best 
manage care for patients and 
each other in a COVID-19 world. 
Underpinning these practices were our 
COVID-19 Model of Care principles:   

• The safety and wellbeing of 
our employees is paramount 

• We will protect our non-COVID-19  
inpatients from transmission, 
especially our most vulnerable  
patient cohorts (immunocompromised  
and elderly) 

• We will equip our employees with 
the resources they need to provide 
care (PPE, IT systems, equipment, 
training, psychosocial support) 

• Where demand exceeds our 
capacity to provide care, care 
will be prioritised based on 
agreed clinical policies 

As the year progressed, these 
principles, and the daily operating 
rhythm across the health network 
would continue to evolve. 

Over the previous five months, 
the health network had transformed 
many services, particularly expanding 
telehealth services that would allow 
patients to receive care from their own 

homes. As the pandemic extended, 
this practice was further refined 
and expanded. One area which 
saw substantial transformation was 
maternal health services, with almost 
two-thirds of check-ups delivered 
virtually. Expectant mums were 
provided with resources to measure 
their baby’s growth, blood pressure, 
and other factors and could meet 
online with clinicians and midwives 
for care and advice. The model of 
care was a paradigm shift in antenatal 

8 July 2020

Metropolitan 
Melbourne and 
Mitchell Shire 
enter second 
lockdown

6 August 2020

Victoria’s second 
wave peaks with  
725 new 
COVID-19  
cases

14 August 2020

Monash Health 
Foundation’s 
COVID-19 
appeal raises 
over $450,000 
for research
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care, which had not seen much 
change in nearly a century. Quality of 
care, safe outcomes and consumer 
experience remained remarkably high. 

The virus put enormous pressure 
on the entire Victorian health system. 
At its peak, there were 675 COVID-19 
hospitalisations in Victoria during the 
second wave. Of these, Monash Health 
cared for 165 patients with COVID-19. 

Monash Medical Centre had 
treated Australia’s first COVID-19 
patient in January 2020, placing the 
health network at the forefront of 
the pandemic response. So it was 
with much celebration that the last 
COVID-19 patient in Victoria was 
discharged from the same hospital 
in late November. That milestone 
marked the first time Victoria’s 
hospitals were free of Coronavirus 
cases since February. Tragically, 
819 people lost their lives to the 
virus in Victoria during that time. 

More than 135,000 COVID-19 
vaccinations were administered 
by Monash Health.

Early engagement with 
residential care facilities 
Monash Health was called upon to 
provide leadership and support to 
residential aged care facilities within 
our catchment that had reported a 
COVID-19 outbreak. This was part of 
the State and Federal governments’ 
coordinated efforts to contain the 
spread of COVID-19 among our 
most vulnerable Victorians. 

When a facility reported an 
outbreak, we were asked to stand 
up a response team and work 
collaboratively with the Department 
of Health, Commonwealth Aged 
Care Program and related agencies 
to assist the facility management to 
bring the outbreak under control. 

One such facility was Outlook 
Gardens Aged Care in Dandenong, 
which was subject to an outbreak 
which would see almost its entire team 
furloughed. Monash Health stepped 
in to ensure continuity of operations 
and safe delivery of care while 
containment, contact tracing and deep 
cleaning occurred. The support would 
extend to infection prevention, PPE 
supply and training and continued until 
residents and employees were able to 
return negative results. It was a true 
partnership approach, which ultimately 
enabled residents and their families 
to feel well supported and cared for 
through a most difficult period. 

Workforce Protection, case 
numbers and protection 
strategies: “COVID READY” 
From the outset of the pandemic, 
Monash Health had taken the approach 
that the health and wellbeing of 
employees was paramount, a principle 
which remains at the forefront. 

COVID-19 statistics

275,672
total number of 
screening tests

4
drive-through 
screening  
clinics

166
COVID-19 admissions

71%
fully vaccinated employees* 
*as at 30/06/21

135k
community vaccinations 
administered

2,044
close contacts investigated* 
*since 1 Feb

94
exposure sites investigated* 
*since 1 Feb

6
pop up 
screening 
clinics

19 August 2020

COVID-19 
hospitalisations
in Victoria 
peak with 
675 patients

1 October 2020

South East
Public Health 
Unit established

26 October 2020

Victoria records 
zero new cases
and zero deaths 
state-wide for 
the first time 
in 139 days
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Throughout the year, employees 
continued to be fully supported with 
a wide range of high quality PPE, with 
compulsory standards established 
to protect employees. As risks 
fluctuated, so too would the tier or 
level of PPE required. To support our 
patient-facing and clinical employees 
with the use of PPE, thousands 
of hours of face-to-face training 
sessions were delivered across 
our sites, via Webex, and online. 

In December, a compulsory fit testing 
program was introduced, requiring 
most employees to undertake annual 
fit testing of respirators. Fit testing is 
designed to ensure that employees 
can achieve an effective seal when 
using a respirator (sometimes known 
as N95 masks). While COVID-19 was 
clearly a motivation for establishing 
the program, it will ensure employees 
are kept safe from many workplace 
respiratory hazards, including airborne 
infectious agents, dust and other 
particles. Fit testing clinics were 

Mandatory fit testing was 
introduced for many employees 
as a new safety measure. 

established on all sites, and within 
the first six months of the program, 
8,220 employees had been tested. 

Vaccination was to follow and 
remains a key strategy in protecting 
our employees. Across the year, 58 
employees were to contract COVID-19, 
well below the average across other 
health services in Victoria. Thankfully all 
have recovered. Learning and adapting 
was a key aspect of our approach to 
managing COVID-19 outbreaks, and 
pleasingly Monash Health recorded 
zero employee infections between 23 
October, 2020 and 30 June, 2021. 

Over the year, Monash Health made 
many refinements to its Model of 
Care as it responded to the changing 
environment of the pandemic. 
These critical adjustments ensured 
our precious workforce resources 
were best placed to meet demand 
requirements without compromising 
safety, operational process or patient 
outcomes. The principles to maintain 
the safety of our employees, patients, 
and community remained at the core 
of every decision. This has continued 
to evolve and under a new state wide 
model which sees Monash Health 
providing state-wide service for 
COVID-19 positive pregnant women. 

During the previous year of operations, 
Monash Health was responsible for 
establishing six screening clinics, which 
would administer just under 175,000 
screening tests in the first few months 
of operations. A further 275,672 tests 
would be taken and processed over 
the 2020/21 year. This commitment 
to screening would grow significantly 
over the following year, with a range 
of permanent and pop-up clinics 
deployed as a critical weapon in the 
fight against COVID-19. Monash 

23 November 2020

Last COVID-19 
patient from 
second wave 
in Victoria 
discharged 
from Monash 
Medical Centre

25 January 2021

TGA provisionally 
approves Pfizer 
COVID-19 vaccine

16 February 2021

TGA provisionally 
approves 
AstraZeneca 
COVID-19 vaccine

The year in review

Drive-through screening clinics 
formed a key strategy in the 
fight against COVID-19.
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Health Pathology has conducted more 
COVID-19 testing than any other public 
pathology service in the state, all while 
continuing normal pathology services. 
The capacity to test was strengthened 
significantly through the year, with the 
installation of new fully automated, 
high throughput analysers increasing 
capacity to 4,500 tests per day. 

As the pandemic evolved, so did the 
public health response, and in October, 
the State Government announced it 
would be establishing a new public 
health unit structure across Victoria. 
In recognition of our expertise and the 
role we had already established at the 
forefront of the pandemic response, 
Monash Health was appointed to 
establish and build the Monash Health 
South East Public Health Unit (SEPHU). 

SEPHU was established to prevent 
and respond to the spread of 
COVID-19 in the southeast suburbs 
of Melbourne and the Mornington 
Peninsula. Initially, the unit’s response 
focuses on COVID-19 outbreaks and 
public health strategies intended 
to test, track, trace to prevent the 
virus’s spread. An essential part of the 
SEPHU remit will offer our communities 
ongoing protection through the 
COVID-19 vaccination program. 

The unit provides a vehicle 
for integrating care and public 
health functions covering broader 
immunisations, illness prevention and 
population health. It has also been 
established to rapidly respond to 
infection prevention issues, new cases 
and outbreaks in our catchment area. 

SEPHU Regional 
Advisory Committee
Over time, the scope of SEPHU will 
evolve to play a more prominent role in 
various public health initiatives across 
the southeast corridor, realised through 
strong collaboration between Monash 
Health, Alfred Health and Peninsula 
Health. Key stakeholders include 
Victoria’s Department of Health, local 
councils, local healthcare providers, 
and community groups. The SEPHU 
vision is to work in partnership and 
collaboration to facilitate seamless 
access to our combined services 
to deliver independence and the 
best health outcomes for the 
diverse communities we serve. 

With the establishment of SEPHU, 
the existing Monash Health services, 
including Monash Immunisation and 
Infection Prevention, have integrated 
with the unit to create a new clinical 
program SEPHU and Vaccination 
Program. Monash Health’s Professor 

[Right] SEPHU established high- 
volume vaccination centres at 
Sandown and Cranbourne. 

22 February 2021

Prof. Rhonda Stuart 
the first Victorian 
vaccinated 
as COVID-19 
vaccination 
rollout begins at 
Monash Health

4 May 2021

Cranbourne 
high-volume 
COVID-19 
vaccination 
centre opened

19 May 2021

Sandown 
high-volume 
COVID-19 
vaccination 
centre opened
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The year in review

Rhonda Stuart was appointed Program 
Director of SEPHU, and its operating 
base is Monash Medical Centre.  

The new year commenced with 
ongoing COVID-19 outbreaks, sending 
parts or all of Victoria into various 
stages of restrictions. As had been 
the case previously, the presence of 
COVID-19 in the community would 
see visiting restrictions imposed and 
new safety measures put in place. 
The commitment and resilience of all 
employees, particularly those on the 
frontline, is to be commended. PPE 
levels changed as the risk profiles 
changed within the community. A 
range of initiatives such as Hand 
Hygiene Auditors and PPE Champions 
were introduced to ensure employee 
safety was at the forefront. 

Engagement and 
communication critical  
Communication played a significant role 
in keeping employees connected and 
safe and was activated across various 
platforms. Websites, videos, online 
events, and a variety of other mediums 
were embraced. For the first time in its 
history, the Length of Service Awards 
were delivered online and enjoyed 
its biggest audience yet. The online 
format provided a fantastic platform for 
current and past employees to connect 
and congratulate the 1680 employees 
recognised across four virtual events. 
A special congratulations to Cheryl 
Abbott, Michael Daskalakis, Domenica 
Davies and Kevin Ericksen AM, who 
were recognised for 45 years of service 
to Monash Health. The Awards were a 
reminder of the talented and engaged 
workforce retained by Monash Health. 

Our weekly Employee Forums 
continued throughout the year, 
providing an opportunity for people to 
connect online, remain informed, and 
celebrate successes. Undoubtedly, the 
most popular agenda item remained 
the regular updates of Professor 
Rhonda Stuart, who continued to 
unpack complex information and deliver 
it in reassuring everyday language. 
Special guests such as Victoria’s Chief 
Health Officer Brett Sutton, dropped 
in to recognise the team's efforts 
and answer employee questions. 

Another memorable guest was 

Monash Health alumni, Dr Cameron 
Wolfe, currently an Associate 
Professor of Medicine at Duke 
University Hospital North Carolina, 
who shared his firsthand experiences 
in the US of the impact of COVID-19 
on the community and the community 
healthcare workforce. Dr Wolfe’s 
insights into vaccines and the rollout 
of mass vaccination were particularly 
beneficial in alleviating hesitancy as 
the vaccine rollout commenced. 

Vaccination roll out commences 
Vaccination was clearly the next 
phase in the COVID-19 battle, and 
precisely one year from the day that 
Monash Health admitted Australia’s 
first COVID-19 patient, the first of 
two vaccines was approved by the 
Therapeutic Goods Administration. 
Within a matter of weeks, we again 
became part of a pivotal moment in the 
country’s fight against the virus, with our 
phased vaccination rollout commencing 
at Monash Medical Centre. 

Appropriately, given her role in 
caring for Australia’s first patient 
and leading the network, Professor 
Rhonda Stuart was the first Victorian 
to roll up her sleeve to receive a 
vaccine. The moment marked the 
start of the next chapter in our 
work, getting on the front foot and 
taking the fight to the pandemic.  

Employee and aged care vaccination 
were prioritised, and within a month, 
more than 8,000 doses of vaccine 

had been administered to healthcare 
workers. Vaccination clinics were 
operating at Clayton, Dandenong, 
Casey, Moorabbin and Kingston, 
vaccinating 1,500 people every day.  

As more vaccines became available, 
capacity was upscaled as Monash 
Health SEPHU opened high-volume 
vaccination centres at Cranbourne 
Turf Club and Sandown Racecourse, 
Springvale; a major milestone in 
protecting the community. 

As a vaccination hub for southeast 
Melbourne, SEPHU is responsible for 
determining local vaccination strategy, 
managing the logistics of receiving, 
storing, and shipping vaccines, 
and overseeing the catchment 
administration. The area covers 1.8 
million Victorians, and the goal remains 
to have offered a vaccine to every 
eligible person by 31 December 2021. 

Contact tracing responsibility 
and capability was also expanded 
significantly over the year, with 
the Monash Health team now 
responsible for tracing within the 
entire SEPHU catchment. In its first 
four months of operations, it would 
be responsible for notifying 2,044 
close contacts of COVID-19 infected 
people, 2,385 casual contacts, 
787 secondary close contacts and 
dealing with 94 exposure sites. 

Almost 18 months into the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the impact 
on our health service continues to 
evolve. At times it has been taxing; 
it has also been transformative. 
We know there is more to come, 
but we trust in the commitment 
and resilience of our workforce to 
remain focused on our core remit, 
the pursuit of excellence, always. 

The unwavering constant throughout 
has been our high-performing teams, 
unified for a common cause. Everyone 
has played their part, whether on the 
frontline caring for COVID patients or 
administering vaccines or ensuring 
support services continue without 
issue. Without this, the outcomes of 
the year may well have been different. 

To every single employee, 
we say thank you. 

A major recruitment drive was 
initiated to run vaccination centres.



Members of the community arriving at the 
Cranbourne high-volume vaccination centre.
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We consistently provide 
safe, high quality and 
timely care

“Simply put, I have the best job. The opportunity to work with the expert health 
professionals that make up the multidisciplinary teams is exciting, but it’s our 
patients and families that make my work so rewarding.”

Tania Green,
2020 HESTA Nurse of the Year 
Clinic Nurse Coordinator, Cleft and Craniofacial Unit 



The year in review

Taking care to the  
next level 
A coordinated, multidisciplinary approach, powered by some impressive 
teamwork, has resulted in award-winning care to cleft affected babies.

One in every 700 babies in 
Australia is born with orofacial 
clefts, a group of congenital 

malformations including cleft lip, cleft 
palate, or both. It’s one of the most 
common craniofacial anomalies and 
occurs when a baby’s lips or mouth do 
not form properly during pregnancy. 

Babies born with orofacial clefts rely 
on the support of a multidisciplinary 
team of specialists called a cleft 
team which includes doctors, 
surgeons, nurses, dentists and a 
range of allied health professionals. 

The high standard of care at 
Monash Health was recognised, 
when Tania Green was presented 
with her 2020 HESTA Nurse of the 
Year award. Tania is the Clinic Nurse 
Coordinator for Monash Health’s 
Cleft and Craniofacial Unit and has 
dedicated her career to improving 
awareness of the treatment and care 
required for cleft affected babies.  

“I am so pleased that this kind 
recognition will champion my 
beautiful cleft children and families, 
as well as the great work of the 
Cleft and Plastics Service,” Tania 
said. “Hopefully, it will also inspire all 
nurses to continue their exceptional 
care to support our patients as 
it’s what we nurses do best!” 

Tania played a significant role in 
establishing antenatal consultations 

for parents expecting a baby with 
a cleft lip or palate to help reduce 
their anxiety. She worked closely 
with families to reduce the number 
of hospital visits needed, saving 
them time and easing financial 
pressures for those who needed 
to travel long distances. 

Tania thanked her colleagues and 
explained the importance of this 
award. “The recognition through the 

HESTA Award has raised awareness 
for both the wonderful patients and 
families who live with a cleft diagnosis 
and the service and care we can 
provide,” she said. “The award is a 
great result of the dedication and hard 
work of multiple teams and something 
I’m very proud of.” Tania described 
the role as incredibly gratifying. 

“Simply put, I have the best job. 
The opportunity to work with the 

Monash Health Annual Report. 2020-21

Members of the team Alison Fitz-Gerald, Tania Green and Karen Wigg,  
as seen with Jessica Forcey and her baby Zoe. Karen is the proud mother  
of Jessica and grandmother of Zoe.
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expert health professionals that 
make up the multidisciplinary 
teams is exciting, but it’s our 
patients and families that make 
my work so rewarding. 

“The opportunity to meet with 
families enables me to advocate for 
positive outcomes for them from birth 
to adulthood, and the connection you 
establish during this time promotes the 
care and support we provide,” she said. 

A vital aspect of the role is 
educating the midwives to work with 
the paediatric team to get the best 
outcomes for mother and child. 

“I support the midwives by providing 
education and liaison, reassurance 
and encouragement,” she said. “The 
midwives are the experts when it 
comes to maternal and newborn 
care. The cleft newborn is only 
different in that they need specialised 

The year in review

feeding support, and by establishing 
confidence in the use of the feeding 
tools, the midwives are empowered.  

“If the midwife is confident, this 
reassurance passes to the new mum, 
and with this positive start, families 
are more confident in their care.” 

Tania’s colleague Karen Wigg, 
Midwife Manager Birth Unit, Monash 
Women’s, had firsthand experience 
of the team through the eyes of her 
daughter Jess, who gave birth to 
Zoe, who was born with a cleft lip. 

“Tania will come personally to see 
cleft babies and mums, discuss 
future implications, ongoing care 
and surgeries, and assist midwives 
on the ward to provide extra 
care if needed,” said Karen. 

“Tania also visited Jess within 
hours of birth and again several 
times a day throughout her stay,” 

she said. “She also provided vital 
support and education to the 
midwives, which ultimately kept mum 
and bub together on the ward. 

“Many of the midwives 
commented how empowered 
they felt and how different care 
for future patients could be.” 

Karen said the work done by Tania 
and the entire team was reflective of 
the extent to which exceptional patient 
care and outcomes come first. 
“Putting aside my own professional 
experience, it was just so 
comforting knowing that Zoe was 
in such wonderful hands!” 

Orofacial cleft 
statistics

1in700
babies affected by clefts

500
patients cared for  
by Monash Health

 30
babies with orofacial 
clefts cared for in 2020/21

 1987
Monash Cleft Service 
commenced operation

Many of the midwives commented how empowered they 
felt and how different care for future patients could be.”
Karen Wigg, Midwife Manager Birth Unit, Monash Women’s

Tania Green receives her 2020 HESTA Nurse of the Year award.
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Gorgeous baby Zoe is one 
happy patient of the Cleft 

and Craniofacial unit.
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We provide 
experiences that 
exceed expectations

“This was a time where we would have to ensure we could 
safeguard mothers and their babies.”

Associate Professor Ryan Hodges,
Program Director of the Women’s and Newborn Program  
and Director of Obstetric Services Monash Health



The year in review

Telehealth revolution 
transforms maternal care 
The COVID-19 pandemic has seen telehealth become a fundamental 
component of healthcare; however, its impact on antenatal care has  
been transformative. 

Program Director of the Women’s 
and Newborn Program and 
Director of Obstetric Services at 

Monash Health Associate Professor 
Ryan Hodges explains the impact of 
the pandemic proved catalytic in its 
impact on a decades-old care model. 

“I still vividly recall our Chief 
Executive Andrew Stripp calling 
me early in 2020 and telling me to 
prepare for what was to come,” 
he said. “We had to think about 
new models of care, particularly for 
pregnant women because pregnancy 
is not a time of sickness; it's a time 
of health and celebration,” he said. 
“Yet preparing to welcome a new 
member of the family still required 

regular hospital visits for check-ups, 
and here we were preparing for a 
pandemic. This was a time where 
we would have to ensure we could 
safeguard mothers and their babies.” 

Monash Health established a 
multidisciplinary team of obstetric, 
midwifery, and general practice 
providers who were challenged to 
create new models of care that could 
protect patients and the employees 
delivering care. The key was ensuring 
the results were the very best 
outcomes expected of Victoria’s 
largest provider of maternity services. 

“The pregnancy care model hasn't 
really changed from the 1920s 
when the UK Ministry of Health first 
set the antenatal care schedule,” 
said Associate Professor Hodges. 
“While there has been innovation, 
the standard pregnancy still involves 
ten visits per pregnancy and results 
in 97 per cent of births in the 
country still being hospital-based. 
We knew our challenge was to do 
something remarkably different.” 

“This was a disruption waiting 
to happen and something 
that we've wanted to do and 
prepared for, for a long time.” 

The team was fortunate that 
Monash Health had invested in the 
latest telehealth technology to provide 

Program Director Associate 
Professor Ryan Hodges

Telehealth transforms 
maternal care

100%
of pregnant women have 
telehealth as part of care

Monash Health Annual Report. 2020-21

50%+
of all consultations 
via telehealth

3,000+
average number  
of telehealth calls 
per month

529,153
kilometers  
travel saved
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the platform for this revolution.   
“We looked at low-risk pregnancy 

and high-risk pregnancy, and with 
our low-risk pregnancy models, 
we shifted two-thirds of pregnancy 
care onto virtual telehealth. Using 
video conferencing capability, we 
could see the women, talk to them, 
and could teach them how to 
examine their tummies,” he said. 

Consultations were supplemented 
with a suite of patient and employee 

information sheets and systems to 
support remote blood pressure checks 
and foetal growth assessments. 

Remote monitoring of foetal  
growth involved introducing  
self-measured symphyseal-fundal 
heights weekly from 24 weeks’ 
gestation plotted on the provided foetal 
growth charts. According to national 
clinical care recommendations, 
this was supported by educational 
material and in-hospital ultrasound 

assessment of foetal growth. 
“Even in our high-risk pregnancies, 

we shifted half of all visits onto 
telehealth and successfully met 
their needs with fewer visits. We 
were looking after women with 
kidney transplants in pregnancy via 
telehealth, and it was working.” 

The Monash Health team worked 
hard to keep them safe without 
losing sight of the patient experience. 
“We also wanted to maintain focus 

Telehealth has transformed our approach to pregnancy care.
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on everything special about this 
time,” said Hodges. “Being pregnant 
and coming in to have your first or 
second or subsequent babies is an 
exciting prospect, and we wanted to 
maintain and optimise that experience 
for women and their families.” 

Robin Meier was among the many 
women to deliver her baby under 
the new model. Her experience 
throughout her pregnancy and during 
the birth of baby Evie remained a 
positive one. “We only needed to 
come in for appointments two or 
three times, and yet I still felt I was 
getting the very best of care.” 

She and her husband Dave, who 
already had three-year-old daughter 
Bonnie, said it was also a relief to 
be able to ‘bunker down’ at home. 
“It didn’t feel like a compromise 
because, during the peak of the 
COVID-19 crisis, we could be at 
home and not out in the community, 
and that was really comforting. 
It also meant we didn’t have to 
find care for Bonnie and weren’t 
spending all that time associated with 
appointments. Yet my needs and that 
of baby Evie were still being met.” 

Hodges described the model as a 
world-first that delivered exceptional 
results. “The team tracked patient 
experience very closely, with an equal 
focus on quality outcomes,” he said, 
“with as good or improved quality of 
care evidenced in patient feedback. 
There was no increase in stillbirths, 
no preeclampsia or high blood 
pressure cases, and fewer babies 
born pre-term. Pleasingly, we saw 
no deterioration in our teams missing 
small and unwell babies, so we knew 
that quality was tracking perfectly.  

“It was equally important to check 
that women and their families were 
comfortable with this new model, 
so we established very targeted 
surveys asking specific questions 

about how they were finding this 
new model of care. We made sure to 
listen and learn, and we adapted and 
adjusted accordingly by changing 
and shifting our policies to really 
optimise their experience,” he said. 

Dr Kirsten Palmer from Monash 
University’s School of Clinical Sciences 
at Monash Health indicated the 
new model was here to stay. “We 
are hoping to continue it as part of 
our antenatal care program as it 
supports women to receive more 
personalised care with the same 
excellent outcomes,” she said. “We 

have shown that such an approach 
seems to be safe for continuing to 
achieve a high standard of pregnancy 
care, and it’s remarkable to have 
been part of such a paradigm shift. 
Almost a century on from the 1920s, 
Monash Health has certainly brought 
an exceptional pregnancy care 
model well into the 21st century.” 

These learnings were recognised in 
renowned international medical journal 
The Lancet, which published a paper 
prepared by the team and devoted 
editorial coverage to the achievements 
of the Monash Health team. 

Baby Evie with parents David and Robyn Meier. 

We have shown that such an approach seems to 
be safe for continuing to achieve a high standard 
of pregnancy care, and it’s remarkable to have 
been part of such a paradigm shift. ”
Dr Kirsten Palmer, Head of Maternal Fetal Medicine, Monash Medical Centre at Monash Health 
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We work with humility, 
respect, kindness, 
and compassion in 
high-performing teams
“It’s great that Monash Health can play a big part in not only treating the cancer,  
but in ensuring that starting families remains an option for these men.”

Dr Gideon Blecher,
Monash Health UroAndrologist 



A second chance at life 
and starting a family
Being confronted with the news that you have testicular cancer is hard for any 
young man to take. Learning two days later that you are part of the minority who 
will have serious sperm production issues and may never have children makes  
it even harder. 

This was the situation 
that confronted Monash 
Health patient Ali Jaffari 

after being diagnosed with 
metastatic testicular cancer. 

Testicular cancer can affect men 
of all ages; however, it is the number 
one cancer diagnosis in young men. 
It does not attract the same funding 
and attention as other cancers, in 
part because the outcome for men 
with testicular cancer is usually 
positive, with survival rates exceeding 
95% among those diagnosed.

Historically, men’s fertility issues 
have not been a major focus of the 
public health system. However, for 
Monash Health UroAndrologist Dr 
Gideon Blecher, an obvious place to 
start was with men diagnosed with 
testicular cancer. As a result of this 
interest, Monash Medical Centre 
became the first public hospital in 
the state to perform a procedure 
for men with testicular cancer to 
find and harvest sperm without 
jeopardising their cancer treatment. 

Before treatment for testicular 
cancer, it is normal to suggest to a 
patient that a sperm sample be taken. 
“We normally find that around 10% 
of patients have what is known as 
azoospermia, which is the medical 
term used when there are no sperm 

The year in review
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Patient Ali Jaffari has happily recovered and 
looking forward to leading a normal life.
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in the ejaculate,” Dr Blecher said. 
“Whether this is related to the 
cancer, or whether it related to other 
background factors, we are not sure. 
Furthermore, we also find that up to 
40% of men with testicular cancer are 
unable to produce normal levels of 
sperm. Given the relatively young age 
of men diagnosed with this type of 
cancer, this is obviously a concern.” 

To achieve the best possible 
chance of success for patients, the 
Monash Health team collaborated with 
Melbourne IVF to undertake a multi-
step process of sperm extraction. This 
teamwork and collaboration would 
prove critical to patient outcomes. While 
these procedures were available to 
private patients in selected clinics, it was 

not available in the public health system. 
Initially, as part of the cancer 

treatment, an orchiectomy (removal 
of the testis) is typically performed. 
Once removed, and while the 
patient remains in theatre, the 
surgical team then works with an 
embryologist from Melbourne IVF 
to perform an oncoTESE, where an 
attempt is made to extract sperm 
from within the affected testis. 

“I harvest the tissue, and we 
have an embryologist in the 
operating theatre with us who 
explores it to see if sperm are 
there and give us feedback in 
real-time,” said Dr Blecher. 

“If a successful harvest cannot 
be achieved in the theatre, we 
re-focus attention to the healthy 
testicle and use microscopic 
surgical techniques to perform 
a microTESE – a microscopic 
testicular retrieval of sperm. “ 

For patient Ali Jaffari, the news 
of his diagnosis hit hard. “It was a 
complete double whammy,” he said. 
“First, I learned that I had testicular 
cancer and then within a few days 
I was hit with the news that I might 
never be able to have kids. For 
me, that was harder to deal with 
than the cancer itself. I was always 
confident that the cancer could be 
beaten – but it was heartbreaking 
for me and my partner that we 
might not be able to start a family. 

“So, when the Monash Health 
team talked through the options, 
and we talked about the oncoTESE 
and the microTESE it was a no 
brainer – I knew the risks were low 
and that I had nothing to lose. 

“As it turned out, both procedures 
were required, but the great news 
was that they were able to retrieve 
enough sperm to ensure that our 
plans for a family remain alive and 
well,” said Mr Jaffari. “Better still, 
doing it all in one meant no hold 
up to my chemo treatment.” 

A study is now underway, with the 
Monash Health team collaborating 
with urologists and embryologists 
around the country to compare 
results and measure success rates. 

Dr Blecher said the satisfaction 
in delivering a positive outcome for 
Ali was incredible. “It was the best 
feeling to see Ali after the procedure, 
and to be able to tell him that we’d 
‘got rid of the cancer, and we’ve 
also collected sperm for you, so you 
don’t need to worry about that’. 

“We have the capability, so there 
is no reason a procedure like this 
shouldn’t be available for patients in 
the public system,” he said. “These 
guys all deserve to have kids if they 
can. It’s great that Monash Health can 
play a big part in not only treating the 
cancer, but in ensuring that starting 
families remains an option for these 
men. It also shows just what can be 
achieved when our specialist teams 
come together to deliver seamless 
care and support for our patients.” 

Ali has completed nine weeks of  
chemotherapy and has since made 
a full recovery. 

The year in review

About testicular 
cancer

1st

public health provider  
to undertake  
oncoTESE/microTESE

Most common 
cancer in 
young men 

95%
survival rate

980
cases projected  
in Australia in 2021

It was the best 
feeling to see 
Ali after the 
procedure, and 
to be able to 
tell him that 
we’d ‘got rid 
of the cancer, 
and we’ve also 
collected sperm 
for you, so you 
don’t need to 
worry about 
starting  
a family’.”

Dr Gideon Blecher,  
Monash Health UroAndrologist 
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Dr Gideon Blecher and Indra Jolayemi, Clinical Nurse Specialist were part of 
the team responsible for introducing this transformative surgical procedure.
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We integrate teaching, 
research and innovation 
to continuously learn 
and improve.
“Adopting a more conservative approach might at first seem paradoxical;  
but it is delivering better patient outcomes”

Professor Diana Egerton-Warburton OAM, 
Monash Health Co-chair of the Emergency Medicine Research Collaboration 
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Award-winning trial to 
revolutionise patient care
Monash Health researchers recently gained further recognition with a landmark 
trial recognised as the 2021 Australian Clinical Trials Alliance Trial of the Year.     

The trial was a study into the 
treatment of pneumothorax, 
otherwise known as a collapsed 

lung. The trial demonstrated that 
a more ‘hands off’ approach is 
the best treatment for a collapsed 
lung – a finding with the potential 
to revolutionise patient care.  

Every year an estimated 2,500 
to 3,000 Australians present at 
hospital emergency departments 
suffering from a collapsed lung. 
Historically, treatment would involve 
doctors inserting a plastic tube into 
the patient’s chest to remove the 
collected air to help the lung reinflate. 
Not only is this treatment invasive 
and painful, but it can lead to organ 
injury, bleeding, infection, surgery, 
and in rare instances, even death. 

A primary investigator in the research 
was Professor Diana Egerton-
Warburton OAM, Monash Health Co-
chair of the Emergency Medicine 
Research Collaboration. “Adopting a 
more conservative approach might 
at first seem paradoxical, but it is 
delivering better patient outcomes,” 
said Professor Egerton-Warburton. 

Professor Diana Egerton-Warburton OAM was a primary investigator  
in the award winning trial.
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“Before this trial, when a patient 
was admitted with a collapsed 
lung, we would seek to intervene 
immediately. What we found through 
the trial was that it was better to 
adopt a ‘watch and wait’ approach.  

“So rather than intervene, we 
tested the use of simple pain relief, 
observation, and then discharge 
home to await the lung’s natural 
re-expansion and recovery,” said 
Professor Egerton-Warburton. 

“We are extremely pleased with 
the results. Not only are we able 
to get patients back on their feet 
quicker and back to their daily 
lives, but they are also less likely 
to experience a reoccurrence.”

Patients who received the 
conservative approach experienced 

shorter hospital stays and fewer 
adverse events. A total of 85 per 
cent of patients did exceptionally 
well with observation alone.

Even with an extensive and 
decorated career in medicine, 
Professor Egerton-Warburton was 
thrilled with the recognition afforded 
to the team from this new approach.  

“It feels like we won an Oscar. I 
am so excited that we have had this 
vital work recognised by this award. 
It gave us a second opportunity 
to reinforce the study’s findings as 
its initial release was ‘lost’ in the 
COVID-19 pandemic, which meant 
we missed the opportunity to have 
a national conversation about 
how this can be implemented.” 

The study spanned six years and 

involved more than 300 Australian and 
New Zealand patients. Collaboration 
was the key to success in this research 
which also sought involvement from 
Professor Julian Smith, Monash 
Health’s Head of Cardiothoracic 
Surgery, a co-investigator, and Dr 
Barton Jennings, a Monash Health 
Adult Respiratory and Sleep Physician.  

Co-investigator Professor Smith 
attributed the success to the teamwork 
shown by all involved. “This was a 
great example of multidisciplinary 
research, with several teams 

Monash Health’s Head of Cardiothoracic Surgery Professor Julian Smith  
was a co-investigator in the trial.

We really want to use this award now to encourage 
clinicians to have conversations with their patients  
on how we can manage this common condition.” 
Professor Diana Egerton-Warburton OAM, Monash Health Co-chair of the Emergency Medicine Research Collaboration 

About the collapsed 
lung clinical trial

3,000
cases of collapsed  
lung per annum

100+
clinical researchers

39
hospitals

300
patients were involved  
in the trial

6
year study period
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including emergency medicine, 
respiratory medicine, cardiothoracic 
surgery, and clinical trials research 
employees working together to get 
a fantastic result for patients.  

“While the study involved more 
than 100 clinical researchers across 
39 hospitals in Australia and New 
Zealand, the way the team at Monash 
Health came together definitely 
demonstrated the thirst for better 
patient outcomes that exists across the 
organisation,” said Professor Smith. 

The findings are expected to cause 
a major shift in thinking around how 
doctors treat pneumothorax worldwide. 

Professor Egerton-Warburton said,  
“We really want to use this award 
now to encourage clinicians to have 
conversations with their patients on how 
we can manage this common condition, 
which often occurs in young people.”  

“It is inspiring to see the rapid 
uptake of this study by the Therapeutic 
Guidelines, an independent national 
organisation providing therapeutic 

information to clinicians to help them 
make the best decisions for their 
patients. They now recommend 
conservative management in the first 
instance independent of the size of the 
primary spontaneous pneumothorax.” 

The results of this research 
demonstrate the ongoing commitment 
to bettering patient outcomes and 
creating lasting, positive changes 
to patient care on a global scale.

Professor Julian Smith and Professor Egerton-Warburton 
were key investigators in the trial.
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We orientate care towards 
our community to optimise 
access, independence, and 
wellbeing
“We find that this support is critical so that patients don’t feel lost or isolated after 
discharge...this regular contact helps them to feel connected and looked after.”

Helen Richards, 
Director Clinical Operations HITH and RIR 
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LivR Well Program 
transforms care delivery for 
patients with liver failure 
Chronic liver disease is a burgeoning global epidemic associated with high 
patient morbidity, mortality, economic and societal impact.

Monash Health has pioneered 
a world first multidisciplinary 
intervention, delivered at home 

via Hospital in the Home to support 
and care for people with chronic 
liver disease as a safe alternative 
to bed based hospitalisation. LivR 
Well is a collaboration between the 
Department of Gastroenterology and 
Hepatology, the Hospital in the Home 
(HITH) team and Monash University. 

LivR Well was designed through a 
process of stakeholder and consumer 
consultation as an intensive 28-
day individually tailored program, 
to educate and empower patients 
in the self management of chronic 
liver disease. The program aims to 
improve the health related quality 
of life, reduce symptom burden 
and accelerate functional recovery 
following an episode of liver failure, 
which is associated with a 34% rate 
of hospital readmission at 30 days. 

As a world first, LivR Well holistically 

addresses the complications of 
chronic liver disease through intensive 
nutrition support, physiotherapy, 
medication management, addiction 
medicine, neuropsychology and 

combination of face to face and remote 
patient monitoring in the community. 
Candidates for the program have been 
identified from a variety of settings 
across the network: emergency 
departments, the inpatient wards and 
outpatient clinics. Once a patient is 
identified as potentially eligible and 
likely to benefit from the program, 
their treating gastroenterologist will 
discuss the program and associated 
supports with the patient to create a 
personalised treatment program.   

“Access to high-quality care 
delivered in the patient’s own home 
is one of the key features of the 
program,” explains Helen Richards, 
Director Clinical Operations HITH 
and Residential InReach. 

“Patients on the program are visited 
at home by our HITH nurses typically 
three times per week, to allow for 
clinical monitoring and tracking of 
progress,” she said. “They measure 
observations, help track nutrition, 

Helen Richards, Director Clinical 
Operations HITH and RIR. 
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medication adherence and bowel 
function, which is very important for 
this population, and form an overall 
assessment of how patients are 
faring in their home environment”.  

“We find that this support is critical 
so that patients don’t feel lost or 
isolated after discharge, or that they 
lack support, and so this regular 
contact helps them to feel connected 
and looked after,” said Richards. 
“The HITH team tracks and manages 
referrals to allied health and other 
supports including physio at home, 
dietetics support, medication review 
and education, social work and 
occupational therapy; even dental 
reviews can be arranged whilst on 
the program. Patients also receive 
nutritional supplements and evening 
meals at no cost to them, taxi vouchers 
to assist with the cost of any hospital 

or clinic visits, and home cleaning.”
All patients on the program are 

reviewed weekly in the Complex 
Liver Care Clinic at the Monash 
Medical Centre Clinical Trials 
Centre, a multidisciplinary clinic 
for patients with decompensated 
liver disease. The Complex Liver 
Care Clinic and LivR Well program 
are part of the Virtual Hospital 
Study. Associate Professor Suong 
Le, consultant Gastroenterologist 
is the lead investigator for the 
Virtual Hospital Study and will be 
conducting a cost-effectiveness 
analysis of this community-based 
approach to support its scalability 
to other healthcare networks. 

Associate Professor Le believes the 
program has already demonstrated 
the benefit of in home care. “There is 
an urgent need for multidisciplinary, 

It takes a multidisciplinary team to deliver the LivR Well program. 
From left to right Jo Hunter, Tom Worland, Anita Figredo, Associate 
Professor Suong Le, Natalie Ngu, Edward Saxby, Lisa Stothers.

I felt more 
empowered with  
the care I received, 
and I felt like I had  
a say in my 
participation  
of the care  
I was receiving.”
Craig Greene, patient
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intensive ambulatory care support 
for patients following hospitalisation 
or a presentation to the emergency 
department with liver failure. 
Through LivR Well, we have seen 
that this can be performed in the 
home environment supported by 
HITH with outstanding results.” 

Seventeen patients have graduated 
from the LivR Well program with a 
success rate of 100%. There has been 
global improvements in malnutrition 
and general function, health literacy, 
as well as an enhanced sense of 
automony and agency as reflected by 
patient reported improvement in quality 
of life. Bed-based hospitalization was 
reduced by 40% in this cohort.

Mr Craig Greene is a proud 

indigenious man who completed the 
LivR Well program in August 2021 
after relocating from Canberra to 
Melbourne for family support following 
multiple admissions with liver failure. 
“Through the program, I’ve learned 
so much. I think if I didn’t move to 
Melbourne I probably would have died 

not knowing the underlying condition. 
The program was invaluable to me.” 

When asked to compare LivR Well to 
conventional hospital care, Mr Greene 
reported, “I felt more empowered 
with the care I received and I felt 
like I had a say in my participation 
of the care I was receiving.” 

Associate Professor Suong Le consulting with patient Elizabeth Leek. 

About Liver Disease

20%
of Australians are affected 
by chronic liver disease

11th

leading cause of 
premature death

The liver is 
the largest 
internal 
organ

2/3rds

of premature  
deaths are in men

48%
reduced death rate 
(1982 – 2012)
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We manage our resources 
wisely and sustainably to  
provide value for our community

“Innovative testing may contribute to enhance 
COVID-19 surveillance that is the cornerstone  
of sustaining a ‘COVID Normal’.” 

Associate Professor Maryza Graham 
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Continued growth of 
research at Monash Health 
As a leading research health service of international standing, Monash Health’s 
clinical research efforts were not slowed by the pandemic, with some 1,628 
active research studies underway involving patients.

W ith such an emphasis 
on research, it is hardly 
surprising that the COVID-19 

pandemic stimulated significant 
interest from the Monash Health 
research community. Approximately 
60 new COVID-19-related studies 
were initiated, spanning most clinical 
programs and discipline areas, allowing 
depth and breadth of clinical insights. 

The Monash Health Foundation 
ran a community appeal to raise 
funds to support promising research 
into COVID-19 at Monash Health in 
direct response to the pandemic. The 
response from the community was 
generous, with almost $500,000 raised 
in a short time, the most successful 
appeal in the Foundation’s history. 

Monash Health researchers were 
invited to apply for grants of up 
to $100,000, with 40 applications 
received requesting more than 
$2.5 million in funding. 

One of the successful projects has 
been a study by Associate Professor 
Michelle Giles, Director, Infections 
in Pregnancy and Dr Kirsten Palmer 
to help improve understanding of 
pregnant women's health challenges 
if infected with COVID-19. 

“Our study follows women who 
have recently given birth, and we test 
for antibodies of COVID-19 to see if 
they were infected while pregnant. 
This is helping us determine how 
common it is for pregnant women 

to get infected during pregnancy,” 
said Associate Professor Giles. 

“By monitoring and supporting 
women who have tested positive 
to COVID-19, we’re able to 
learn how their pregnancies 
and babies were affected.”

Research co-authored by Associate 
Professor Giles in August 2020 
showed that severe and critical 
disease rates matched those of the 
non-pregnant women and found 
that vertical transmission between 
mother and baby may be possible. 

Associate Professor Giles’ team are 
also uncovering whether treatments 
for Hepatitis C are effective for 
pregnant women so that the infection 
is not passed onto their baby. “When 
clinical trials first started to investigate 
Hepatitis C treatments, pregnant 
women were unfortunately not 
included. We’re now extending these 
treatments to pregnant women so 
we can discover their effectiveness 
and if we can reduce the chance 
of a child contracting the infection,” 
said Associate Professor Giles. 

Dr Kirsten Palmer, Head of Maternal 
Fetal Medicine at Monash Medical 
Centre, has supported several 
initiatives to help deliver care to 
pregnant women during the pandemic. 

Dr Palmer’s work in population 
health focused on COVID-19 
during 2020, collaborating with her 
colleagues across Melbourne and 
Victoria to support the Collaborative 
Maternity and Newborn Dashboard 
(CoMaND) and COVID-19 Health 
Outcomes in Pregnancy and the 
Newborn (CHOPAN) registry. 

Clinician researchers from 
Monash Health have also been 
involved in broader research 
projects in collaboration with other 
institutions, including research 
to evaluate the performance and 
feasibility of rapid COVID-19 tests 
led by The Doherty Institute. 

Rapid antigen tests are faster and 

Monash Health Pathology has 
conducted more COVID-19 swab 
testing than any other public 
pathology service in the State.
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more portable than the standard 
PCR (polymerase chain reaction) 
tests currently being used to test for 
COVID-19. Antigen tests directly detect 
the SARS-CoV-2 viral protein from 
clinical samples, whereas the ‘gold 
standard’ PCR tests detect amplified 
viral RNA (ribonucleic acid), making 
PCR tests significantly more sensitive. 

Although not as sensitive, antigen 
tests have an essential role to play 
in rapid COVID-19 detection. They 
are easily accessible and relatively 
low cost, which is why they are 
promoted to increase population-
level surveillance testing and enable 
testing at or near the point of care. 

The study conducted by Melbourne 
researchers, including Monash 
Health’s Associate Professor Maryza 
Graham, recruited participants 
presenting for COVID-19 testing 

at three Melbourne metropolitan 
hospitals; Monash Health, The Royal 
Melbourne Hospital and Austin Health. 

Associate Professor Graham, who 
co-authored the study, says the 
antigen testing could contribute to 
Australia’s ‘COVID Normal’ future. 
“While PCR tests remain the most 
sensitive for COVID-19 testing, some 
novel tests may play an important role 
in the overall public health strategy 
given they are rapid and have the 
potential to be performed in almost 
real time without laboratories being 
involved. Innovative testing may 
contribute to enhance COVID-19 
surveillance that is the cornerstone 
of sustaining a ‘COVID Normal’.” 

With the support of Dr Alastair 
Meyer, Dr Nathan Bushby and 
the dynamic teams from Casey 
Emergency Department, plus Kirsten 

Holden and the Clayton and Casey 
Screening Clinic team, hundreds of 
rapid tests have been performed 
to assess test performance and 
feasibility in real-life scenarios. 

Antigen tests such as this one 
are being considered at a state and 
federal level. Using the findings from 
this study and others, a framework 
has been developed that will assist 
with the planning around how 
antigen testing can be scaled up 
and used throughout Australia. 

The above is just a snapshot of 
the critical work undertaken by our 
clinicians and researchers that will play 
a part in ensuring that the challenges 
of the pandemic can be overcome 
and enable us to continue to provide 
safe, timely and high-quality care. 

The year in review

Research into COVID-19 testing methodologies were among 
the many research studies commenced over the year.
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Research at  
Monash Health

565
clinical drug trials

49
device trials

1,014
current research studies 
which address key 
questions in clinical 
medicine, public health 
and the social sciences

170
Quality and Service 
Improvements registered

254
students enrolled in PhD 
programs with the School 
of Clinical Sciences

921
research publications 
submitted

7
Emerging Researcher 
Fellowships awards of 
$14,285 made in 2020

By monitoring and supporting women who have 
tested positive to COVID-19, we’re able to learn  
how their pregnancies and babies were affected.”
Associate Professor Michelle Giles, Director, Infections in Pregnancy

Associate Professor Michelle Giles, Director, Infections 
in Pregnancy is one of many Monash Health  
researchers involved in COVID-19 related research.
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The Monash Health 
Foundation
The Monash Health Foundation supports patient care, training and research 
across Monash Health by raising funds for new equipment, positions and 
enhanced facilities. We enable additional programs and initiatives, and we  
could not do this without the generosity of donated funds. 

Highlights 
After many years of dedication and 
collaboration from two major partners, 
Moose Toys and The Walt Disney 
Company, the Foundation held a 
special event in April to officially open 
the Moose Imagination Tree. Monash 
Health Chief Executive Andrew Stripp 
hosted the proceedings, which 
included guest speakers Paul Solomon, 
Co-CEO of Moose Toys, Kylie Watson-
Wheeler, Senior Vice President 
and Managing Director of The Walt 
Disney Company Australia and New 
Zealand and The Hon Martin Foley, 
Victorian Minister for Health. This fun 
and emotive event perfectly captured 
our commitment to our youngest 
patients and their families. The Moose 
Imagination Tree promises to be a 
bright, uplifting and magical space to 
visit during what can be a difficult time. 

The Foundation’s new committee, 
the Friends of Monash Health, 
was initiated this year. Chaired by 
Dame Janet Spooner DGSJ OAM, 
the initial focus of the committee 
is raising funds for the Paediatric 
Emergency Department. 

Community appeals 
Our direct marketing program 
ran several targeted appeals 
this financial year. From raising 
approximately $30,000 just three 
years ago, our reinvigorated program 
raised more than $500,000 this 
year. Key highlights included: 

• Focus on the Paediatric Emergency
Department, the financial year’s
first appeal raised $70,000.

• With an aim to raise funds for
special cot cameras for the
Neonatal Intensive Care Unit,
the second appeal raised
more than $310,000.

• The tax appeal raised over
$80,000 for the F.A.S.T. suite of
training mannequins and modules
for the Paediatric ICU team.

Major gifts 
Our particular thanks to Coles, 
who, through the national Curing 
Homesickness initiative, has 
made major donations to Monash 
Children’s Hospital (MCH). Coles’ 
customers provide support by 
purchasing $2 donation cards and 
buying products from the ‘Mum’s 
Sause’ range. Donations to MCH 
in 2020-21 totalled $320,000. 

Special thanks to the Freemasons 
Foundation Victoria for their 
continuing support of causes 
across the health service. 

This year, the Lions Club of Waverley 
gave substantial donations, including 
nine mobile ear, nose and throat 
diagnostic sets for MCH plus a major 
donation to help create and print 
the Children’s Admission Book. 

Through a collaboration between 
Monash CF Foundation, Bluescope 
and Novartis, Monash Health 
received donations totalling more than 
$67,000 to purchase 33 Spirometres 
for Cystic Fibrosis patients. 

Community fundraising events 
Despite COVID-19 affecting the 
Foundation’s ability to hold in-person 
events,  several notable community 

The Moose Imagination Tree was opened in early 2021 
and is a key feature of the Monash Children’s Hospital.
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events were held during the year, either 
run by Monash Health or supported 
by our team. The following highlight 
the enthusiasm our community and 
employees bring to fundraising, even 
during such challenging times: 

• The Pump the Pedals for
Prostate Cancer event involved
the Monash Health Urology
team riding stationary bikes for
more than 1,000 km. This event
raised more than $150,000.

• The ‘65km for Cystic Fibrosis’
Committee opted to run a virtual
event in March 2021. The event
resulted in 150 participants
raising more than $45,000
to support CF research.

• The annual My Room Telethon
was hosted by Channel Nine,
raising more than $2.5 million
for My Room who support
the MCH Cancer Centre.

• Patrick Tessier OAM continued

his strong support with a major 
contribution to the MCH Cancer 
Centre through Bailey’s Day. This 
year the event changed to a direct 
mail appeal, raising $110,000. 

• The Monash Health PJ Fun
Run for Sleep Health changed
to a virtual ‘PJ Your Way’
event and raised $20,000.

• The annual Dandelion Wishes
Gala went virtual with Nine
News’ Alicia Loxley hosting the
‘Celebration at Home’. The night
raised $330,000 for the Paediatric
Emergency Department.

• The inaugural event of the
new Friends of Monash Health
Committee was an in-person
Garden Lunch which raised
$85,000 for the Paediatric
Emergency Department.

Special thanks to Richard Lim for his 
long-term support. Each year Richard 
hosts various events and activities 
that bring together the Cambodian, 
Vietnamese and Chinese communities 
to raise funds for Monash Health. A 
highlight was the Buddhist Flower 
Ceremony in May 2021, during which 
donors gave $106,000 in support of 
the Paediatric Emergency Department. 

iGive 
There are two streams of 
the iGive program:

• Many Monash Health employees
extend their commitment to their
community and generously make
a fortnightly donation through their
salary. As of 30 June 2021, there
were 997 employees participating in
the iGive program who collectively
donated more than $120,000.

• Late in the financial year, the
Foundation launched its iGive
workplace giving program for
employees of external companies.
We intend to grow this program of
support over 2021-22 and beyond.

Donor engagement 
This year the Foundation’s website was 
completely revised and relaunched and 
now provides a flexible, invigorated 
platform for communications to 
donors and potential donors. We 
also launched our newsletter for and 

about donors, named Momentum, 
and produced two issues. 

Gifts in-kind 
Businesses and individuals often give 
in-kind donations of products for 
patients and employees, including gift 
bags and treats that provide a special 
lift to recipients. Our thanks go to: 

• Winc Australia for $10,000 of
pencil packs to accompany the
Children’s Admission Book

• Coles/Gold 104.3 for 600 gift bags
•  Dermalogica for more

than 1,000 products
• La Roche Possay for gift

bags of skincare products
• Mondalez/Cadbury for more

than 12,000 units of treats.

Thank you 
Thank you to those who have 
raised funds in celebration of 
a special occasion or have 
given a gift in memory of a 
loved one. Special thanks also 
to auxiliary members for their 
commitment and contribution. 

To make a donation to the  
Monash Health Foundation,  
please call 03 9594 2700,  
visit www.https://
monashhealthfoundation.org  
or contact us at foundation@
monashhealth.org

Monash Health Foundation 
Facts and Figures

197%
growth in employee 
participation in iGive 
over past 3 years

353
web-based 
donations

$500k+
raised from  
community appeal

$310k
raised for Neonatal 
Intensive Care Unit

This community 
appeal is the most 
successful in 
the Foundation’s 
history,” 
Ron Fairchild, Director of the Monash 
Health Foundation
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Jessie McPherson
Private Hospital
Jessie McPherson Private Hospital is in the unique position of being a not-for-profit  
tertiary private hospital and a fully-owned subsidiary of Monash Health. 

The 115-bed tertiary private 
hospital is proud to have 
a team of highly skilled 

and dedicated employees and is 
equipped with some of the best 
medical facilities in Victoria. Specialist 
services include cardiology and 
cardiothoracic surgery, neurosciences, 
vascular, gastrosciences, general 
medicine and respiratory, maternity 
and neonatal services. 

Delivering comprehensive care 
and excellent outcomes  
Over the past 12 months, our 
cardiology and cardiothoracic team 
have completed extensive work 
on the development of a model of 
care for the Victorian Heart Hospital 
private service offering. Our medical 
specialists and Monash Health Heart 
have been engaged in the process to 
ensure a comprehensive approach. 

At Jessie McPherson Private 
Hospital, we work closely with the 
Heads of Speciality units across our 
core areas, including neurosciences, 
gastrosciences, vascular, and 
general surgery, to ensure we 
continue developing models of 
care that deliver excellent patient 
outcomes. Key future focus includes 
surgical service development, 
particularly in the gastrosciences 
and neurosciences specialties.  

As a tertiary-level private hospital, 
we provide highly-specialised obstetric 
and neonatal services in a private 
hospital setting. In 2021 we further 
augmented our obstetric service with 
a postnatal luxury hotel stay for eligible 

families. The service known as the 
Jessie Parenting Sanctuary at Hotel 
Chadstone Melbourne, MGallery by 
Sofitel was launched on International 
Midwives Day, 5 May 2021. Partnering 
with our obstetricians, paediatricians 
and other key stakeholders, we aim to 
make this an even more memorable 
experience for all families that choose 
Jessie McPherson Private Hospital as 
their preferred health service to birth. 

“Our women are excited for the 
opportunity to be able to transition 
to home via this luxury hotel and feel 
less like a hospitalised patient but 
retain the input from an experienced 
midwife. Being able to have their 
toddler with them and unlimited visitors 

We are very proud of our robust reputation in nursing education.

We are very 
proud of our 
rich history as 
we celebrate 
90 years of 
exceptional care”
Thinesh Chandraratne, 
Chief Executive Officer
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is appealing as well,” said Janelle 
Gridley, Maternity Unit Manager. 

Clinical education and 
COVID–19 response 
Jessie McPherson Private Hospital is 
proud of its robust reputation in nursing 
education, delivered by our teams of 
skilled Clinical Nurse Educators across 
all specialist clinical areas, including 
Critical Care, High Dependency 
Nursing and Special Care Nursery. 

Our Education Team were at the 
forefront of the COVID-19 response in 
2020 when Ward 31 North became the 
admission ward for suspect COVID-19 
patients presenting at the Monash 
Health Clayton campus. The team 
succeeded in implementing COVID 
Safe processes over a short timeframe, 
managing an elevated workload 
and continue to ensure that Jessie 

McPherson Private Hospital excels in: 

• Personal Protective Equipment
and Infection Control Education

• Adaptability in education delivery

• Supporting staff mental health
and wellbeing while developing
a resilient team

Jessie McPherson Private Hospital 
provides organisation-wide support 
to enable a confident and competent 
nursing and midwifery workforce 
who are relentless in the pursuit of 
excellence. We aim to build teams 
that embrace and reflect our iCARE 
values – integrity, compassion, 
accountability, respect, excellence. 

90 Years strong in 2021

In December 2021, Jessie 
McPherson celebrates 90 
years of providing healthcare 
to the Victorian community. 
We are so very proud to be 
part of the enduring legacy of 
the fondly remembered Queen 
Vic, with its distinctive spirit 
living on through the services 
we provide to our community. 

“We are very proud of 
our rich history as we 
continue to provide high 
quality, exceptional care 
to our community” - 
Thinesh Chandraratne, Chief 
Executive Officer, Jessie 
McPherson Private Hospital. 

“The Jessie McPherson 
Private Hospital team are 
to be congratulated on this 
considerable milestone 
and their contribution to 
the pursuit of excellence 
as part of the Monash 
Health family. After 90 
years, the legacy of Sir 
William McPherson is 
still evident at Jessie 
McPherson, which is to 
provide the very best care, 
experience and outcomes 
to the community they 
serve” - Andrew Stripp, Chief 
Executive of Monash Health

The new luxury stay, the Jessie Parenting Sanctuary 
was launched on International Midwives Day 2021
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Report of Operations
Responsible bodies declaration
In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, 
I am pleased to present the report of operations for 
Monash Health for the year ending 30 June 2021.

Dipak Sanghvi
Chair, Board of Directors
Melbourne

30 June 2021
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About Monash Health
For almost 170 years, Monash Health and its predecessors have provided safe, 
high-quality healthcare for people at every life stage. 

We work to support 
healthy communities, 
partnering with all levels 

of government, with not-for-profit 
and local organisations to help 
individuals achieve their health goals.

At every step we place our 
patients and clients at the centre of 
what we do, striving to make our 
services responsive to the changing 
needs of our communities.

Today, we are proud to be 
recognised as a leading teaching and 
research health service of international 
standing. We will continue to embrace 
our role at the forefront of the 
Victorian health system, addressing 
community needs, advances in 
health science and technology, and 
supporting employee aspirations. 

While maintaining the core of who 
we are, we continue to raise our 
expectations, pursuing excellence in 
care for those in need, excellence in 
teaching and research, and providing 
a place of opportunity and inclusion for 
those with whom we work. 

Our commitment to our community 
and each other is distilled into 
our strategic intent, purpose, 
and guiding principles.

Strategic intent
We are relentless in our 
pursuit of excellence.

Purpose
To deliver quality, patient-centred 
healthcare and services that meet the 
needs of our diverse community.

Our Guiding Principles
• We consistently provide safe,

high quality and timely care
• We provide experiences that

exceed expectations
• We work with humility, respect,

kindness, and compassion
in high performing teams

• We integrate teaching, research,
and innovation to continuously
learn and improve

• We orientate care towards our
community to optimise access,
independence, and wellbeing

• We manage our resources wisely
and sustainably to provide
value for our community

Report of Operations
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Our care at a glance

 3.46m
 total episodes of care

(2019-20: 3.2m)

404,856
mental health  
episodes of care
(2019-20: 366,540)

219,603
emergency presentations
(2019-20: 216,871)

67,814
ambulance arrivals
(2019-20: 64,546)

276,096
total hospital admissions
(2019-20: 258,592)

48,333
surgical operations
(2019-20: 46,058)

 1,534,391
  outpatient services  
  episodes of care

(2019-20: 1.63m)

35,128
paediatric admissions
(2019-20: 36,184)

10,118
babies born
(2019-20: 10,097)

50.19m
pathology tests
(2019-20: 36.8m)
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Who we are
Monash Health is Victoria’s largest and most 
comprehensive health service. 

With over 18,000 employees, 
we provide care to 
southeastern metropolitan 

Melbourne and rural Victoria from over 
40 locations, via telehealth, and in 
people’s communities and homes.

Monash Health cares for people 
across the full lifespan, from pre-
birth to end-of-life, providing 
integrated, comprehensive, and 
often highly complex care. 

We improve people’s health 
and experiences through: 
• prevention and early

intervention programs
• specialised surgical, medical

diagnosis, treatment, and
monitoring services, at primary,
secondary, tertiary, and some
quaternary level care

• community and home-based
treatment and rehabilitation

• a specialist referral role for
many specialties serving greater
Melbourne, Victoria and interstate

• hospital and community-based
mental health services

• comprehensive sub-acute
and aged care programs

• palliative care
• research
• teaching the next generation of

healthcare professionals through
undergraduate, postgraduate,
vocational, and specialist programs,
simulation, and telehealth.
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Our  
tertiary 
health 
services
Monash Health provides 
medical and surgical 
tertiary health  
services for children,  
adolescents and adults  
Australia wide. 

This includes the provision of 
neurosurgery, cardiac care, and 
paediatric sleep medicine for 
regional and rural communities 
and partnering with health services 
in regional and rural locations to 
provide care for their communities, 
including via telehealth technology.

We are one of only two services in 
Australia that provide combined kidney 
and pancreas transplants, and one 
of only two centres in Victoria with 
an acute stroke unit that provides an 
endovascular clot retrieval service. 

We are the dedicated statewide 
provider of thalassaemia care. 

In partnership with other tertiary 
health services, we provide statewide 
paediatric services in intensive 
care, cancer services, cardiac care, 
surgery, rehabilitation, sleep disorders, 
forensic medicine and palliative care.

The breadth of Monash Health’s 
services makes us the employer of 
choice for highly talented healthcare 
professionals, enabling us to 
provide the best possible care and 
experience for the community.

Exercise physiology 
and occupational  
therapy are among  
more than 100  
paediatric services  
offered across  
the network.

Report of Operations
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The services we provide at each site are constantly evolving to ensure we 
continue to meet our community’s changing needs and expectations. 
We adopt the latest advances in health science and technology to provide 
consistently safe and high-quality care. 

Monash  
Medical Centre

Monash Medical Centre is a major 
tertiary, teaching and research 
hospital providing a comprehensive 
range of specialist surgical, 
medical, allied health, mental health 
and palliative care services. 

Monash Medical Centre has one 
of the state’s busiest emergency 
departments, which is currently 
undergoing a major expansion, 
including the addition of dedicated 
paediatric emergency facilities 
(completion expected 2022). Monash 
Medical Centre also remains the 

primary site for our world-renowned 
cardiovascular service, before it 
relocates to the nearby Victorian 
Heart Hospital (under construction, 
completion expected late 2022).

Co-located with Monash Children’s 
Hospital, and with ready access 
to the state’s largest Special Care 
Nursery and Neonatal Intensive 
Care Unit, Monash Medical Centre 
is uniquely placed to provide world-
class maternity and newborn care for 
complex and high-risk pregnancies.

Monash  
Children’s Hospital

Monash Children’s Hospital is a 
major tertiary, teaching and research 
paediatric hospital, co-located 
alongside Monash Medical Centre. 
It provides healthcare across more 
than 30 specialist services and 
programs, including Early in Life 
Mental Health Service (ELMHS), 
Victoria’s largest neonatal intensive 
care unit, and services in rehabilitation, 
surgery, oncology, paediatric 
intensive care, and palliative care. 

Monash is the third busiest 
paediatric service in the country, 

caring for more than 100,000 children 
every year. Our paediatric services are 
provided across three sites, including 
emergency and inpatient services at 
both Casey and Dandenong Hospitals. 

Monash Children’s Hospital is also 
a statewide provider of children’s 
cancer services and is the Victorian 
Referral Centre for many low-volume 
and highly complex cases. We 
uniquely link paediatric and adult 
services to create positive, safe, and 
high-quality transitions of care.

Casey 
Hospital

Casey Hospital is a major tertiary, 
teaching and research hospital, 
serving one of the fastest growing 
areas in Melbourne’s south east. 
It provides emergency, general 
medical, mental health, rehabilitation, 
surgical, ambulatory and leading 
cardiovascular services. The hospital 
is a provider of paediatrics, maternity 
and special care nursery services.

Casey Hospital has grown to meet 
the needs of the local community, with 
expanded inpatient capacity and day 
procedural beds, an intensive care unit 

and more operating theatres. 
These facilities allow the local 
community easier access 
to higher acuity care.

Casey Hospital houses a Monash 
University Education Hub, which 
allows the site to coordinate training 
and education for medical, nursing, 
midwifery, and allied health students. 
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Cranbourne Integrated  
Care Centre

Cranbourne Integrated Care Centre 
is located in the heart of Cranbourne, 
with services tailored to the local 
community. It provides a range of 
same-day acute and sub-acute 
services including surgery, renal 
dialysis, specialist consulting, regional 
ophthalmology, mental health, 
community health services and a 
community rehabilitation centre. 

By providing services such as dental 
care, psychology, podiatry and other 

specialist services close to a major 
population centre, the Cranbourne 
Integrated Care Centre removes 
barriers to care and boosts primary 
and preventive health programs. 

Dandenong 
Hospital

Dandenong Hospital is a major 
tertiary, teaching and research 
hospital providing several general and 
specialist services to the community of 
Dandenong and its surrounding areas. 

These services include an 
emergency department, general 
medical and surgical, intensive 
care, maternity care, special care 
nursery, paediatrics, outpatients, day 
chemotherapy, home haemodialysis, 
and allied health services.

It is a specialist referral centre for a 
wide rural and regional catchment.

Dandenong Hospital also provides 
specialist services including 
orthopaedic, plastic, vascular and facio 
maxillary surgery, gynaecology, and 
respiratory medicine. Specialty inpatient 
and outpatient mental health facilities 
are located at Dandenong Hospital.

Jessie McPherson 
Private Hospital

A tertiary level private hospital 
co-located at Monash Medical 
Centre, Jessie McPherson Private 
Hospital offers specialist services 
for people in Melbourne, regional 
Victoria, interstate and overseas. 

Being located at Monash Medical 
Centre gives Jessie McPherson Private 
Hospital access to a range of specialist 
services that are not offered in most 
other private hospitals, such as adult 
and paediatric intensive care units, 

a neonatal intensive care unit, and 
the full suite of pathology, pharmacy, 
and diagnostic imaging services.

Further information on Jessie 
McPherson Private Hospital 
is available on page 40.

Kingston 
Centre

Kingston Centre is a large sub-
acute facility specialising in high-
quality rehabilitation and functional 
restoration, including the full 
range of allied health services 
for adults of all ages, transitional 
care, and aged mental health. 

The centre provides specialist 
services for older people including 
aged care assessment, cognitive 
dementia and memory services, 
a Falls and Balance Clinic, 

Pain Clinic, clinical gait analysis 
and continence service.

Kingston Centre is at the forefront 
of research into movement and 
gait disorders, aged mental 
health and geriatric medicine.
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Moorabbin 
Hospital

Moorabbin Hospital incorporates 
Monash Cancer Centre, one of 
Victoria’s leading cancer treatment 
centres, and hosts the Southern 
Melbourne Integrated Cancer Service. 
Moorabbin Hospital has a longstanding 
partnership with the renowned Peter 
MacCallum Cancer Centre, whic delivers 
radiotherapy services at the site.

Moorabbin Hospital also provides 
extensive elective surgery and dialysis 
services and is home to Victoria’s first 

Patient Simulation Centre. The hospital 
plays a major role in the education 
and training of undergraduate and 
postgraduate medical students, nurses 
and allied health professionals.

Diagnostic imaging modalities are 
available at the site, allowing clinical 
teams to have access to the best 
information needed to provide patient-
centred care. The hospital is a centre 
for research, and in particular, a major 
contributor to cancer-related research.

Community  
Health Facilities

Monash Health’s community 
program operates across 21 sites 
and supports our local communities 
to improve, maintain and manage 
health, independence and wellbeing.

The focus of our community health 
facilities is to provide integrated, 
multidisciplinary care close to 
home.  The aim is to support and 
prepare consumers to self-manage 
their health and health care.

Monash Health Community 
delivers services to people of all 
ages, supporting them through all 
stages of their care and delivering an 
integrated pathway from acute and 
subacute care to the community.

Mental  
Health Facilities

Monash Health operates eight 
mental health facilities including 
inpatient, residential, community care 
and drug and alcohol facilities. 

With a focus on holistic care 
empowering clients to be involved in 
their assessment and care, Monash 
Health provides mental health care 
across the full range of services, 
from children through to adults. This 
includes Early in Life Mental Health 

Services, perinatal and infant care, 
eating disorders, gender dysphoria, 
prevention and recovery care, 
and community rehabilitation.

Monash Health also provides 
services such as crisis assessment 
and treatment, acute inpatient care, 
extended inpatient care, and the 
innovative Police, Ambulance, and 
Clinical Early Response (PACER) unit.

Aged  
Care Facilities

Monash Health provides a range 
of aged care services across 
Melbourne’s south east, including 
low level care in hostels, high level 
care in nursing homes, respite 
care, dementia-specific care and 
specialised aged mental health care. 

The two main residential aged care 
units are based at the Kingston Centre. 
Our aged care services have a focus 
on care for people with dementia 
and aged mental health care. 

An expansion of aged care 
facilities at the Kingston Centre is 
currently in planning stages. This will 
include major upgrades, delivering 
a dementia-friendly environment 
that promotes independence 
and privacy for residents.
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Our community
Monash Health is privileged to be an integral part of the local 
communities we care for across our primary catchment area.

Our people are from local 
government areas, including Glen 
Eira, Kingston, Monash, Greater 
Dandenong, Casey, and Cardinia.

The demographic characteristics 
of these rapidly evolving 
communities include: 

Rapid growth
The south east growth corridor of 
Casey and Cardinia is the fastest-
growing region in the Victoria.

High birth rates
The south east of our primary 
catchment area has a younger 
population and higher birth rates.

Ageing populations
The north west of our primary catchment 
area has significantly higher rates of older 
persons than the Victorian average.

Multicultural diversity
Approximately 20,000 residents 
are Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander peoples, over a third of 
residents were born overseas, and 
we have the largest refugee and 
migrant community in Victoria.

Inequity
Many of our local communities 
experience some of the greatest 
socioeconomic disadvantage and highest 
rates of unemployment in Victoria. 

More illness
There is a higher prevalence of 
cancer and neurological conditions, 
chronic diseases, including 
diabetes, heart disease and 
asthma, and risk factors such as 
obesity and high blood pressure.

Some of our specialist 
services extend across not only 
Victoria, but also Australia.

The local government areas 
that comprise our secondary 
catchments are Bayside, Frankston,  
Knox and the Mornington Peninsula.

Our tertiary catchment area 
includes Bass Coast, Baw Baw, 
East Gippsland, Latrobe, South 
Gippsland and Wellington.

V I C T O R I A
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Engagement with our diverse community has been a key 
feature of the COVID-19 vaccination program.
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Monash Health operated four 
drive through screening clinics 

and established six pop up clinics 
to respond to outbreaks.

Monash Health Annual Report. 2020-2152
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Manner of Establishment

Monash Health is a public 
health service; a body 
corporate established under 

Section 65P of the Health Services 
Act 1988, as amended in 2005 and 
listed in Schedule 5 of that Act. 

The Board of Directors of Monash 
Health is appointed by the Governor 
in Council on the recommendation 
of the Minister for Health and 
Ambulance Services in accordance 
with the Health Services Act 1988. 

The Ministers for Health 
2020–21 were: 

Jenny Mikakos MP 
Minister for Health 
Minister for Ambulance Services 

The Honourable Martin Foley MP 
Minister for Health 
Minister for Ambulance Services
Minister for Equality 

The Ministers for Mental 
Health 2020–21 were: 

The Honourable Martin Foley MP 

The Honourable James Merlino MP 

The function of the Board is to: 

• monitor the performance 
of Monash Health 

• appoint and determine 
the terms and conditions 
(including remuneration) of 
the Chief Executive Officer 

• monitor the management of Monash
Health and performance of the Chief
Executive Officer of Monash Health 

• develop statements of priorities 
and strategic plans for the 
operation of Monash Health 
and to monitor compliance  

• develop financial and business 
plans, strategies and budgets 
to ensure the accountable and 
efficient provision of health 
services by Monash Health and 
the long term financial viability  

• ensure that Monash Health 
operates within its budget and 
that its systems accurately reflect 
its financial position and viability 

• ensure effective and accountable 
systems are in place to monitor 
and improve the quality and 
effectiveness of health services 
provided by Monash Health 

 
 

• ensure any problems identified 
with the quality or effectiveness of 
the health services provided are 
addressed in a timely manner and 
that Monash Health continuously 
strives to improve the quality of 
the health services it provides 
and to foster innovation 

• develop arrangements with 
other agencies and health 
service providers to enable 
effective and efficient service 
delivery and continuity of care 

• establish the organisational 
structure, including the management 
structure, of Monash Health 

• ensure that the Minister and the 
Secretary are advised about 
significant Board decisions 
and are informed in a timely 
manner of any issues of public 
concern or risks that affect or 
may affect Monash Health 

• establish a Finance Committee, 
an Audit Committee and a 
Quality and Safety Committee.
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Mr Dipak Sanghvi
BSc Pharm (UK), FAICD, 
FAIPM

• Chair of the Monash Health Board

• Chair of the Remuneration Committee

• Chair of the Aboriginal Health
Strategic Partnership Committee

• Member, Community
Advisory Committee

Term of appointment: 
December 2015 – current

Mr Sanghvi is a pharmacist who owns 
a pharmacy in Victoria. He is currently 

Chair of Member Benefits Australia 
Pty Ltd and Chair of Musculoskeletal 
Australia. Previous positions held include 
President of the Pharmacy Guild Victoria 
Branch during 2006- 2011, Chair of 
Gold Cross Products and Services 
Pty Ltd, Chair of Return of Unwanted 
Medicines, being a Board member of 
Guild Insurance and Superannuation 
and Meridian Lawyers, as well as 
several other board positions in the 
community and pharmaceutical industry. 

Ms Aurélia Balpe
GDPsych, GAICD, MBA, 
GDDemog, BEc

•  Chair of the Primary Care and
Population Health Advisory Committee

• Member, Finance Committee

Term of appointment: 
July 2018 – current

Ms Balpe is an international humanitarian 
leader with experience in the non-profit 
and for-profit sectors in Asia, the Pacific, 
the Americas, Africa and Europe.  

Ms Balpe has worked with boards 
and senior executive teams on the 
development of strategy and policy, 
legal compliance, risk management, 
organisational performance and 
the resolution of integrity issues. 
Ms Balpe has had oversight of 

multinational programs in organisational 
development, disaster response and 
law, water and sanitation and health.  

Ms Balpe has been a strategic 
advisor to governments, United Nations 
agencies, regional organisations and 
corporations on humanitarian action 
and coordination. Ms Balpe currently 
serves as a member of the Australian 
Red Cross Divisional Advisory Board. In 
2015 she was awarded the Vanuatu Red 
Cross medal for her contribution to the 
Tropical Cyclone Pam Relief Operation. 
In 2017 she was the recipient of the 
Monash University Top Achievement 
and Dean’s Awards for her MBA. 
Ms Balpe is currently undertaking a 
Graduate Diploma in Psychology. 

Mrs Jane Bell
BEc, LLB, LLM (Lond),
FAICD

•  Chair of the Audit Committee

•  Director of Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd*

• Member of the Audit Committee
Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd*

Term of appointment: 
July 2018 – current

Mrs Bell is a banking and finance lawyer 
and non-executive director with more 
than 30 years’ experience in leading law 
firms, financial services, and corporate 
treasury operations gained living in 
Melbourne, London, Toronto, San 
Francisco and Brisbane. Mrs Bell has 
been a non-executive director since 
2002, serving on 13 boards including 
nine health and medical research 

boards. Mrs Bell currently serves as a 
Director of Amplia Therapeutics Limited 
(ASX:ATX), Chair of the Community 
Advisory Group of the Melbourne 
Genomics Health Alliance and is a 
Member of the Administrative Appeals 
Tribunal. Mrs Bell is a former Chair of 
Melbourne Health (Royal Melbourne 
Hospital), Chair of Biomedical Research 
Vic, Deputy Chair of Westernport Water 
Corporation, Director of UCA Funds 
Management, WorkSafe Victoria, Hudson 
Institute of Medical Research-Monash 
Institute of Medical Research-Prince 
Henry’s Institute of Medical Research, 
Queensland Institute of Medical Research 
Trust, Australian Red Cross (Qld) and the 
Victorian Women’s Housing Association.

*Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd operates
Jessie McPherson Private Hospital
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Mr Tony Brain
BCom, CA, FAIST, GAICD

• Chair of the Finance Committee

• Member of the Audit Committee

• Member, Remuneration Committee

Term of appointment: 
July 2019 – current

Mr Brain is a Chartered Accountant 
with over 30 years’ experience in 
governance, assurance, finance 
and regulatory oversight.  

His executive leadership experience 
includes 12 years as Partner at Deloitte 
and nearly three years as Head of Risk 
Management at AustralianSuper.  

In addition to Monash Health, 
his current Board related roles 
include Council Member at Victoria 
University, Non-Executive Director 
at Futurity Investment Management 
Friendly Society and Chair of the 
AMP Superannuation Trustee boards. 
He is a member of various Board 
Committees for these organisations, 
including Chair of the Risk Committee 
at Futurity. He is also a member 
of various Risk, Finance and Audit 
Committees at the Alannah and 
Madeline Foundation, the Magistrates 
Court Victoria and Barwon Health. 

He is a current member of the 
Companies Auditor Disciplinary Board. 

Ms Helen Brunt
BA (Hons), GAICD

• Member of the Audit Committee

• Member of the Finance Committee

Term of appointment: 
July 2019 – current

Ms Brunt is a senior governance and 
technology delivery executive who 
brings extensive experience in digital 
technology and largescale transformation 
in complex business environments 
including Wesfarmers and Westpac.  

She is skilled in developing strategies 
to leverage technology to support 
business strategy. Ms Brunt is  
passionate about diversity and the  

use of technology to transform customer 
and employees experience and 
previously served as an associate board 
member for the VIC ICT for Women in IT. 

She has previously served 
as an elected Member Director 
of the Wesfarmers Super 
Trust Policy Committee. 

Associate Professor 
Misty Jenkins
BSc (Hons), PhD, MAICD

• Member of the Quality Committee

• Member of the Aboriginal Health
Strategic Partnership Committee

Term of appointment: 
November 2016 – current

Dr Jenkins is a leading biomedical 
scientist and laboratory head at Walter 
and Eliza Hall Institute for Medical 
Research, where she researches cellular 
immunology and new immunotherapies 
for cancer. Dr Jenkins has previously held 
postdoctoral positions at the Universities 
of Cambridge and Oxford, and The Peter 
MacCallum Cancer Centre in Melbourne. 
Dr Jenkins was awarded the L’Oreal for 
Women in Science Fellowship (2013), 
was Tall Poppy of the Year (2015) and 

won the Westpac/Australian Financial 
Review 100 Women of Influence award 
(2016). In addition to her research career, 
Dr Jenkins has a decade of experience in 
governance as a non-executive Director 
in both the health and education sector, 
including Indigenous Health, and holds 
Chair positions at the NHMRC and 
Medical Research Future Fund (MRFF).  



Monash Health Annual Report. 2020-2156

Report of Operations

Professor Peter 
McDougall 
MB, BS, FRACP, MBA, GAICD

•  Member of the Primary Care and
Population Health Advisory Committee

• Member of the Quality Committee

Term of appointment: 
July 2020 – current 

Peter McDougall trained in paediatrics 
as a neonatologist at The Royal 
Children’s Hospital, Melbourne and 
the Bristol Maternity Hospital, UK 
returning to the RCH as a consultant 
neonatologist in 1984. In 1998 he was 
appointed Chief of Medicine and Head 
of Neonatology. He served as Executive 
Director of Medical Services and Clinical 
Governance, Chief Medical Officer 
at RCH from 2010 until 2018. With 
Associate Professor David Armstrong, 

he served as the co-clinical lead of the 
Victorian Paediatric Clinical Network, 
Safer Care Victoria from 2014-2018 
and was a member of the Consultative 
Council on Obstetric and Paediatric 
Mortality and Morbidity (CCOPMM), 
DHHS from 1991-2018. He was 
appointed Honorary Clinical Professor 
with the University of Melbourne 
Department of Paediatrics in 2015.

Peter has had a longstanding 
commitment to quality and safety in 
hospital services and currently is a 
Senior Clinical Advisor to CCOPMM.

Ms Robyn McLeod
BA, BEd, GAICD

• Member of the Finance Committee

•  Member of the Community
Advisory Committee

Term of appointment: 
July 2019 – current 

Ms McLeod is a governance and 
public policy expert who currently 
serves on the Boards of Melbourne 
Water and VicWater, and previously 
served as a member of the Governance 
working group of the Board of Good 
Shepherd Australia and New Zealand.  

Her previous positions include Director 
of the Australian Centre for Social 
Innovation, Independent Commissioner 
for Water Security in South Australia, 
National Director of Water for KPMG, 
Executive Director of Major Projects 
Water with the Department of 
Sustainability and Environment, Victoria 
and Chief of Staff to the Victorian 
Energy Resources and Ports Minister.   

Emeritus Professor 
Hatem Salem AM
MB, ChB (Mosul, Iraq), 
FRACP, FRCPA, MRCP (UK) 
MD (Monash), LRCP, MRCS

•  Chair of the Quality Committee

• Member of the Remuneration
Committee

Term of appointment: 
May 2017 – current

Professor Salem is an Emeritus 
Professor at Monash University. Prior 
to this, Professor Salem was the 
Head of the Academic Department 
of Clinical Haematology at Monash 
University and the Head of Clinical 
Haematology at the Alfred Hospital.  

He served as President of Asia 
Pacific Society of Thrombosis and 
Haemostasis and past president and 
Executive Director of the Australasian 

Society of Thrombosis and Hemostasis. 
He is a senior Counsellor of the 
International Society of Thrombosis and 
Haemostasis. In 2005, his vision and 
ability to develop leading clinical and 
research programs were recognised 
by the Victorian Government’s Public 
Healthcare Award, where he was the 
recipient of the Health Minister’s Award 
for Outstanding Individual Achievement.  

In 2010, Professor Hatem Salem 
was awarded the Member of the 
Order of Australia (AM) for service to 
medicine in the field of haematology as 
a clinician, educator and researcher and 
also through the establishment of the 
Australian Centre for Blood Diseases. 
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Board Committees
The following committees support the functions of the Board of Directors 

Quality Committee 
The purpose of the Quality Committee 
is to support the Board’s function of 
providing strategic leadership in relation 
to the clinical governance of quality 
and safety at Monash Health. It serves 
to ensure, on behalf of the Board, that 
the following objectives are fulfilled:  

• Effective and accountable 
systems are in place to monitor 
and improve the quality and 
effectiveness of health services 
provided by Monash Health. 

• Any problems identified with 
the quality or effectiveness of 
the health services provided are 
addressed in a timely manner.  

• Monash Health continuously 
strives to improve the quality of 
the health services it provides 
and to foster innovation. 

Audit Committee  
The role of the Audit Committee 
is to advise the Board of Directors 
on audit matters and matters 
relating to the financial, accounting 
and legislative compliance and 
the operational effectiveness and 
efficiency of Monash Health.  

The Audit Committee also advises 
the Board on the level of business risk 
or exposure to which Monash Health 
might be subject and oversight of 
internal and external audit activities.  

Remuneration Committee 
The principal role of the Remuneration 
Committee is to advise the Board 
of Directors on matters relating to 
the organisation’s remuneration 
policies and practices.  

In addition, the Remuneration 
Committee provides oversight 
with respect to succession 
planning for the Chief Executive 
and senior executive positions.  

Finance Committee 
The role of the Finance Committee is 
to advise the Board of Directors on 
financial matters and to assist in the 
oversight of financial performance.  

The Finance Committee reviews and 
makes recommendations to the Board 
regarding financial strategy, financial 
policies, annual operating and capital 
budgets, cash flow and business plans 
to ensure alignment with key strategic 
priorities and performance objectives. 

Community Advisory Committee 
The Community Advisory Committee 
works to increase consumer, carer 
and community participation in all 
facets of Monash Health’s operations 
in partnership with the Monash Health 
Board of Directors. The roles of the 
Committee are to provide leadership 
in relation to the integration of 
consumer, carer and community views 
into all levels of strategy, operations, 
planning and policy development, 
and to provide advice on priority 
areas and issues from a consumer, 
carer and community perspective. 

Aboriginal Health Strategic 
Partnership Committee 
The purpose of the Aboriginal Health 
Strategic Partnership Committee is 
to ensure a collaborative partnership 
between the Dandenong and 
District Aborigines Co-operative 
Limited and Monash Health.

The Committee ensures respectful 
and collaborative relationships 
between Monash Health and the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
community. The Committee also 
oversees the implementation of the 
Monash Health Reconciliation Action 
Plan and Employment Plan, identifies 
shared strategic opportunities and 
projects and also monitors the 
Monash Health Aboriginal Health 
Data Report and relevant data 
from the Dandenong and District 
Aborigines Co-operative Limited. 

Primary Care and Population 
Health Advisory Committee 
The Primary Care and Population 
Health Advisory Committee provides 
strategic advice to the Board of 
Directors on matters specific to 
the primary care and population 
health of our local community.

The Committee focuses on 
improving the health status of our 
community in its focus on areas such 
as the hospital primary care interface, 
mental health and wellbeing, health 
promotion, population health, health 
independence programs, research 
and education. In addition, there is 
a focus on the health and wellbeing 
of vulnerable groups such as 
refugees, Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples and culturally and 
linguistically diverse communities. 
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Organisational Structure

Chief Executive

Andrew Stripp

Research

Clinical Trials; Monash Health Translation Precinct (MHTP);
Research Governance; Research Strategy

Chief
Operating Officer

Martin
Keogh

Clinical Programs
• Acute Medicine
• Subacute & Community
• Allied Health &

Patient Flow
• Children’s
• Mental Health
• Specialty Medicine,

Cancer & Critical Care
• Surgery & Interventional

Services
• Women’s & Newborn

Campuses
• Casey Hospital
• Community Sites
• Cranbourne Integrated

Care Centre
• Dandenong Hospital
• Kingston Centre
• Monash Medical

Centre & Monash
Children’s Hospital

• Moorabbin Hospital

Other
• Health Information

Services

Executive Director, 
Medical Services/ 
Chief Medical Officer

Anjali
Dhulia

Clinical Programs
• Pharmacy
• Radiology

Other
• Medical Workforce

– Appointment
– Credentialing

• Medical Education
– Library
– Simulation Centre

• Chief Allied Health Officer
• Patient Experience

Executive Director, 
Residential Care & 
Support Services/
Chief Nursing & 
Midwifery Officer

Katrina Nankervis

Clinical Programs
• Residential Care

Campuses
• Hostels & Nursing Homes

Other
• Monash Bureau
• Nursing & Midwifery

Education & Workforce
• Security
• Food Services
• Cleaning Services
• Emergency Management

& Business Continuity

Executive Director, 
Quality & Safety

Carlos Scheinkestel

• Quality & Safety
• Risk
• Infection Prevention
• Monash Business

Intelligence
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Office of the Chief Executive

Director, Legal Services/ 
Chief Legal Officer: Peter Ryan

Director, Monash Health Foundation: Ron Fairchild
Head of Organisational Transformation: Barry Bloch
Director, Enterprise Strategy & Development:
Angus Henderson

Executive 
Director,
Financial 
Services/
Chief Financial
Officer

Stuart 
Donaldson

• Audit
• Budget
• Clinical Costing
• Finance
• Payroll
• Procurement
• Revenue

Executive 
Director, 
Digital 
Health

Emilio
Pozo

• Information
Technology
Services

• Electronic
Medical Record

Executive 
Director, 
People & Culture 

Karen
Lowe

• Diversity &
Inclusion

• Employee
Development

• Employee Health
& Wellbeing

• Employee
Relations

• People & Culture
• Recruitment

& Retention
• Occupational

Health & Safety
• Pathology

Executive 
Director, 
Capital & 
Infrastructure

David 
Ballantyne

• Biomedical
Engineering

• Capital
• Engineering
• Infrastructure
• Property
• Major Projects

Executive 
Director, 
Public Affairs & 
Communication

Louise
Kanis

• Public relations
• Media relations
• Internal &

corporate
communications

• Project
communications

• Brand
• Web and digital

communications
• Government

and community
relations
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Our executive team
Mr Andrew Stripp
Chief Executive 

Andrew has extensive experience in 
executive roles in a variety of hospitals 
and health care settings, and within 
the State Government’s Department 
of Health and Human Services as 
the Director for the State’s mental 
health system, as Regional Director 
for Health, Housing and Community 
Services and as Director of Strategy.  

Prior to joining Monash 
Health, he was the Deputy Chief 
Executive and Chief Operating 
Officer at Alfred Health. 

Mr David Ballantyne
Executive Director,  
Capital and Infrastructure 

David Ballantyne has 20 years’ 
experience gained in Australia 
and the United Kingdom in major 
infrastructure projects, across all 
phases of the asset life cycle.  

He has a development background 
across health, rail and aviation 
industries and a strong understanding 
of both public and private sectors. 
His qualifications include Bachelor 
of Engineering (Civil), Master of 
Business Administration (Executive) 
and he is a Member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.  

With a passion for leading teams 
and ongoing innovation, David is 

focused on embracing technological 
change and developing hospitals 
equipped for the future.  

Prior to joining Monash Health he 
was Executive Director of Development 
and Innovation and Asset Management 
at Health Infrastructure in NSW.  

During that time he held a 
number of senior roles and was 
a significant contributor to the 
development of over $10 billion in 
capital projects across NSW.  

Dr Anjali Dhulia
Chief Medical Officer

Anjali Dhulia started her medical 
career in the Indian Army where 
she served for eight years.  

She completed her postgraduate 
training in paediatrics and practised 
in paediatric intensive care before 
migrating to Australia. She worked 
as a Fellow in Neonatology at the 
Women’s and Children’s Hospital 
in Adelaide, the Royal Women’s 
and Royal Children’s Hospital in 
Melbourne and also with the Neonatal 
Emergency Transport Service (NETS).  

She switched to a career in medical 
administration in 2008 and completed 
a Fellowship of the Royal Australasian 
College of Medical Administrators 

and has worked in various medical 
management roles. Her professional 
interests and expertise include 
medical workforce management, 
healthcare safety, quality and patient 
experience and engagement and 
wellbeing of medical employees. 

She has completed a Master of  
Public Health and a Master of Applied  
Positive Psychology. She has led the  
development and implementation  
of Monash Care (Mental Health and  
Wellbeing Strategy for Monash Doctors)  
and is co-lead in implementing the  
Women in Medicine Program  
at Monash Health.  
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Mr Stuart Donaldson
Chief Finance Officer, Executive 
Director, Financial Services 

Stuart Donaldson joined Monash 
Health in January 2017. 

Stuart is an experienced senior 
finance executive with a strong  
record of achievement and a wealth  
of experience within several  
multi-national organisations. His 
track record demonstrates excellent 
financial acumen and strategic 
thinking combined with commercial 
know-how. He recognises the 
importance of partnering to deliver 
excellent outcomes aligned to the 
overall strategy of an organisation.  

Stuart’s previous role was Chief 
Financial Officer at RMIT University 

since 2010. Stuart has also worked in 
senior finance roles with multinational 
fast moving consumable goods, 
including Cadbury Schweppes, Kraft 
Foods, Nestle and Pacific Dunlop. 
As Chief Finance Officer, Stuart 
has responsibility for Procurement, 
Logistics, Internal Audit, and Financial 
Services as well as being a Board 
member of Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd. 

Ms Louise Kanis
Executive Director, Public 
Affairs and Communication 

Louise joined Monash Health in 
February 2018. In a career spanning 
more than 20 years, Louise has 
headed corporate affairs for a major 
Melbourne transport consortium, 
established the communications 
and marketing function for a 
multinational financial services firm, 
driven the communications for a 
university undergoing major change 
and built her own agency servicing 
marquee external clients across 
a diverse range of industries.  

Louise has served on Australian 
executive management groups, 
an international marketing and 

communications executive team, 
crisis management executive, 
as a director of a charitable 
foundation and as the co-owner 
and director of her own company. 

Mr Martin Keogh
Chief Operating Officer

Martin Keogh joined Monash Health 
as Chief Operating Officer after many 
years of clinical and management 
experience in a variety of roles 
within acute health care settings.

This has enabled him to develop 
a broad level of knowledge, skill and 
understanding of the contemporary 
drivers for health service performance 
and the need for continual 
organisational improvement.

Before joining Monash Health 
Martin was acting Chief Operating 
Officer of Alfred Health. Having 
originally trained as a registered 
nurse, Martin practised in the areas 
of emergency and cardiology before 

finally specialising in intensive care 
nursing. Subsequently, he embarked 
on a management career. 

Martin has a proven track record 
in identifying and implementing 
improvements to enhance patient  
safety, access, and importantly 
enhancing the patients’ 
overall experience. 

He has a strong interest in patient 
safety and quality of care initiatives, 
incorporating evidence-based practice. 
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Ms Karen Lowe
Executive Director, 
People and Culture

Karen joined Monash Health as 
Executive Director People and 
Culture in September 2016 with 
a broad range of experience 
across many industries including 
chartered accounting, utilities, steel, 
professional services and banking.  

She has developed her passion 
for people through a variety of 
roles including shared services, 
finance, human resources and 
general management roles.  

Karen’s most recent role was 
Head of Human Resources – 
Branch Banking for NatWest, 
Royal Bank of Scotland and 
Ulster Bank based in Scotland. 

Clinical Associate Professor  
Katrina Nankervis 
Chief Nursing & Midwifery Officer, 
Executive Director, Residential 
Care & Support Services 

With over 20 years within Victoria’s 
public health system, Katrina 
Nankervis brings to Monash Health 
extensive experience in strategic 
workforce planning, professional and 
clinical practice and education.  

She is a Registered Nurse, holds a 
Masters of Nursing Science and has 
a keen interest in healthcare policy, 
initially developed as an undergraduate 
student of politics and economics 
at the University of Melbourne.  

Katrina has worked within the 
public, private, government and 
higher education sectors.  

She is a passionate advocate for 
the exemplary delivery of fundamental 
care and is particularly focused on 
enhancing outcomes and experience 
for employees and consumers. 

Mr Emilio Pozo
Executive Director, Digital Health

Emilio has more than 20 years 
experience in Information Technology 
having undertaken appointments 
in a number of global enterprise 
organisations across various 
industries, enabling him to develop 
the skills necessary to successfully 
manage complex and major 
business transformation projects.  

Emilio has worked as an Executive 
Director at a tertiary health service, 
has led Electronic Medical Record 
(EMR) related programs and developed 
solutions in acute, subacute and 
community health settings. 

As Executive Director Digital Health, 
Emilio has executive accountability 
for leading a multi-million, multi-year 
hospital-wide EMR program as well 
as having operational accountability 
for Information Technology across 
the entire health service.  

The EMR program is a digital 
version of the patient record that 
will transform the way in which 
Monash Health delivers high-
quality health care to its patients. 
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Professor Carlos 
Scheinkestel
Executive Director Quality, 
Safety and Patient Experience

Carlos Scheinkestel’s remit is to 
drive and support the organisation 
in the delivery of reliably safe, 
high-quality care that consistently 
meets or exceeds best practice 
standards and expectations. 

His track record includes leading 
a large and complex department 
to achieve international recognition 
as a centre of excellence in patient 
outcomes, research and education 
and win four Victorian Public 
Healthcare awards, the AHRI Wayne 
Cascio Award for organisational 
change and development, an 
Australian Business Award for Service 
Excellence, an Australian Mobile 

and App Design Award, The Best 
of the Best International Nutrition 
Competition four times and an 
ELSO Centre of Excellence twice.

He is an adjunct clinical professor 
with Monash University and recently 
completed studies focussing on 
leadership in disruptive times, 
obtaining a Specialist Certificate 
in Executive Leadership at the 
Melbourne Business School.

He has helped Monash Health 
achieve a score for “patient safety 
climate” in the People Matter Survey 
that has been at least 2% higher than 
our comparator hospitals since 2018.

A key design feature of the new 
Monash Children’s Hospital 
is single-patient rooms with 

space for parents to stay.
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Our workforce

As an equal opportunity  
employer, Monash Health  
 is committed to a fair and 

non-discriminatory workplace that 
maximises talent, potential and 
contribution of all employees.  

We act with fairness, dignity 
and empathy for each other 
and for our consumers.  

We are committed to the 
development of our people by 
providing a wide range of professional 

development activities, leadership 
and management capability.  

We value honesty, openness 
and taking responsibility for our 
performance by recognising 
innovation, quality and professionalism. 

Hospital labour category June current month FTE* Average Monthly FTE**

2020 2021 2020 2021

Nursing 5,646 6,194 5,494 5,849 

Administration and Clerical 1,841 2,089 1,828 1,964

Medical Support 1,322 1,483 1,288 1,389 

Hotel and Allied Services 1,165 1,231 1,106 1,230 

Medical Officers 219 219 209 219 

Hospital Medical Officers 1,206 1,293 1,180 1,254 

Sessional Clinicians 410 469 404 436 

Ancillary Staff (Allied Health) 1,102 1,148 1,074 1,122 

Total 12,911 14,126  12,583 13,463  

*Full time equivalent (FTE) employees at Monash Health and Jessie McPherson Hospital as at 30 June 2021 
** Average monthly FTE for financial year 

The health and safety of our employees  
is of paramount importance.
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Occupational  
Health and Safety

The physical health, safety 
and overall wellbeing of our 
employees are of paramount 

importance. We are committed 
to providing a workplace that 
promotes and facilitates employee 
wellbeing and safety to ensure they 
return each day safe and well.

We continue to implement 
our Occupational Health and 
Safety Strategy 2018-2023 
and focus on supporting our 
people in the workplace by:

• developing safety leadership 
through development 
and implementation of 
eLearning modules, guidance 
material and tools

• actively engaging people in their 
health, safety and wellbeing

• having the right processes and 
systems in place to monitor 
our performance and enable 
continuous improvement.

In 2020-21 our lost time injury 
frequency rate increased by 16%. On 
average, 87% of employees were up 
to date with mandatory Occupational 
Violence and Aggression training, while 
95% were up to date with Occupational 
Health and Safety training.

We continue to work collaboratively 
to care for the physical and 
psychological health, safety and 
overall wellbeing of our people.

Occupational Health and 
Safety statistics 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

The number of reported hazards/incidents for 
the year per 100 full-time equivalent employees

30.83 29.08 32.44

The number of ‘lost time’ standard claims for 
the year per 100 full-time equivalent employees

1.63 1.53 2.04

The average cost per claim for the year $52,495 $53,952 $53,762

Occupational Violence statistics
2020-21

Workcover accepted claims with an occupational 
violence cause per 100 FTE

 0.25

Number of accepted Workcover claims with lost  
time injury with an occupational violence cause  
per 1,000,000 hours worked.

1.65

Number of occupational violence incidents reported 1617

Number of occupational violence incidents reported  
per 100 FTE

12.01

Percentage of occupational violence incidents resulting 
in an employee injury, illness or condition*

 94%

Definitions

Occupational violence
Any incident where an employee is 
abused, threatened or assaulted in 
circumstances arising out of, or in 
the course of their employment.

Incidents
An event or circumstance that could 
have resulted in, or did result in, harm 
to an employee. Incidents of all severity 
rating must be included. Code Grey 
reporting is not included, however, if 
an incident occurs during the course 
of a planned or unplanned Code 
Grey, the incident must be included.

Accepted WorkCover claims
Accepted WorkCover claims 
that were lodged in 2020-21.

Lost time
Defined as greater than one day.

Injury, illness or condition
This includes all reported harm as 
a result of the incident, regardless 
of whether the employee required 
time off work or submitted a claim.
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Clinical Governance Report
Excellence is our standard.

Our Clinical Governance 
Framework outlines the 
structure, processes, 

leadership, and culture in place 
and the outcomes monitored to 
ensure we provide accountable, 
safe, effective, efficient patient-
centred care, underpinned by 
continuous improvement. It is 
aligned to the Victorian Clinical 
Governance Framework (June 2017) 
and the National Model Clinical 
Governance Framework - Australian 
Commission on Safety and Quality 

in Healthcare, (December 2017). 
Clinical Governance needs 

to permeate through the entire 
organisation, to all employees at 
all levels, to ensure continuous 
improvement in care, safety 
and patient experience.  

Our key quality indicators are 
available on dashboards customised 
for each ward, unit and program 
so that employees can see how 
we are performing and play a role 
in continuous improvement.  

Performance against these indicators 
is tracked and reported monthly to 
Monash Health’s Executive and Board.  

Initiatives established in the previous 
financial year continued in 2020-
21 include the Quality Newsletter, 
a monthly update including a 
summary of an adverse event, which 
is circulated to facilitate a culture 
of learning, and regular employee 
forums held via web conference, 
which showcase the work of clinical 
teams and allow employees to ask 
questions directly of the Executive. 

Environmental 
Sustainability Report
Monash Health is committed to reducing our ecological footprint  
with sustainability being one of our strategic principles. 

We aim to engage, educate 
and empower our employees 
to create an environmentally 

sustainable workplace and demonstrate 
this across our six sustainability themes.

1. Environmental citizenship 
and governance - Establish 
accountabilities and responsibilities 
for employees across 
Monash Health to improve 
our environmental impact and 
build a culture where we act 
and participate in society as 
agents of positive change.

2. Green procurement - Incorporate 
sustainable procurement in Monash 
Health’s products and services as 
part of any tendering processes.

3. Waste management - Encourage 
the avoidance, reduction, re-

use and recycling of resources, 
and increase diversion of 
resources from landfill.

4. Sustainable transport - Reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions 
from Monash Health’s fleet car 
service through purchasing low 
and zero emissions vehicles.

5. Sustainable buildings - Improve 
environmental standards for new 
and retrofit building projects.

6. Energy efficiency and emissions 
- Support the Victorian 
Govermnent’s climate change 
framework for emissions 
reduction (net zero greenhouse 
gas (GHG) emissions by 2050).

Over the next 12 months, our 
environmental performance data will  
become measurable targets that will  

drive our efforts to achieve our 
sustainability goals and continue to 
build and operate a more sustainable  
health service.

Emissions
Overall, scope 1 emissions have 
steadily increased over the past 
three years. However, with the 
continued expansion of our health 
care service (which has grown by 
a hectare), the emissions per floor 
space have decreased over the 
same time period. This is the result of 
ongoing investment in energy saving 
initiatives across the business, such 
as energy efficienct plant upgrades, 
LED light replacements, chiller 
reconfiguration and variable speed 
drives added to hot water pumps.
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Total greenhouse gas emissions (tonnes CO2e) 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Scope 1 12,186 12,665 13,095

Scope 2 69,703 65,381 63,143

Total 81,888 78,046 76,238

Normalised greenhouse gas emissions (tonnes CO2e) 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Emissions per unit of floor space (kgCO2e/m2) 274.82 260.71 245.38

Emissions per unit of separations (kgCO2e/separations) 312.14 310.27 283.46

Emissions per unit of bed day (LOS+aged care OBD) (kgCO2e/OBD) 98.07 96.76 90.16

Other emissions
A reduction in anaesthetic gas use per 
patient is seen this financial year period, 
however, due to the type of gas used, 
we saw an increase in scope 1 CO2e 

contributions with a total 775 tonnes 
of CO2e delivered.  Monash Health 
are committed to assess how this can 
be minimised or offset to achieve our 

net zero target. Refrigerant gases are 
contained within chillers, therefore 
we do not consume any gases.

Volatile Anaesthesic Gas Use (kg x GWP / 1000) 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Desflurane (tonnes CO2e) 152.6 91.44 82.8

Isoflurane (tonnes CO2e) 77.1 7.1 17.7

Sevoflurane (tonnes CO2e) 749.7 671.2 674.6

Kilograms per patient treated 0.74 0.59 0.56

Stationary Energy
Natural Gas is the only energy source 
that has shown an increase in use 
over the past three years. Electricity 
and steam have all decreased 

in the last year, with 2020-21 
normalised energy consumption 
back in line with 2018-19 levels.  

Total stationary energy purchased by energy type (GJ) 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Cogen electricity 10,620 16,015 11,002

Electricity 217,125 210,012 209,830

Natural Gas 202,224 226,983 229,180

Steam 63,105 66,620 54,067

Total 493,074 519,630 504,079

Normalised energy consumption 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Emissions per unit of floor space (GJ/m2) 1.67 1.75 1.65

Emissions per unit of separations (kgCO2e/separations) 1.90 2.09 1.90

Emissions per unit of bed day (LOS + aged care OBD) (GJ/OBD) 0.60 0.65 0.60
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Water
The new Victorian Heart Hospital has 
designed rain water tanks for irrigation 
and basement toilet flushing, as well 
as some water efficient tapware. 

Large scale water saving initiatives 
and data capture in this space have 
yet to be explored in detail by Monash 
Health, as figures indicate all water 

consumption is from potable sources 
with no Class A recycled water or 
reclaimed water reported to be used.

Total water consumption by type (kL) 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Class A recycled water 0 0 0

Potable Water 436,536 485,364 463,844

Reclaimed water 0 0 0

Normalised water consumption (potable + class A) 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Water per unit of floor space (kL/m2) 1.48 1.64 1.51

Water per unit of separations (kL/separations) 1.68 1.95 1.75

Water per unit of bed day (LOS + aged care OBD) (kL/OBD) 0.53 0.61 0.56

Waste and recycling 
Total waste produced by Monash 
Health increased by more than 800 
tonnes from last year’s numbers. 
This is an increase in total waste, as 
well as waste produced per patient. 
The infection prevention measures 

required to combat COVID-19 have 
necessitated an increase in the use 
of single use items, however, we are 
working to engage new technologies 
and markets that can support a more 
circular economy and reduce the 
volume of resources going to landfill.   

Normalised water consumption (potable + class A) 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Total waste generated (kg clinical waste + kg general waste + recycling waste) 5,417,603 5,196,029 6,004,785

Total waste to landfill generated (kg clinical waste + kg general waste) 4,250,007 3,734,725 4,565,106

Total waste incinerated (kg anatomical, kg cytotoxic, kg pharmaceutical) 85,055 77,932 99,509

Total waste recycled (kg paper & cardboard, kg commingled) 1,256,736 1,377,120 1,270,873

Total waste to landfill per patient treated ((kg clinical waste  
+ kg general waste)/PPT)

3.23 2.96 3.30

Recycling rate % (kg recycling / [kg general waste + kg recycling]) 23.19 26.50 21.16

PVC recycling (kg) 2,130 1,675 711

Single use metal surgical instruments (kg) 1,172 1,556 1,540

Kimguard recycling (kg) 10,881 6,443 4,475

Batteries (kg) 717 1,569 1,033

Ewaste (kg) 4,615 15,778 11
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Paper 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Total reams of paper N/A N/A 63,901

Reams of paper per FTE N/A N/A 4.83

Rate recycling paper % (0-49%) N/A N/A 97.10 

Rate recycling paper % (50-74%) N/A N/A 0.50

Rate recycling paper % (75-100%) N/A N/A 2.40

Transport
Monash Health has increased the 
use of teleconferencing technology 
across all sites which has substantially 
reduced the amount of travel to 
and from work, across sites and to 
off-site engagements. Since July 

2019, Monash Health have had 
123 vehicles replaced (including 
Exec vehicles), of which 109 are 
Hybrid. Of our 314 vehicles in total, 
this means a third of our fleet stock 
are now low emissions vehicles.  

Corporate transport 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Reported vehicle kilometres N/A N/A N/A

Tonnes CO2e corporate transport 785.43 198.96 505.499 

Tonnes CO2e per 1,000 reported kilometres N/A N/A N/A

Non-emergency transport  2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Reported vehicle kilometres  357,420 319,996 305,740 

Tonnes CO2e non-executive fleet N/A N/A 532.31

Tonnes CO2e per 1000 reported kilometres N/A N/A N/A

Normalisers 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Area M2 294,408 296,408 306,408

Aged Care OBD 82,092 82,165 79,943

ED Departures 231,855 264,659 283,327

FTE 11,161 12,224 13,223

LOS 742,918 716,466 753,948

OBD 825,010 798,631 833,891

PPT 1,316,075 1,312,348 1,382,458

Separations 259,210 249,058 265,240



Monash Health Annual Report. 2020-2170

Report of Operations

Financial information
Summary 

Operating result
2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Total revenue 2,719,204 2,295,881 2,066,252 1,882,075 1,850,723

Total expenses 2,536,334 2,258,195 2,046,513 1,877,401 1,754,104

Net result from transactions 182,870 37,687 19,740 4,674 96,619

Total other economic flows 37,561 -11,094 -24,820 -4,659 10,838

Net result 220,431 25,782 -5,080 15 107,457

Total assets - 2,754,032 2,252,249 1,818,761 1,715,387

Total liabilities 2,751,337 1,119,049 677,135 589,603 522,107

Net assets/Total equity 864,156 1,634,980 1,575,113 1,229,158 1,193,280

There are no significant changes or any subsequent events to balance date.

Reconciliation between the Net result from transactions 

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Net operating result* 62 442 -10,690 39 1,294

Capital and specific items

Capital purpose income 346,230 183,255 127,422 101,699 180,160

Share of net profit of associates 
in other economic flows

-197 -117 -29 -87 -147

Specific expenses -5,107 -1,049 -5,328 -372 -667

COVID-19 State supply arrangements 
- products received free of charge

28,295 3,280 - - -

COVID-19 State supply items 
consumed up to 30 June 2020

-28,295 -3,280 - - -

Assets provided free of charge 0 0 0 0 0

Assets received free of charge 14,680 259 0 0 0

Expenditure for capital purpose -20,636 -14,428 -10,094 -11,349 -10,226

Depreciation and amortisation -142,604 -118,846 -73,129 -77,310 -67,063

Impairment of non-financial assets 0 0 0 0 0

Bad and doubtful debt expense* -2,384 -3,845 -3,618 -2,729 -1,259

Finance costs - other -7,175 -7,984 -4,794 -5,217 -5,473

Net assets/Total equity 182,870 37,687 19,739 4,674 96,619

Net Result before capital and specific items, i.e. the result which the health service is monitored against in the Statement of Priorities.
*Note: Restated Share of Net Profit of Associates is in Other Economic flows as of 2019, prior years restated. 
*Note: Restated Net Operating Result to exclude Bad and Doubtful Debts Expense in 2017.
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Consultancies information
Details of Information and Communication Technology
The total ICT expenditure incurred during 2020-21 is $73.9 million (excluding GST).

$'000

BAU ICT Expenditure
Total (excluding GST)

Non-BAU ICT Expenditure
Total = A+B (Excluding GST) 

Operational Expenditure 
A (Excluding GST)

Capital Expenditure
B (Excluding GST)

73,927 11,844 968 10,876 

Consultancy engagement summary

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Consultants’ cost ($)   2,863,496 8,591,096  3,251,980  1,587,973  1,228,225 

Total number of consultants             122 102           121             51            107 

2020-21 Disclosure of Consultancy Expenditure

Details of consultancies (under $10,000)
In 2020-21, there were 91 consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were less than $10,000. 
The total expenditure incurred during 2020-21 in relation to these consultancies is $204,126 (excluding GST). 

Details of consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater)
In 2020-21, there were 31 consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were $10,000 or greater.  
The total expenditure incurred during 2020-21 in relation to these consultancies is $2,601,340 (excluding GST).  
Details of these consultancies are listed below. 

Consultancies Details

Consultant Purpose of Consultancy Start date End date Total 
approved 

project fee 
($'000)

Expenditure 
2019-2020 

($'000)

Assetfuture Pty Ltd Asset Management Consulting 1/07/20 30/06/21 619 619

Royce Communications Pty Ltd Communication Consulting 1/07/20 30/06/21 389 389

Ernst & Young Internal Audit and FBT Services 1/07/20 30/06/21 362 362

Paxton Consulting Pty Ltd Consultancy for Improvement in Financial Viability 1/07/20 30/06/21 130 130

Madison Cross Australia Pty Ltd Consultancy for Organisational 
Growth and Development

1/07/20 30/06/21 122 122

The Source Management 
Consultants Pty Ltd

Consultancy for Organisational 
Growth and Development

1/07/20 30/06/21 116 116

Hendry Group Asset Management Consulting 1/07/20 30/06/21 102 102

Solve Logistics Pty Limited Consultancy for Safety and Operational 
Processes Assessment

1/07/20 30/06/21 98 98

Hall & Wilcox Legal Consultancy 1/07/20 30/06/21 89 89

Db Results Pty Ltd Information Technology Consulting 1/07/20 30/06/21 80 80

Deloitte Consulting Pty Limited Workforce Consulting 1/07/20 30/06/21 65 65
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Consultancies Details continued

Consultant Purpose of Consultancy Start date End date Total 
approved 

project fee 
($'000)

Expenditure 
2017-2018 

($'000)

Pharmconsult Pty Ltd Workforce Consulting 1/07/20 30/06/21 42 42

Jacinta Cubis Consultancy for Customer Engagement 1/07/20 30/06/21 37 37

Insync Health Pty Ltd Consultancy for Customer Engagement 1/07/20 30/06/21 36 36

Waterman Ahw Vic Pty Ltd Asset Management Consulting 1/07/20 30/06/21 28 28

Tgroup Co Security Consultancy Assessment 1/07/20 30/06/21 28 28

Zuuse Pty Ltd Information Technology Consulting 1/07/20 30/06/21 27 27

Fundraising Force Consultancy for Organisational 
Growth and Development

1/07/20 30/06/21 22 22

Art Of Work Pty Ltd Consultancy for Risk Assessment 1/07/20 30/06/21 21 21

Cerner Corporation Pty Ltd Information Technology Consulting 1/07/20 30/06/21 20 20

Datarobot Information Technology Consulting 1/07/20 30/06/21 20 20

Russell Kennedy Solicitors Asset Management Consulting 1/07/20 30/06/21 20 20

Open Advisory Pty Ltd Consultancy for Organisational 
Growth and Development

1/07/20 30/06/21 18 18

Karen Hermann Workplace Consulting Workplace Consultancy 1/07/20 30/06/21 16 16

M And T Consulting Engineers Pty Ltd Asset Management Consulting 1/07/20 30/06/21 16 16

Elmo Learning Services Pty Ltd Information Technology Consulting 1/07/20 30/06/21 16 16

Stopline Pty Ltd Workplace Consultancy 1/07/20 30/06/21 14 14

Grindstone Creative Pty Ltd Consultancy for Organisational 
Growth and Development

1/07/20 30/06/21 14 14

Treasury Corporation Of Victoria Asset Management Consulting 1/07/20 30/06/21 12 12

Cetec Pty Ltd Consultancy for Safety and Operational 
Processes Assessment

1/07/20 30/06/21 11 11

The Trustee For The Scarlet Velvet Trust Consultancy for Safety and Operational 
Processes Assessment

1/07/20 30/06/21 10 10

Disclosures required  
under legislation
Freedom of Information 
Act 1982

Rights of the public under the 
Freedom of Information Act 1982 
are published on our website at 
monashhealth.org. These include 
contact details for the Freedom 
of Information (FOI) team and 
guidance on how to make a 
freedom of information request.

A request for documents must be in 
writing and include sufficient detail to 
identify the correct medical record.

Contact details of our FOI team 
are: foi@monashhealth.org

Summary of requests received 
under the Act from 1 July 
2020 to 30 June 2021 
• Total number of requests received: 1994 
• Number of requests transferred 

to another agency: 0

Outcomes of Requests 
Received in the Period 1 July 
2020 to 30 June 2021: 
• Access granted in full: 1717
• Access granted in part: 99
• Access denied in full: 4
• Other (no documents found) 33
• Other (not proceeded with) 40

• Not yet finalised: 101
• Exemptions cited: a total of 157

Clause:
• s.30(1) was used in 19 request(s) 
• 32(1) was used in 1 request(s)
• s.33(1) was used in 61 request(s) 
• s.33(4) was used in 2 request(s) 
• s.35(1)(b) was used in 46 request(s) 
• s.38 was used in 23 request(s) 

Outcomes of Requests 
Outstanding from 2019-20 
• Total number of requests outstanding: 75
• Access granted in full: 63
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• Access granted in part: 12
• Access denied in full: 0
• Other (no documents): 0

Freedom of Information 
fees and charges: 
• Application fees collected $46,738.40
• Application fees waived $12,284.00
• Copy charges collected $82,100.00
• Copy charges waived $3,513.40

Initial decision-makers: 
• Hayley Caprion (Release of 

Information Manager) 
• Frances Rogers (FOI Decision Maker) 
• Elaine Elliott (Health Information Manager) 
• Maija Dimits (Health Information Manager) 
• Carrie Harris (Health Information Manager)

Building Act 1993 
Monash Health sites and facilities are 
managed through site inspections, 
risk assessments and audits. We 
have contracts in place to maintain 
Essential Safety Measures and annual 
compliance audits by independent 
Registered Building Surveyors. 

Building standards and 
condition assessments 

The condition of our buildings are 
assessed through site inspections 
and condition audits by architects 
and consultant engineers on an 
as-needed basis. Fire audits and 
risk assessments are undertaken by 
consultant fire engineers to comply 
with the Department of Health 
and Human Services Fire Risk 
Management Guidelines Series 7.

Recommendations from fire audits 
are actioned through a series of 
projects developed in conjunction with 
the Department of Health and Human 
Services to maintain a high degree 
of fire safety. All bed-based facilities 
are audited on a five-yearly cycle.

Fire safety audits 
The last five-yearly fire safety audit 
of Monash Health’s 12 bed-based 
facilities was completed in 2018. 
The next audit will be undertaken 
and completed in 2023.

Essential safety measures 
maintenance 
Contracts are in place to maintain all 

Essential Safety Measures (ESM) at 
sites owned by Monash Health. Audits 
are performed at these sites by Building 
Surveyors to ensure compliance with 
ESM Maintenance regulations. Action 
plans to rectify defects identified 
during the audits are currently in 
place. In accordance with regulatory 
requirements, service and maintenance, 
records are kept to enable the 
completion of an annual ESM Report 
for all properties owned by Monash 
Health. This provides confirmation 
that all ESM are operational at the 
required level of performance for 
the safety of these facilities.  

Risk assessment 
Victorian Managed Insurance 
Authority (VMIA) conducts Site Risk 
Surveys (SRS) at Monash Medical 
Centre, Moorabbin Hospital, Kingston 
Centre and Dandenong Hospital.  

Risk treatment options generated 
from the SRS are monitored through 
action plans until they are completed.  

Protected Disclosure Act 2012  
Monash Health has a procedure for 
protected disclosures and matters 
of this nature are referred to the 
Independent Broad-based Anti-
Corruption Commission. Information 
is included in the ‘Patient & Visitors/
Concerns and Compliments’ section 
of the Monash Health Internet site 
for external parties and on our 
intranet for internal employees to 
view policies and procedures.

National Competition Policy 
Monash Health continued to comply 
with the Victorian Government’s 
Competitive Neutrality Policy. In 
addition, the Victorian Government’s 
Neutrality Pricing Principles for 
all relevant business activities 
have been applied by Monash 
Health since 1 July 1988. 

Carers Recognition Act 2012 
Monash Health is committed to 

partnering with and empowering 
our consumers. We understand that 
our consumers, their families and 
carers need to play an active role in 
their own healthcare and in helping 
us improve the quality and safety of 

our services. We take all practicable 
measures to ensure our employees 
and agents reflect the care relationship 
principles in developing, providing or 
evaluating support and assistance 
for persons in care relationships.

The Monash Health Consumer, 
Carer and Community Partnerships 
Framework provides an organisation-
wide structure describing our 
approach to embedding relationship-
centred care and partnerships in our 
culture, recognising that everyone in 
the organisation has an impact on 
patient, family, carer and consumer 
experience. Patient Experience 
education is mandatory for all new 
Monash Health employees, and 
Partnering with Consumers education 
is provided for managers and leaders. 
Our learning tools draw particular 
attention to the needs of carers 
and families. We recognise carer’s 
individual needs and include them in 
their care planning. We acknowledge 
that care and support needs change 
over time, and we are responsive to 
modify services to meet care needs.

Monash Health reports on how we 
engage with our consumers, their 
families and carers in the annual Quality 
of Care Report. That report is available 
on our website: https://monashhealth.
org/about-us/publications/
monash-health-quality-account/ 

There are no disclosures 
required to be made under the 
Carers Recognition Act 2012.

DataVic Access Policy 
Consistent with the DataVic Access 
Policy issued by the Victorian 
Government in 2012, Monash Health 
data sets are available on the DataVic 
website in 2020- 21. The information 
included in this Annual Report will 
also be available at www.data.vic.gov.
au in an electronic readable format. 

Local Jobs First-Victorian 
Industry Participation Policy 
Monash Health complies with the 
intent of the Local Jobs First Act 
2003 which requires, wherever 
possible, local industry participation 
in supplies; taking into consideration 
the principle of value for money and 
transparent tendering processes. 
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Local Jobs First-Victorian Industry Participation Policy 

Project Type Number of Projects Estimated  
Value

VIPP/LIDP Plan 
Required 

Completed In Progress 

Standard >$3M 2 $9.5m 2 2 0 

Strategic >$50M  N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Gender Equality Act 2020
In line with its commitments in 

our Equity and Inclusion Strategy, 
Monash Health conducted a gender 
pay gap analysis in February 2020.

There was no evidence of a gender 
pay gap across the general workforce, 
noting that 99% of employees are 
paid under an Enterprise Agreement. 
There were minor variances between 
male and female senior doctors. 
These are attributed to the difference 
in the average years of experience 
between the male and female senior 
medical staff within the specialities. 

In the management cohort, there 
were several groups (Medical Unit 
Heads/ Medical Program Directors) 
where there was a gender pay gap 
with males being paid at higher rates. 
This is driven by the predominantly 
male profile of senior medical staff in 
management roles and that many of 
the specialities (e.g. ICU, Anaesthetists, 
ED Physicians, Surgeons and 
Radiologists) attract craft group salary 
loadings.  These market loadings are 
driven by demand across the Health 
industry and drive salaries significantly 
above the Enterprise Agreement rates. 
The proportion of female medical staff 
in leadership positions has increased 
from 25% to 33% over five years. 
We will continue to close this gap 
over the coming years by improved, 
open and transparent recruitment 
and promotion practices, identifying 
and supporting female talent into 
leadership roles, normalising attitudes 
towards family-friendly employment 
arrangements for all genders and 
focusing on a culture of respect for all. 

In the lead up to the introduction 
of the Gender Equality Act 2020, as 
part of a pilot project, representatives 
from Monash Health trialled 
resources such as reporting tools 
on sexual harassment, reporting 
tools for conducting gender pay 
gap analysis and measuring 

intersectionality throughout our 
policies and procedures.

We were able to provide constructive 
feedback on the resources and get a 
head start on strengthening gender 
equality at Monash Health. The 
Department for Women used our 
feedback to help inform the Gender 
Equality Bill, which has three main 
components: Workplace Gender 
Audit, Gender Equality Action Plan 
and Gender Impact Assessments.

The piloted resources will be 
rolled out to all public sector 
organisations in October 2021 as 
part of the introduction of the Act. 

As part of the awareness-raising 
of the Act and its implications for 
International Women’s Day 2021, 
Monash Health held an employee 
forum featuring Dr Niki Vincent, 
Victoria’s first Gender Equality 
Commissioner for the Public Sector, 
speaking about what the Gender 
Equality Act might mean for a health 
service like Monash Health. 

The organisation is currently 
consulting on the development 
of its first Gender Action Plan 
to ensure we provide fair 
opportunities and fair outcomes 
regardless of gender by 2023. 

A gender analysis of the Monash 
Health workforce shows 77% of 
our employees are female. 52% of 
our Junior Medical Staff are female, 
and 42% of Senior Medical Staff 
are female, up from 36% in 2016.

Safe Patient Act 2015 
Monash Health has no matters to 
report in relation to its obligations 
under Section 40 of the Safe 
Patient Care Act 2015.

Car Parking Fees 
Monash Health complies with the 

Department of Health and Human 
Services hospital circular on car 
parking fees. Details of car parking 

fees and concession benefits can 
be viewed at https://www2.health.
vic.gov.au/about/news-and-events/
hospitalcirculars/circ0515

Monash Health’s car parking fees 
and concession benefits can be 
found at www.monashhealth.org. 

Additional information 
available on request 
Details in respect of the items listed 
below have been retained by the 
health service and are available to 
the relevant Ministers, Members of 
Parliament and the public on request 
(subject to the Freedom of Information 
requirements, if applicable): 

• Declarations of pecuniary interests 
have been duly completed 
by all relevant officers 

• Details of shares held by 
senior officers as nominees 
or held beneficially 

• Details of publications produced 
by the entity about itself and 
how these can be obtained 

• Details of changes in prices, 
fees, charges, rates and levies 
charged by the Health Service 

• Details of any major external reviews 
carried out on the Health Service 

• Details of major research and 
development activities undertaken 
by the Health Service that are 
not otherwise covered either in 
the report of operations or in a 
document that contains the financial 
statements and report of operation

• Details of overseas visits 
undertaken including a 
summary of the objectives 
and outcomes of each visit 
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Compliance and maturity rating tool 2021
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• Details of major promotional, public 
relations and marketing activities 
undertaken by the Health Service to 
develop community awareness of 
the Health Service and its services 

• Details of assessments and 
measures undertaken to 
improve the occupational health 
and safety of employees 

• A general statement on industrial 
relations within the Health Service 
and details of time lost through 
industrial accidents and disputes, 
which are not otherwise detailed 
in the report of operations 

• A list of major committees 
sponsored by the Health Service, 
the purposes of each committee 
and the extent to which those 
purposes have been achieved

Asset Management 
Accountability Framework 
(AMAF) maturity 
assessment [FRD 22I]
• The following sections summarise 

Monash Health’s assessment of 
maturity against the requirements 
of the Asset Management 
Accountability Framework (AMAF). 
The AMAF is a non-prescriptive, 
devolved accountability model 
of asset management that 
requires compliance with 41 
mandatory requirements. These 
requirements can be found on 

Compliance and maturity 
rating tool 2021

Asset management maturity 

Compliance and maturity 
rating tool 2020

Asset management maturity 

Legend

Status Scale

Not Applicable N/A

Innocence 0

Awareness 1

Developing 2

Competence 3

Optimising 4

Unassessed U/A

Target

Overall

the DTF website (https://www.
dtf.vic.gov.au/infrastructure-
investment/asset-management-
accountability-framework). 

• Monash Health’s target maturity 
rating is ‘competence’, meaning 
systems and processes fully in 
place, consistently applied and 
systematically meeting the AMAF 
requirement, including a continuous 
improvement process to expand 
system performance above 
AMAF minimum requirements. 

Leadership and Accountability 
(requirements 1-19)
• Monash Health has met some 

of its target maturity level 
requirements within this category.

• Monash Health did not comply with 
some requirements in the areas 
of allocating asset management 
responsibility and other requirement. 
There is no material non-compliance 
reported in this category. A plan 
for improvement is in place 
to improve Monash Health’s 
maturity rating in these areas.  

Planning (requirements 20-23) 
• Monash Health has not met its 

target maturity level in this category. 
There is no material non-compliance 
reported in this category. Monash 
Health is developing aligning 
service criticality with assets 
that help deliver that service. 

Acquisition (requirements 
24 and 25) 
• Monash Health has not met its 

target maturity level in this category. 
There is no material non-compliance 
reported in this category. Monash  
Health is developing a new 
acquisition process.

Operation (requirements 26-40)
• Monash Health has met some 

of its target maturity level 
requirements within this category. 

• Monash Health did not comply with 
some requirements in the areas 
of monitoring and preventative 
action, maintenance of assets and 
information management. There 
is no material non-compliance 
reported in this category. Monash 
Health is developing a plan 
for improvement to establish 
processes to proactively identify 
potential asset performance 
failures and identify options for 
preventive action. Our AIMS (Asset 
Information Management System) 
inadequacies have been identified 
and steps are being taken to 
rectify them which will improve 
compliance in this section. 

Disposal (requirement 41) 
• Monash Health has met its target 

maturity level in this category.
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Attestations
Financial Management Compliance attestation

I, Dipak Sanghvi, on behalf of the Monash Health Board,  
certify that Monash Health has no Material Compliance  
Deficiency with respect to the applicable Standing 
Directions under the Financial Management Act 1984  
and Instructions. 

Dipak Sanghvi
Chair, Board of Directors
Melbourne

30 June 2021

Data Integrity 

I, Andrew Stripp, certify that Monash Health has put 
in place appropriate internal controls and processes 
to ensure that reported data accurately reflects actual 
performance. Monash Health has critically reviewed 
these controls and processes during the year. 

Andrew Stripp
Chief Executive
Melbourne

30 June 2021

Conflict of Interest 

I, Andrew Stripp, certify that Monash Health has put in 
place appropriate internal controls and processes to ensure 
that it has complied with the requirements of hospital 
circular 07/2017 Compliance reporting in health portfolio 
entities (revised) and has implemented a ‘Conflict of 
Interest’ policy consistent with the minimum accountabilities 
required by the VPSC. Declaration of private interest forms 
have been completed by all executive staff within Monash 
Health and members of the Board, and all declared 
conflicts have been addressed and are being managed. 
Conflict of interest is a standard agenda item for declaration 
and documenting at each executive board meeting.

Andrew Stripp
Chief Executive
Melbourne

30 June 2021

Integrity, Fraud and Corruption 

I, Andrew Stripp, certify that Monash Health has put in 
place appropriate internal controls and processes to 
ensure that integrity, fraud and corruption risks have been 
reviewed and addressed at Monash Health during the year.

Andrew Stripp
Chief Executive
Melbourne

30 June 2021

Report of Operations
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We work with humility, respect, 
kindness, and compassion 
in high performing teams.
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Reporting of outcomes from  
Statement of Priorities 2020-21 
Part A:
Immediate and Ongoing Priorities Comment 

COVID-19 Readiness and Response
Maintain a robust COVID-19 readiness and response, 
working with the Department of Health to rapidly 
respond to outbreaks, if and when they occur, by: 

• providing community and staff testing, 
where necessary and if required 

• preparing to participate in, and assist with, 
the implementation of the COVID-19 vaccine 
immunisation program rollout, ensuring the local 
community’s confidence in the program 

Achieved  
Through its South East Public Health Unit, Monash Health has: 

• established and mobilised COVID-19 screening 
clinics to provide timely and responsive testing to 
patients, employees and community members 

• partnered with other public health services within the 
South East Metropolitan Health Service Partnership, 
private hospitals and community providers in its capacity 
as a Vaccination Hub to rollout the COVID-19 vaccination 
program across Melbourne’s south east catchment 

• worked with community providers to provide training and support 
with the aim of containing and preventing outbreaks, and 

• developed community and internal outbreak management 
response models to rapidly contain outbreaks. 

Delayed Care 
Engage with the community to address patients’ needs, 
especially vulnerable Victorians whose care has been 
delayed due to the pandemic and provide the necessary 
“catch-up” care to support them to get back on track.

Achieved  
Monash Health has undertaken a review of patients who have  
experienced extended waits as a result of pandemic related  
postponements of care. 

Monash Health has increased access to care through 
proactively contacting patients with missed appointments 
and deferred elective surgery. We have targeted our focus on 
those patients who require urgent care and on all patients, 
to ensure they receive the care they need at the right time.  

This includes the most vulnerable members of the community, 
including Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities. 

To ensure sufficient capacity, we have scheduled additional theatre 
sessions, and scaled up our contracted care arrangements, 
for example with elective surgery and maternity care. 

Response to Recommendations from the  
Royal Commissions 
Respond to the recommendations of the Royal 
Commission into Victoria’s Mental Health System and the 
Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety.

On Track 
Monash Health will work with the Department of Health 
to implement recommendations arising from the Royal 
Commission into Victoria’s Mental Health System and the 
Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety. 
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Immediate and Ongoing Priorities Comment 

Health Service Partnerships 
Develop and foster local health partner 
relationships, which have been strengthened 
during the pandemic response, to continue 
delivering collaborative approaches to planning, 
procurement and service delivery at scale. 

This extends to prioritising innovative ways to 
deliver health care through shared expertise and 
workforce models, virtual care, co-commissioning 
services and surgical outpatient reform to deliver 
improved patient care through greater integration.

Achieved  
Monash Health is the designated lead health service for the  
South East Health Service Partnership. 

Since its establishment in late 2020, the South East Health Service 
Partnership has commenced a series of collaborative initiatives to: 

• ensure a robust response to the COVID-19 pandemic, utilising  
public health service and private hospital capacity across  
the south east catchment 

• enhance care in the community, including through the  
Better at Home program, and 

• improve shared service efficiencies, across a number of areas,  
including corporate services and pathology. 

Monash Health is also committed to improving the health 
outcomes of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
and continues to build partnerships with the Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander community, providing opportunities 
and promoting and building mutual respect. This is 
demonstrated through our governance structures, including 
policies and procedures, as well as the care our employees 
deliver in acute, subacute and community services. 

Monash Health has developed and implemented a 
Reconciliation Action Plan in partnership with the Aboriginal 
community, has signed the Statement of Intent to close the 
health gap and has an Aboriginal Employment Plan in place.

Local Public Health Unit 
As a service hosting a Local Public Health Unit (LPHU) 
work collaboratively with the Department of Health, other 
LPHUs, community and primary care providers and 
local government partners to evolve and deliver a fully 
integrated and high performing public health network.

Achieved  
The South East Public Health Unit has worked closely with the 
Department of Health, other Local Public Health Units and care 
providers to pool resources and expertise to allow for flexible 
and rapid responses to community COVID-19 outbreaks. 
Ongoing efforts to strengthen partnerships with key 
community groups will remain a focus of future work.

A team member prepares a COVID-19 vaccine,  
as part of Australia’s largest vaccination program.
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Part B: Key 2020-21 Performance Priorities 

High-quality and safe care
Target Result

Infection prevention and control

Compliance with the Hand Hygiene Australia program >=83% 84.9%

Percentage of healthcare workers immunised for influenza >=90% 84%

Patient experience

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – percentage of positive patient  
experience responses

>=95% 87%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – percentage of very positive responses  
to questions on discharge care

>=75% 70%

Healthcare associated infections (HAI’s)

Rate of patients with surgical site infection No outliers Met

Rate of patients with ICU central-line-associated bloodstream infection (CLABSI) Nil Nil

Rate of patients with SAB per 10,000 occupied bed days >=1 0.6

Mental Health

Percentage of adult acute mental health inpatients who are readmitted within  
28 days of discharge

<=14% 14.4%

Rate of seclusion events relating to a child and adolescent acute mental  
health admission

≤ 10/1,000 occupied 
bed days

11

Rate of seclusion events relating to an adult acute mental health admission ≤ 10/1,000 occupied 
bed days

6

Rate of seclusion events relating to an aged acute mental health admission ≤ 5/1,000 occupied 
bed days

0

Percentage of child and adolescent acute mental health inpatients who have  
a post-discharge follow-up within seven days

>=80% 87.3%

Percentage of adult acute mental health inpatients who have a post-discharge  
follow-up within seven days

>=80% 99.4%

Percentage of aged acute mental health inpatients who have a post-discharge  
follow-up within seven days

>=80% 94.9%

Maternity and newborn 
Baby’s wellbeing at birth (APGAR Score) 

Casey Hospital <=1.4% 1.25%

Dandenong Hospital <=1.4% 1.09%

Monash Medical Centre <=1.4% 1.59%

Severe fetal growth restriction born at 40 or more weeks gestation (FGR rate)

Casey Hospital <=28.6% 21.7%

Dandenong Hospital <=28.6% 25%

Monash Medical Centre <=28.6% 10.2%
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Proportion of urgent maternity patients referred for obstetric care to a level 4, 5 or 6 maternity 
service who were booked for a specialist clinic appointment within 30 days of accepted referral

Casey Hospital <=100% 100%

Dandenong Hospital <=100% 76.7%

Monash Medical Centre <=100% 100%

Continuing Care

Functional independence gain from an episode of rehabilitation admission to discharge  
relative to length of stay

<=0.645 0.65

Timely access to care
Target Result

Emergency Care

Emergency – Casey Hospital

Percentage of ambulance patients transferred within 40 minutes >=90% 74.7%

Percentage of Triage Category 1 emergency patients seen immediately 100% 100%

Percentage of Triage Categories 1-5 emergency patients seen within clinical  
recommended times

>=80% 50.6%

Percentage of emergency patients with length of stay less than 4 hours >=81% 68.1%

Number of patients with a length of stay in the emergency department greater than 24 hours 0 47

Emergency – Dandenong Hospital

Percentage of ambulance patients transferred within 40 minutes >=90% 76.1%

Percentage of Triage Category 1 emergency patients seen immediately 100% 100%

Percentage of Triage Categories 1-5 emergency patients seen within clinical  
recommended times

>=80% 60%

Percentage of emergency patients with length of stay less than 4 hours >=81% 50.6%

Number of patients with a length of stay in the emergency department greater than 24 hours 0 30

Emergency – Monash Medical Centre 

Percentage of ambulance patients transferred within 40 minutes >=90% 57.7%

Percentage of Triage Category 1 emergency patients seen immediately 100% 100%

Percentage of Triage Categories 1-5 emergency patients seen within clinical  
recommended times

>=80% 47.9%

Percentage of emergency patients with length of stay less than 4 hours >=81% 50.6%

Number of patients with a length of stay in the emergency department greater than 24 hours 0 58

Elective Surgery

Percentage of Urgency Category 1 elective patients removed within 30 days 100% 100%

Percentage of Urgency Category 1, 2 and 3 elective patients admitted within clinically  
recommended timeframes

>=94% 72%

Percentage of patients on the waiting list who have waited longer than clinically  
recommended time for their respective triage category

<=5% or <=15% 
proportional 

improvement 
from prior year

36.4%

Number of patients on the elective surgery waiting list (end of June 2021) <=7545 11,786
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Number of Hospital Initiated Postponements per 100 scheduled admissions <=7% 6.9%

Number of patients admitted from the elective surgery waiting list – annual total 29,275 23,483

Specialist clinics

Percentage of urgent patients referred by a GP or external specialist who attended a first  
appointment within 30 days

>=100% 55.7%

Percentage of routine patients referred by GP or external specialist who attended a first  
appointment within 365 days

>=90%  86.9%

Effective Financial Management
Target Result

Finance

Operating Result ($m) $0.00 0.06

Average number of days to paying trade creditors <60 days 60 days

Average number of days to receiving patient fee debtors <60 days 34 days

Public and Private WIES2 activity performance to target 100% 97%

Adjusted Current Asset Ratio >=0.7 0.7

Forecast number of days a health service can maintain its operations with unrestricted  
available cash (based on end of year forecast) 

14 days Not met

Actual number of days available cash, measured on the last day of each month >=14 days 24 days

Variance between forecast and actual Net result from transactions (NRFT) for the current  
financial year ending 30 June 

Variance  
≤ $250,000

$224.2m
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Part C: Activity and Funding 

Acute Admitted
2020-21 Activity Achievement 

Acute WIES 180,410

WIES DVA 488

WIES TAC 507

Acute Non-Admitted
2020-21 Activity Achievement 

Home Enternal Nutrition 4,681

Home Renal Dialysis - Home ABF 180

Specialist Clinics 313,636

Total perinatal nutrition 204

Subacute and Non-Acute Admitted
2020-21 Activity Achievement 

Subacute WIES - Rehabilitation Public 21,853

Subacute WIES - Rehabilitation Private/TAC/Workcover 234

Subacute WIES - GEM Public 2,234

Subacute WIES - GEM Private/TAC/Workcover 225

Subacute WIES - Palliative Care Public 444

Subacute WIES - Palliative Care Private 41

Subacute WIES - DVA 17

Transition Care - Bed days 14,970

Subacute Non-Admitted 
2020-21 Activity Achievement 

Health Independent Program - Public 174,763

Aged Care
2020-21 Activity Achievement 

Residential Aged Care 26,365

HACC - Service Time Hours 24,709
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Mental Health (Occupied Bed days) and Drug Services
2020-21 Activity Achievement 

Mental Health Ambulatory  216,497

Mental Health Inpatient - Available bed days  60,325

Mental Health Inpatient - Secure Unit  14,980

Mental Health Residential  43,730

Mental Health Subacute  13,468

Mental Health Drug services  2,318

Other
2020-21 Activity Achievement 

NFC- Pancreas Transplants  14 

Primary Health
2020-21 Activity Achievement 

Community Health/Primary Care Program - Service Time Hours  89,609

Community Health Other   2,390

Monash Health Annual Report. 2020-2184
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Disclosure Index
The annual report of Monash Health is prepared in accordance with all relevant 
Victorian legislation. This index has been prepared to facilitate identification  
of the Department’s compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Charter and Purpose

Legislation Requirement Page Reference

FRD 22I Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 53

FRD 22I Purpose, functions, powers and duties 43

FRD 22I Nature and range of services provided 46

FRD 22I Activities, programs and achievements for the reporting period 14

FRD 22I Significant changes in key initiatives and expectations for the future 4

Management and Structure

Legislation Requirement Page Reference

FRD 22I Organisational structure 58

FRD 22I Workforce data, employment and conduct principles 64

FRD 22I Occupational Health and Safety 65

Financial Information

Legislation Requirement Page Reference

FRD 22I Summary of the financial results for the year 70

FRD 11A Disclosure of ex-gratia expenses N/A

FRD 22I Significant changes in financial position during the year 70

FRD 22I Operational and budgetary objectives and performance against objectives 70

FRD 22I Subsequent events 70

FRD 22I Details of consultancies under $10,000 71

FRD 22I Details of consultancies over $10,000 71

FRD 22I Disclosure of ICT expenditure 71
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Legislation

Legislation Requirement Page Reference

FRD 22I Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 72

FRD 22I Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993 73

FRD 22I Application and operation of Protected Disclosure 2012 73

FRD 22I Statement on National Competition Policy 73

FRD 22I Application and operation of Carers Recognition Act 2012 73

FRD 22I Summary of the entity’s environmental performance 66

FRD 22I Additional information available on request 74

FRD 25C Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures 73

Reporting of outcomes from Statement of Priorities 2020-21 78 - 84

Occupational Violence reporting 65

Reporting obligations under the Safe Patient Care Act 2015 74

Reporting of compliance regarding Car Parking Fees 74

FRD 25C Local Jobs First Act 2003 disclosures 73

DataVic Access Policy 73

Gender Equality Act 74

Attestations

Legislation Requirement Page Reference

Data Integrity 76

Managing Conflicts of Interest 76

Integrity, fraud and corruption 76

SD 5.1.4 Financial Management Compliance attestation 76

SD 5.2.3 Declaration in report of operations 42
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Thank you to our supporters
• A Voss
• Adam Parkinson
• Adam West
• Aekta Desai
• Aidan Biggar
• Alan Little
• Alfred Gauci
• Alf’s Cafe
• Amanda Turley
• An Trung Nguyen
• Anna and Noam Olshina
• Anna Taylor
• Anthea Kane
• Arthur Clark
• Arun Radhakrishnan
• Asanka Pannipitiya
• Asma Ahsan
• Assunta Pellicano
• Astellas Pharma Australia Pty Ltd
• Athula Herath
• Australasian Business Association
• Bailey’s Day
• Barbara Paymans
• Beat Kunz
• Berwick Opportunity Shop
• Besen Family Foundation
• BlueAnt
• Blueshore Charitable Trust
• Bobbie Ryan
• Brendan Sacco
• Bun Heng Ty
• Bunthoeun Khoeun
• Calvin Ker
• Cameron Bertalli
• Camp Quality
• Carlo Bragagnolo
• Carolyon Stubbs
• Catherine White
• Cathy Fraser
• Cathy McAdam
• Chadd Cooke
• Chain Reaction Challenge Foundation
• Chamroeun Lim
• Chea Haima
• Chelsey Silvester
• Cheng Hean Lo
• Chhun Lim
• Children’s Cancer Foundation
• Chris Collett
• Christine Chen
• Christopher Costoglou
• Colin Brown
• Connie Lam
• Corey Innes
• Curing Homesickness
• Cystic Fibrosis Community Care
• Dandelion Wishes Foundation
• Darren Mansfield
• Darwin Luc
• Deepak Kerhalkar
• Device Technologies
• Di & Craig Winkler
• Diana Egerton-Warburton
• Duc Trinh
• Eddie Khoury
• Elise Fagone
• Ellie Withanage
• Erin MacNee
• Estate of the late Alice 

Letitia D’Esterre Taylor
• Estate of the late Amelia Batten
• Estate of the late Arthur 

Lyndhurst Blannin
• Estate of the late Charles 

Keith Edwards
• Estate of the late Charles Wright
• Estate of the late Charlotte Marshall
• Estate of the late Colin William Dear
• Estate of the late David Walter Mickle
• Estate of the late Doris & Rubert Joseph

• Estate of the late Dorothy Flora Jennings
• Estate of the late EC Blackwood
• Estate of the late Eliza Wallis
• Estate of the late Elizabeth 

Ruby Moxham
• Estate of the late Ernest Finlay Burns
• Estate of the late Flora 

Louisa Thompson
• Estate of the late George 

& Violet Morewood
• Estate of the late George 

Chapple Hodges
• Estate of the late George Pethard
• Estate of the late GL Godfree
• Estate of the late Grace 

& Herbert Foulkes
• Estate of the late Gregory 

Joseph and Zig Dickson Trust
• Estate of the late Heather Sybil Smith
• Estate of the late Herbert Lindsay Dehn
• Estate of the late Howard Berry
• Estate of the late James McConnell Kerr
• Estate of the late John Frederick Wright
• Estate of the late John Lambrick
• Estate of the late JRG & Eva McKenzie
• Estate of the late Kenneth 

Raymond Foster
• Estate of the late Lindsay James Baldy
• Estate of the late Louise 

& Lesley Nelken
• Estate of the late Margaret Joan Titulaer
• Estate of the late Margaret 

Lillian Merrifield
• Estate of the late Martha 

Miranda Livingstone
• Estate of the late Martin 

& Isabel McLoughlin
• Estate of the late Mary MacGregor
• Estate of the late Mary Symon
• Estate of the late Muriel Bradley
• Estate of the late Phyllis Nerelle Turner
• Estate of the late Silas Clark
• Estate of the late Stanley 

John Stephen Harrison
• Estate of the late Werge Batters
• Estate of the late William and Mary 

Ievers & Sons Maintenance Fund
• Estate of the late William 

Frederick Fletcher
• Estate of the late William 

Hall Russell Trust Fund
• Estate of the late William Macrow
• Estate of the late William Marshall
• Ferring Pharmaceuticals Pty Ltd
• Francis Tsang
• Freemasons Foundation Victoria
• Friends of the Children Foundation
• George Koufogiannis
• George Pratt
• Gideon Blecher
• Grace Dong
• Gunavathi Ramalingan
• Hap Lu
• Harshpreet Marjara
• Heang Tuy
• Helena Du
• Henry Nguyen
• Hudson Institute of Medical Research
• Ian Fraser
• Innologic Pty Ltd
• Ipsen Pty Ltd
• Iraj Ahmadi
• Irene Manitta
• Irina Katsnelson
• Jack Hennessy
• Jaime Hoyne
• James Leong
• Janice La
• Jeannette Ting
• Jenny Chan

• Jessica Lourdes
• Jill Turpin
• Jim Mackinnon
• John Fisher
• John Zabaneh
• Julie Khalid
• Julie Noorman
• Kai Wai (Derek) Chan
• KARL STORZ Endoscopy 

Australia Pty Ltd
• Katherine Ware
• Kevin Heng
• Khen To
• Khun BY
• Kim Minett
• Kim Yean Lue
• Kimsroy Lu
• kirsten MacLeod
• Kiwanis Club of Berwick
• Lady Southey
• Laura Smith
• Leang Hong Nang
• Lifestyle Communities
• Lillie Schacht
• Lim’s Pharmacy
• Lincoln & Veronique Wulff
• Lindsay Brown
• Lions Club of Waverley Inc
• Lisa Woo
• Liv Yuk
• Livarn Chow
• Lloyd Schiller
• Louie Scully
• Lubna Tesneem
• Lucy Deiana
• Madeleine Howard
• Maria Matutini
• Mark Holckner
• Mark Sternberg
• Martin Playne
• Martin Roberts
• Martin van Hoof Jenkins
• Mathew Thomas
• Maxxia
• Mayne Pharma
• McGrath Foundation Ltd
• Medical.com.au
• Melbourne Park Redevelopment 

Construction
• Michael Kan
• Michael Lo
• Michael Yazxhi
• Milroy Gunawardena
• Mohamed Nazeer
• Monash Cystic Fibrosis Foundation
• Monash Lung & Sleep Institute
• Monica Mills
• Moniton Pty Ltd
• Moorabbin Hospital Ladies Auxiliary
• Mundipharma
• My Linh Tran
• My Room Children’s 

Cancer Charity Limited
• Narinderpal Matharu
• Nelson Low
• Nelson Low
• Ngoc Diem Thuy (Kathy) Huynh
• Nhon Banh
• Nicholas Freezer
• Nicole Batten
• Noel Silsbury
• Noel Williams
• Noisy Beast Pty Ltd
• Norman Tatterson
• North Brisbane Wreckers Pty Ltd
• Novartis Pharmaceuticals Pty Ltd
• Pacific Trends International Pty Ltd
• Patrick Preece
• Patrick Senat
• Patrick Tessier

• Patterson Cheney Pty Ltd
• Paul King
• Paul Manohar
• Paul Marosszeky
• Peter Alles
• Peter Armstrong
• Peter Kerr
• Peter Rigopoulos
• Peter Stevens MotorWorld
• Pfizer Australia Pty Ltd
• Pierre Antoine
• Pisith Prak
• Raewyn Taylor
• Raija Zadnik
• Raminder Dhillon
• Ravinder Singh
• Raymond Finlayson
• Redkite
• Regional Brown
• Rei Benson
• Renee Legg
• Rhoda Lenard
• Richard Kerr
• Richard Lim
• Robert Deegan
• Robert Drummond
• Robert Fergeus
• Robert Morley
• Rodney Spooner
• Roger Payne
• Ron Fairchild
• Rory Maher
• Roseanne Amarant
• Rosemary Baxter
• Rosemary Horne
• Rupert Hinds
• Sadhna Wilson
• Scleroderma Victoria Inc.
• Seak K Cao
• SH Jewellery
• Shak Shahbaz
• Shiba Sinha
• Sim Teng Ky
• Siriwimala Mutucumarana
• SomnoMed
• Sony Meas
• Sou Be
• Stan Wallis
• Steve Gray
• Stocks Family Foundation
• Susan Biggar
• Susan Steele
• Susan Williams
• T P
• Tan Ho
• Tat-Kean Cheah
• Thanh Cong Phan
• The Garnett Passe and Rodney 

Williams Memorial Foundation
• Thi Diep Liem
• Thi Ut Kha
• Timothy Brazzale
• Trang Nguyen
• Trung Pham
• Try Chhit
• Une Parkinson Foundation
• Valentina Hewerdine
• Victor Chehade
• Victoria Police Blue Ribbon 

Foundation Inc.
• Vong Chea
• Vourch Ear
• Vrajesh Patel
• Vue Property
• Vutha Heam
• William Adams
• Yuling Liu

Thank you also to our community supporters who, due to COVID-19, were not able to run their usual 
fundraising activities this year including Dr Hope, the Fun Run with Thomas and the hospital auxiliary groups.

For information about donating to Monash Health please visit: www.monashhealthfoundation.org
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How this report is structured
Monash Health has presented its audited general purpose financial statements for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2021 in the following structure to provide users with 
the information about Monash Health’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it.
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Financial Year ended
30 June 2021
Board member’s, accountable officer’s and chief finance  
and accounting officer’s declaration 

The attached financial statements 
for Monash Health and its 
controlled entity (together, 

the consolidated entity) have been 
prepared in accordance with Direction 
5.2 of the Standing Directions of 
the Assistant Treasurer under the 
Financial Management Act 1994, 
applicable Financial Reporting 
Directions, Australian Accounting 
Standards including Interpretations, 
and other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements.

We further state that, in our 
opinion, the information set out in the 
comprehensive operating statement, 

balance sheet, statement of changes 
in equity, cash flow statement and 
accompanying notes presents fairly 
the financial transactions during 
the year ended 30 June 2021 
and the financial position of the 
consolidated entity at 30 June 2021.

At the time of signing, we are 
not aware of any circumstance 
which would render any particulars 
included in the financial statements 
to be misleading or inaccurate.

We authorise the attached 
financial statements for issue 
on 30 August 2021.

Dipak Sanghvi 
Chair, Board of Directors 
Melbourne 

30 August 2021 

Andrew Stripp 
Chief Executive 
Melbourne 

30 August 2021 

Stuart Donaldson 
Chief Financial Officer 
Melbourne 

30 August 2021 
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Chief Financial  
Officer’s Summary 
The 2020-2021 financial year continued to be substantially impacted by the 
COVID-19 global pandemic as the state moved in and out of lockdowns that 
affected services across Monash Health.

The key financial performance 
measure monitored by Monash Health 
management and the Department of 
Health is the ‘Net Result Before Capital 
and Specific Items’ and in 2020-2021 
Monash Health achieved a surplus 
result of $0.06 million compared with 
the reported surplus result of $0.45 
million in 2019-2020. In addition to the 
usual health funding provided by the 
Department of Health, funding was 
provided for the impact of COVID-19 on 
Monash Health for the 2020-2021 year.

Monash Health’s ‘Comprehensive 
Result’, which includes capital and 
specific items, was a surplus of $252.7 
million in 2020–2021 compared to a 
surplus of $50.8 million in 2019-2020. 

Included in the 2020-2021 
‘Comprehensive Result’ was increased 
capital funding from the Department of 
Health for the Victorian Heart Hospital 
of $200.2 million compared to $42.5 
million in 2019-2020 and a net gain 
arising from the revaluation of the long 
service liability of $36.7m compared to 
a net loss of ($12.6m) in 2019-2020.

Total revenue from operations for 
the 2020-2021 financial year was 
$2,357.1 million which is an increase 
of $246.5 million or 11.7 per cent 
compared with the previous year. 
Despite the impact of COVID-19, our 
main measure of activity (Weighted 
Inlier Equivalent Separations) increased 
by 3.2 percent over the previous year, 

mainly due to the impact of the new 
tower development at Casey Hospital.

Monash Health’s operating cash 
as at 30 June 2021 was $280.3 
million compared with $487.9 million 
as at 30 June 2020. The reason for 
the decrease in cash holding was 
mainly attributable to the balance 
provided by the Department of 
Health at 30 June 2021 of $15.6m 
compared to $259.6m at 30 June 
2020 for the purchase and supply 
of COVID-19 products to Victorian 
Health Services across the State.

Stuart Donaldson 
Chief Financial Officer 
Melbourne 

30 August 2021 
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Independent Auditor’s Report

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of Monash Health 

Opinion I have audited the consolidated financial report of Monash Health (the health service) and its 
controlled entities (together the consolidated entity), which comprises the: 

• Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2021 
• Consolidated Comprehensive Operating Statement for the year then ended 
• Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended 
• Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended 
• Notes to the Financial Statements, including significant accounting policies 
• Board member’s, accountable officer’s and chief finance & accounting officer’s 

declaration. 

In my opinion, the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the consolidated entity as at 30 June 2021 and its financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 
7 of the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards. 

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and those 
standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my 
report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are independent 
of the health service and the consolidated entity in accordance with the ethical requirements 
of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in 
Victoria. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Key audit 
matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most 
significance in my audit of the financial report of the current period. I have determined that 
there are no matters that required my significant auditor attention and accordingly there are 
no key audit matters that l am required to communicate in my report. 

Board’s 
responsibilities 
for the financial 
report 

The Board of the health service is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial 
Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the health service and 
the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is 
inappropriate to do so. 
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2 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 

 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the health service and the consolidated 
entity’s internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the health 
service and the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the health service and the consolidated entity to cease to continue as a 
going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the health service and consolidated entity to 
express an opinion on the financial report. I remain responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the audit of the health service and the consolidated 
entity. I remain solely responsible for my audit opinion. 

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that I identify during my audit. 

 

 
MELBOURNE 
16 September 2021 

Dominika Ryan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Comprehensive  
Operating Statement
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2021

Income from transactions Note

Consolidated  
2021 
$'000

Consolidated  
2020 
$'000

Operating activities 2.1  2,718,144  2,293,826 

Non-operating activities 2.1  1,060  2,055 

Total income from transactions  2,719,204  2,295,881 

Expenses from transactions

Employee expenses 3.1 -1,838,372 -1,652,844

Supplies and consumables 3.1 -353,148 -301,592

Finance costs 3.1 -7,175 -7,984

Ppp operating expenses 3.1 -11,083 -9,315

Other operating expenses 3.1 -166,908 -157,553

Other non-operating expenses 3.1 -17,044 -10,060

Depreciation and amortisation 3.1, 4.3 -142,604 -118,846

Total expenses from transactions -2,536,334 -2,258,195

Net result from transactions - net operating balance  182,870  37,687 

Other economic flows included in net result

Net gain (loss) arising from revaluation of long service liability 3.4  36,689  -12,611

Losses from other economic flows 3.4  872  706 

Total other economic flows included in net result  37,561  -11,904

Net result for the year 220,431  25,782 

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to net result

Changes in property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus 4.1(b)  32,256  25,059 

Total other comprehensive income  32,256  25,059 

Comprehensive result for the year  252,687  50,841 

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance sheet
As at 30 June 2021

Current assets Note

Consolidated  
2021 
$'000

Consolidated  
2020 
$'000

Cash and cash equivalents 6.2  294,226  501,059 

Receivables 5.1  48,740  55,082 

Inventories 5.2  25,694  24,956 

Other financial assets  6,025  4,673 

Total current assets 374,685  585,770 

Non-current assets

Receivables 5.1  138,905  125,978 

Investments using the equity method 8.8  4,443  4,246 

Property, plant and equipment 4.1(a)  2,158,932  1,953,837 

Intangible assets 4.2  74,372  83,709 

Total non-current assets 2,376,652  2,167,770 

Total assets 2,751,337  2,753,540 

Current liabilities

Payables 5.3  217,749  248,208 

Borrowings 6.1  13,155  64,546 

Provisions 3.2  409,164  378,301 

Other liabilities 5.4  20,699  207,909 

Total current liabilities  660,767  898,963 

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 6.1  120,374  127,931 

Provisions 3.2  83,015  92,155 

Total non-current liabilities  203,389  220,086 

Total liabilities  864,156  1,119,049 

Net assets  1,887,181  1,634,493 

Equity

Property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus 4.1(f)  1,083,482  1,051,227 

Restricted specific purpose surplus  34,467  26,412 

Contributed capital  413,064  413,064 

Accumulated surpluses  356,167  143,791 

Total equity  1,887,181  1,634,493 

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2021

Consolidated Note

Property, 
Plant and 

Equipment
Revaluation

Surplus
$’000

Restricted
Specific
Purpose 
Surplus

$’000

Contributed
Capital

$’000

Accumulated 
Surpluses/ 

(Deficits) 
$’000

Total
$’000

Balance at 30 June 2019 1,026,168 23,901 404,530 120,520 1,575,119

Net result for the year  -  -  -  25,782 25,782 

Other comprehensive income for the year 4.1(f)  25,058  -  -  - 25,058 

Transfer (from)/to accumulated surpluses  - 2,511  - -2,511  - 

Contributed capital  -  - 8,533  - 8,533 

Balance at 30 June 2020 1,051,227 26,412 413,064 143,791 1,634,494

Net result for the year  -  -  - 220,431 220,431 

Other comprehensive income for the year 4.1(f) 32,256  -  -  - 32,256 

Transfer (from)/to accumulated surpluses  - 8,055  - -8,055  - 

Contributed capital  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance at 30 June 2021 1,083,482 34,467 413,064 356,167 1,887,181 

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash Flow Statement
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2021

Cash flows from operating activities Note

Consolidated  
2021 
$'000

Consolidated  
2020 
$'000

Operating grants from government - State  2,131,133  2,647,745 

Operating grants from government - Commonwealth  133,147  126,979 

Capital grants from government  49,674  52,145 

Commercial activities, patient and hospital fees received  200,363  170,047 

Donations and bequests received  1,161  3,466 

GST received from (paid to) ATO  98,563  67,879 

Interest and investment income received  1,060  2,055 

Other receipts  128,461  113,797 

Total receipts  2,743,562  3,184,112 

Employee expenses paid  -1,792,937 -1,623,471

Payments for supplies and consumables -849,586 -969,353

Finance costs -2,513 -2,585

Cash outflow for leases -4,874 -3,194

Other payments -178,941 -163,870

Total payments -2,828,851 -2,762,473

Net cash flows from operating activities 8.1 -85,289  421,639 

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment -64,830 -87,563

Net cash flows used in investing activities -64,830 -87,563

Cash flows from financing activities

Contributed capital  -  8,533 

DH cash advance/(repayment)  -52,240  52,240 

Repayment of borrowings -4,701  -4,418

Receipt of accommodation deposits 3,825  4,322 

Repayment of accommodation deposits -3,598 -5,442

Net cash flows used in financing activities  -56,713  55,235 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held -206,833  389,314 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 501,059  111,749 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6.2  294,226  501,059 

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the  
Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2021

Note 1: Basis of preparation
These financial statements represent 

the audited general purpose financial 
statements for Monash Health and 
its controlled entity (together, the 
consolidated entity) for the year 
ended 30 June 2021. The report 
provides users with information 
about Monash Health’s stewardship 
of the resources entrusted to it.

This section explains the basis of 
preparing the financial statements 
and identifies the key accounting 
estimates and judgements.

Note 1.1: Basis of preparation 
of the financial statements

These financial statements are 
general purpose financial statements 
which have been prepared in 
accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 1994 and applicable 
Australian Accounting Standards, 
which include interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB). They are 
presented in a manner consistent 
with the requirements of AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements.

The financial statements also 
comply with relevant Financial 
Reporting Directions (FRDs) issued 
by the Department of Treasury 
and Finance (DTF), and relevant 
Standing Directions (SDs) authorised 
by the Assistant Treasurer.

Monash Health is a not-for-profit 
entity and therefore applies the 
additional AUS paragraphs applicable 
to a “not-for-profit” health service under 
the Australian Accounting Standards. 
Australian Accounting Standards set 
out accounting policies that the AASB 
has concluded would result in financial 
statements containing relevant and 
reliable information about transactions, 
events and conditions. Apart from 
the changes in accounting policies, 

standards and interpretations as noted 
below, material accounting policies 
adopted in the preparation of these 
financial statements are the same as 
those adopted in the previous period.

Monash Health operates on a fund 
accounting basis and maintains three 
funds: Operating, Specific Purpose 
and Capital Funds. Monash Health’s 
Capital and Specific Purpose Funds 
include unspent donations and receipts 
from fundraising activities conducted 
solely in respect of these funds.

The financial statements, except 
for the cash flow information, have 
been prepared on an accruals 
basis and are based on historical 
costs modified where applicable 
by the measurement at fair value of 
selected non-current assets, financial 
assets and financial liabilities.

The financial statements 
have been prepared on a going 
concern basis (refer to Note 8.10 
Economic Dependency).

The financial statements are in  
Australian dollars. 

The amounts presented in the 
financial statements have been 
rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars. Minor discrepancies in 
tables between totals and sum of 
components are due to rounding.

The annual financial statements were 
authorised for issue by the Board of 
Monash Health on 30th August 2021.

Note 1.2 Impact of 
COVID-19 pandemic
In March 2020 a state of emergency 
was declared in Victoria due to the 
global coronavirus pandemic, known as 
COVID-19. Since this date, to contain 
the spread of COVID-19 and prioritise 
the health and safety of our community, 
Monash Health was required to 
comply with various directions 
announced by the Commonwealth 

and State Governments, which 
in turn, has continued to impact 
the way in which Monash Health 
operates.  Monash Health introduced 
a range of measures in both the 
prior and current year including:

• introducing restrictions on 
non-essential visitors

• greater utilisation of 
telehealth services

• implementing reduced visitor hours

• deferring elective surgery 
and reducing activity

• transferring inpatients to 
private health facilities

• performing COVID-19 testing

• implementing work from home 
arrangements where appropriate.

In addition, Monash Health entered 
an agreement with Department of 
Health (DH) to act as an agent for the 
department in paying, warehousing, 
and distributing products and 
equipment for Victorian public 
health services and other entities 
during the COVID-19 pandemic.  

As restrictions have eased towards 
the end of the financial year Monash 
Health has been able to revise some 
measures where appropriate including 
increasing activity and elective 
surgeries and increased visitor hours.

The financial impacts of the 
pandemic are disclosed at:

• Note 2: Funding delivery of  
our services

• Note 3: The cost of 
delivering services
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Note 1.3 Abbreviations and terminology used in the financial statements
The following table sets out the common abbreviations used throughout the financial statements: 

Reference Title

AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board

AASs Australian Accounting Standards, which include Interpretations

DH Department of Health

DTF Department of Treasury and Finance

FMA Financial Management Act 1994

FRD Financial Reporting Direction

SD Standing Direction

VAGO Victorian Auditor General’s Office

WIES Weighted Inlier Equivalent Separation

Note 1.4 Principles 
of consolidation
The financial statements include 
the assets and liabilities of Monash 
Health and its controlled entity as a 
whole as at the end of the financial 
year and the consolidated results 
and cash flows for the year.

Monash Health controls 
the following entity:

• Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd (trading as 
Jessie McPherson Private Hospital)

Details of the controlled entities 
are set out in Note 8.7. 

The parent entity is not 
disclosed separately in the notes 
to the financial statements.

An entity is considered to be a 
controlled entity where Monash 
Health has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an 
organisation so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities. In assessing control 

potential voting rights that are presently 
exercisable are taken into account.

Monash Health consolidate the 
results of its controlled entities from 
the date on which Monash Health 
gains control until the date Monash 
Health ceases to have control. Where 
dissimilar accounting policies are 
adopted by entities and their effect is 
considered material, adjustments are 
made to ensure consistent policies are 
adopted in these financial statements.

Transactions between 
segments within Monash Health 
have been eliminated to reflect 
the extent of Monash Health’s 
operations as a group. 

Note 1.5 Key accounting 
estimates and judgements
Management make estimates 
and judgements when preparing 
the financial statements.

These estimates and judgements 
are based on historical knowledge and 

best available current information and 
assume any reasonable expectation of 
future events. Actual results may differ.

Revisions to key estimates 
are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised 
and also in future periods that 
are affected by the revision.

The accounting policies, significant 
management judgements and 
estimates used and any changes 
thereto, are identified at the beginning 
of each section where applicable 
and are disclosed in further detail 
throughout the accounting policies.

Note 1.6 Accounting standards 
issued but not yet effective
An assessment of accounting 
standards and interpretations issued by 
the AASB that are not yet mandatorily 
applicable to Monash Health and 
their potential impact when adopted 
in future periods is outlined below: 

Standard Adoption Date Impact

AASB 17: Insurance Contracts Reporting periods on or after  
1 January 2023

Adoption of this standard is not 
expected to have a material impact.

AASB 2020-1: Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-Current

Reporting periods on or after  
1 January 2022.

Adoption of this standard is not 
expected to have a material impact.

AASB 2020-3: Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards 
– Annual Improvements 2018-
2020 and Other Amendments

Reporting periods on or after  
1 January 2022.

Adoption of this standard is not 
expected to have a material impact.

AASB 2020-8: Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Interest Rate 
Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

Reporting periods on or after  
1 January 2021.

Adoption of this standard is not 
expected to have a material impact.
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There are no other accounting 
standards and interpretations 
issued by the AASB that are not 
yet mandatorily applicable to 
Monash Health in future periods.

Note 1.7 Goods and 
Services Tax (GST)
Income, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of 
associated GST, unless the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the 
Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In this 
case the GST payable is recognised 
as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are 
stated inclusive of the amount of 
GST receivable or payable. The 
net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the ATO is 
included with other receivables or 
payables in the Balance Sheet. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross 
basis. The GST components of cash 
flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable 
from, or payable to the ATO, are 
presented as operating cash flow.

Commitments and contingent 
assets and liabilities are 
presented on a gross basis.

Note 1.8 Reporting Entity 
The financial statements include all the 
controlled activities of Monash Health. 

Its principal address is:  
246 Clayton Road, 
Clayton, Victoria 3168

A description of the nature of Monash 
Health’s operations and its principal 
activities is included in the report 
of operations, which does not form 
part of these financial statements.

Note 2: Funding delivery 
of our services 
Monash Health’s overall objective is 
to deliver programs and services that 
support and enhance the wellbeing 
of its patients. Monash Health is 
predominantly funded by accrual 
based grant funding for the provision 
of outputs and also receives income 
from the supply of services.

Structure

• 2.1 Revenue and Income 
from Transactions

• 2.2 Fair value of assets and 
services received free of charge 
or for nominal consideration

Revenue recognised to fund the 
delivery of our services increased 
during the financial year which 
was partially attributable to the 
COVID-19 Coronavirus pandemic.

Activity Based Funding was lower 
than the level of activity agreed 
in the Statement of Priorities, 
which couldn’t be delivered due 
to reductions in the number of 
patients being treated at various 
times throughout the financial year.  

This was offset by funding provided 

by the Department of Health to 
compensate for reductions in revenue 
and to cover certain direct and 
indirect COVID-19 related costs. 

Funding provided included:

• COVID-19 grants to fund the 
incremental impacts of COVID-19, 
including vaccination costs.

• State repurpose grants to fund the 
shortfall from activity based funding 
agreed in the Statement of Priorities. 

• Sustainability funding for 
operational costs. 

• Additional elective surgery funding 
for the elective surgery blitz coming 
out of earlier COVID-19 lockdowns

• Local public health unit (LPHU) 
funding for the LPHU program 
costs including contact tracing 
and case management

• Better @ home funding 
for the program costs

• Mental health capacity funding 
for expanded patient capacity

Key judgements and estimates
This section contains the following 
key judgements and estimates:

Key judgements and estimates Description

Identifying performance obligations Monash Health applies significant judgment when reviewing the terms and conditions of funding  
agreements and contracts to determine whether they contain sufficiently specific and enforceable  
performance obligations. If this criteria is met, the contract/funding agreement is treated as  
a contract with a customer, requiring Monash Health to recognise revenue as or when Monash  
Health transfers promised goods or services to customers. 

If this criteria is not met, funding is recognised immediately in the net result from operations.

Determining timing of 
revenue recognition 

Monash Health applies significant judgement to determine when a performance obligation has  
been satisfied and the transaction price that is to be allocated to each performance obligation.  
A performance obligation is either satisfied at a point in time or over time.

Determining time of capital 
grant income recognition

Monash Health applies significant judgement to determine when its obligation to construct an  
asset is satisfied. Costs incurred is used to measure Monash Health’s progress as this is deemed  
to be the most accurate reflection of the stage of completion.
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Note 2.1: Revenue and income from Transactions Consolidated  
2021 
$'000

Consolidated  
2020 
$'000

Government grants (State) - operating  1,487,098  1,407,913 

Government grants (Commonwealth) - operating  126,022  120,378 

Patient and resident fees  43,326  36,597 

Private practice fees  9,650  10,140 

Commercial activitiesi  146,431  121,954 

Total revenue from operating activities  1,812,527  1,696,983 

Government grants (State) - operating  460,701  346,927 

Government grants (Commonwealth) - operating  7,125  6,601 

Government grants (State) - capital  308,176  139,903 

Other capital purpose income  32,730  38,112 

Capital donations  5,325  5,224 

Assets received free of charge  42,975  3,539 

Other income from operating activities  48,586  56,537 

Total income from operating activities  905,617  596,843 

Total revenue and income from operating activities  2,718,144  2,293,826 

Income from other sources

Other interest 1,060 2,055 

Total income from non-operating activities 1,060 2,055 

Total revenue and income from transactions 2,719,204 2,295,881 

i. Commercial activities represent business activities which Monash Health enters into to support its operations

How we recognise revenue 
and income from transactions

Government Grants
To recognise revenue, Monash Health 
assesses whether there is a contract 
that is enforceable and has sufficiently 
specific performance obligations in 
accordance with AASB 15: Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers.

When both these conditions 
are satisfied, Monash Health:

• Identifies each performance 
obligation relating to the revenue

• recognises a contract liability for its 
obligations under the agreement

• recognises revenue as it satisfied 
its performance obligations, 
at the time or over time when 
services are rendered.

Where the contract is not 
enforceable and/or does not have 
sufficiently specific performance 
obligations, in accordance with 
AASB 1058 – Income for not-for-
profit entities, Monash Health:

• recognises the asset received in 
accordance with the recognition 
requirements of other applicable 
Accounting Standards (for 
example, AASB 9, AASB 16, 
AASB 116 and AASB 138)

• recognises related amounts 
(being contributions by owners, 
lease liabilities, financial 
instruments, provisions, revenue 
or contract liabilities from a 
contract with a customer) and

• recognises income immediately 
in profit or loss as the difference 
between the initial carrying amount 
of the asset and the related amount.

The types of government grants  
recognised under AASB 15: Revenue  
from Contracts with Customers includes:
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Government grant Performance obligation

Activity Based Funding (ABF) 
paid as Weighted Inlier Equivalent 
Separation (WIES) casemix

The performance obligations for ABF are the number and mix of patients admitted to hospital  
(defined as ‘casemix’) in accordance with the levels of activity agreed to, with the Department  
of Health in the annual Statement of Priorities. 

Revenue is recognised at a point in time, which is when a patient is discharged, in accordance 
with the WIES activity when an episode of care for an admitted patient is completed.

WIES activity is a cost weight that is adjusted for time spent in hospital, and represents a 
relative measure of resource use for each episode of care in a diagnosis related group.

National Weighted Activity 
Unit (NWAU) funding

The performance obligations for NWAU funding are recognised as levels of NWAU activity  
is satisfied and completed in accordance with levels of activity agreed to with the 
Department of Health (DH) in the annual Statement of Priorities (SoP). 

Revenue is recognised at a point in time, which is when a patient is discharged, in accordance 
with the NWAU activity when an episode of care for an admitted patient is completed.

The performance obligations have been selected as they align with funding conditions set out  
in the Policy and funding guidelines issued by the DH.

Pharmaceutical Benefits 
Scheme (PBS) Funding

The performance obligations for PBS funding are recognised as defined Pharmaceutical  
prescriptions or orders are processed that satisfy and are completed in accordance with the  
Commonwealth PBS guidelines.

Revenue is recognised at a point in time, which is when a patient prescription is processed and  
is in accordance with the criteria set out in the PBS regulations .

Capital grants
Where Monash Health receives a capital 
grant, it recognises a liability for the 
excess of the initial carrying amount of 
the financial asset received over any 
related amounts (being contributions 
by owners, lease liabilities, financial 
instruments, provisions, revenue or 
contract liabilities arising from a contract 
with a customer) recognised under other 
Australian Accounting Standards. 

Income is recognised progressively 
as the asset is constructed which 
aligns with Monash Health’s 
obligation to construct the asset. 
The progressive percentage of 
costs incurred is used to recognise 
income, as this most accurately 
reflects the stage of completion. 

Patient and resident fees
Patient and resident fees are charges 
that can be levied on patients for 
some services they receive. Patient 
and resident fees are recognised at a 
point in time when the performance 

obligation and the provision of services 
is satisfied, except where the patient and 
resident fees relate to accommodation 
charges. Accommodation charges are 
calculated daily and are recognised 
over time to reflect the period 
accommodation is provided.

Private Practice Fees
The performance obligations related to 
Private Practice Fees are the providing 
of Medical procedures and services. 
These performance obligations have 
been selected as they align with the 
terms and conditions agreed with the 
private provider. Revenue is recognised 
at the time the services are provided and 
include recoupments from the private 
practice for the use of hospital facilities.

Commercial activities
Revenue from commercial activities 
includes items such as car park 
income, property rental income and 
commercial laboratory medicine 
revenue. Commercial activity 

revenue is recognised at a point in 
time upon provision of the goods 
or service to the customer. 

Other Income
Other income includes recoveries for 
salaries and wages, non-property 
rental, external services provided and 
donations and bequests. If donations 
are for a specific purpose they may be 
appropriated to a surplus such as the 
specific restricted purpose surplus.

Interest Income
Interest revenue is recognised on a 
time proportionate basis that takes 
into account the effective yield of 
the financial asset, which allocates 
interest over the relevant period.



103Monash Health Annual Report. 2020-21

2.1 (b) Fair value of assets and services received free of charge  
or for nominal consideration 2021

$’000
2020
$’000

Assets received free of charge under State supply arrangements  42,975  3,539 

Total fair value of assets and services received free of charge or for nominal consideration  42,975  3,539 

How we recognise the fair 
value of assets and services 
received free of charge or 
for nominal consideration

Donations and bequests
Donations and bequests are generally 
recognised as income upon receipt 
(which is when Monash Health usually 
obtained control of the asset) as they 
do not contain sufficiently specific and 
enforceable performance obligations. 
Where sufficiently specific and 
enforceable performance obligations 
exist, revenue is recorded as and when 
the performance obligation is satisfied.

Personal protective equipment
In order to meet the State of Victoria’s 
health system supply needs during the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the purchasing 
of essential personal protective 
equipment (PPE) and other essential 
plant and equipment was centralised.

Generally, the State Supply 
Arrangement stipulates that Health 
Purchasing Victoria (trading as 
HealthShare Victoria) sources, secures 
and agrees terms for the purchase of 
PPE. The purchases are funded by the 
Department of Health, while Monash 
Health takes delivery and distributes 

an allocation of the products to health 
services. Monash Health receives 
these resources free of charge and 
recognises them as income. Significant 
judgement has been applied by 
Monash Health to conclude that 
the PPE inventory held by Monash 
Health is held by Monash Health as an 
agent for the Department of Health.

Contributions
Monash Health may receive assets 
for nil or nominal consideration to 
further its objectives. The assets are 
recognised at their fair value when 
Monash Health obtains control over 
the asset, irrespective of whether 
restrictions or conditions are imposed 
over the use of the contributions. 

On initial recognition of the asset, 
Monash Health recognises related 
amounts being contributions by 
owners, lease liabilities, financial 
instruments, provisions and revenue 
or contract liabilities arising from 
a contract with a customer. 

Monash Health recognises income 
immediately in the profit or loss as the 
difference between the initial fair value 
of the asset and the related amounts. 

The exception to this policy is when 
an asset is received from another 

government agency or department as 
a consequence of a restructuring of 
administrative arrangements, in which 
case the asset will be recognised 
at its carrying value in the financial 
statements of Monash Health as 
a capital contribution transfer.  

Voluntary Services 
Contributions by volunteers, in the 
form of services, are only recognised 
when fair value can be reliably 
measured, and the services would 
have been purchased if they had not 
been donated. Monash Health has 
considered the services provided by 
volunteers and has determined the 
value of volunteer services cannot 
be readily determined and therefore 
it has not recorded any income 
related to volunteer services.

Non-cash contributions from 
the Department of Health
The Department of Health makes 
some payments on behalf of 
Monash Health as follows: 

Supplier Description

Department of Health Department of Health covers the cash payments for major capital projects such as the  
Victorian Heart Hospital

Department of Health Long Service Leave (LSL) revenue is recognised upon finalisation of movements in LSL liability 
in line with the long service leave funding arrangements set out in the relevant Department  
of Health Hospital Circular.

Public Private Partnership 
(PPP) Consortium

The Department of Health purchases lease arrangements and services which are paid directly 
to the Public Private Partnership Consortium. To record this contribution, such payments are 
recognised as income with a matching depreciation and interest expense in the net result from 
transactions, in accordance with the nature and timing of the monthly or quarterly payment.

Such PPP’s are not accounted for as a Service Concession Arrangement as the public service  
criterion is not satisfied.
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Note 3: The cost of 
delivering our services
This section provides an account of the 
expenses incurred by Monash Health 
in delivering services and outputs. In 
Section 2, the funds that enable the 
provision of services were disclosed 
and in this note the cost associated 
with provision of services are recorded. 

Structure

• 3.1 Expenses from Transactions

• 3.2 Employee benefits in the  
Balance Sheet

• 3.3 Superannuation

• 3.4 Other Economic Flows

Expenses incurred to deliver our 
services increased during the financial 
year which was partially attributable to 
the COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic.

Additional costs were incurred to:

• establish facilities within Monash 
Health for the treatment of 
suspected and admitted COVID 
patients resulting in an increase 
in employee costs and additional 
equipment purchases.

• implement COVID safe 
practices throughout Monash 
Health including increased 
cleaning, increased security 
and consumption of personal 
protective equipment provided 
as resources free of charge.

• assist with COVID-19 case 
management, contact tracing and 
outbreak management contributing 
to an increase in employee costs.

• establish vaccination clinics to 
administer vaccines to staff and 
the community resulting in an 
increase in employee costs and 
additional equipment purchased.

Key judgements and estimates
This section contains the following 
key judgements and estimates:

Key judgements and estimates Description

Measuring and classifying 
employee benefit liabilities

Monash Health applies significant judgment when measuring and classifying its employee  
benefit liabilities.

Employee benefit liabilities are classified as a current liability if Monash Health does not have  
an unconditional right to defer payment beyond 12 months. Annual leave, accrued days off and  
long service leave entitlements (for staff who have exceeded the minimum vesting period) fall  
into this category. 

Employee benefit liabilities are classified as a non-current liability if Monash Health has a conditional  
right to defer payment beyond 12 months. Long service leave entitlements (for staff who have not  
yet exceeded the minimum vesting period) fall into this category. 

The health service also applies judgement to determine when it expects its employee entitlements  
to be paid. With reference to historical data, if the health service does not expect entitlements  
to be paid within 12 months, the entitlement is measured at its present value. All other entitlements  
are measured at their nominal value.
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Note 3.1: Expenses from Transactions Consolidated  
total 2021 

$'000

Consolidated  
total 2020 

$'000

Salaries and wages  1,600,131  1,435,148 

On-costs  188,742  173,396 

WorkCover premium  25,565  22,036 

Agency expenses  23,935  22,264 

Total employee expenses  1,838,372  1,652,844 

Drug supplies  119,224  112,444 

Medical and surgical supplies (including prostheses)  166,651  132,820 

Diagnostic and radiology supplies  24,901  22,331 

Other supplies and consumables  42,372  33,996 

Total supplies and consumables  353,148  301,592 

Finance costs  2,513  2,585 

Finance costs - PPP arrangements  4,662  5,399 

Total finance costs  7,175  7,984 

Public private partnership operating expenses  11,083  9,315 

Total PPP operating expenses  11,083  9,315 

Fuel, light, power and water  22,219  20,112 

Repairs and maintenance  22,537  24,459 

Medical indemnity insurance  28,566  28,470 

Expenses related to short term leases  650  1,486 

Expenses related to leases of low value assets  9,170  7,330 

Other administrative expenses  83,767  75,696 

Total other operating expenses  166,908  157,553 

Total operating expenses  2,376,687  2,129,288 

Depreciation and amortisation (refer note 4.3)  142,604  118,846 

Total depreciation and amortisation  142,604  118,846 

Expenditure for capital purposes  9,553  5,166 

Bad and doubtful debt expense  2,384  3,845 

Specific expense  5,107  1,049 

Total other non-operating expenses  17,044  10,060 

Total non-operating expenses  159,648  128,907 

Total expenses from transactions 2,536,334 2,258,195 
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How we recognise expenses 
from transactions

Expense recognition
Expenses are recognised as they 
are incurred and reported in the 
financial year to which they relate.

Employee expenses
Employee expenses include:

• Salaries and wages (including fringe 
benefits tax, leave entitlements, 
termination payments);

• On-costs;

• Agency expenses;

• Fee for service medical 
officer expenses;

• Work cover premium.

Supplies and consumables
Supplies and consumables - Supplies 
and services costs which are 
recognised as an expense in the 

reporting period in which they are 
incurred. The carrying amounts of 
any inventories held for distribution 
are expensed when distributed.

Finance costs 
Finance costs include:

• interest on long-term borrowings, 
interest expense is recognised in 
the period in which it is incurred

• amortisation of discounts or 
premiums relating to borrowings

• finance charges in respect 
of finance leases which are 
recognised in accordance 
with AASB 16 Leases.

Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses generally 
represent the day-to-day running 
costs incurred in normal operations 
and include such things as: 

• Fuel, light and power

• Repairs and maintenance

• Other administrative expenses

• Expenditure for capital purposes 
represents expenditure related 
to the purchase of assets that 
are below the capitalisation 
threshold of $1,000. 

The Department of Health also makes 
certain payments on behalf of Monash 
Health. These amounts have been 
brought to account as grants in 
determining the operating result for the 
year by recording them as revenue and 
also recording the related expense.

Non-operating expenses
Other non-operating expenses 
generally represent expenditure 
outside the normal operations such 
as depreciation and amortisation, and 
assets and services provided free of 
charge or for nominal consideration. 

Note 3.2: Employee benefits in the balance sheet

Current Provisions

Consolidated
2021
$’000

Consolidated
2020
$’000

Employee benefits

Accrued days off

Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months i 6,024 5,356 

Annual leave

Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months i 125,226 102,314 

Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months ii 21,232 17,503 

Long service leave

Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months i 24,803 23,822 

Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months ii 192,025 192,467 

369,311 341,462 

Provisions related to employee benefit on-costs

Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months i 16,491 13,838 

Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months ii 23,362 23,001 
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Note 3.2: Employee benefits in the balance sheet (continued) Consolidated
2021
$’000

Consolidated
2020
$’000

39,853 36,839 

Total current provisions 409,164 378,301 

Non-current provisions

Conditional Long Service Leave ii 74,822 83,060 

Provisions related to Employee Benefit On-Costs 8,193 9,095 

Total non-current provisions 83,015 92,155 

Total provisions 492,180 470,456 

i.  The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts.

ii. The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values.

(a) Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs

Current employee benefits and related on-costs

Consolidated
2021
$’000

Consolidated
2020
$’000

Unconditional long service leave entitlements 240,571 239,973 

Annual leave entitlements 162,596 132,744 

Accrued days off 6,024 5,356 

Non-current employee benefits and related on-costs

Conditional long service leave entitlements 83,015 92,155 

Total Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs 492,180 470,456 

(b) Movement in On-Costs Provision Consolidated
2021
$’000

Consolidated
2020
$’000

Balance at start of year 36,839 32,671 

Additional provisions recognised 8,333 6,881 

Unwinding of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate 305 -253

Reduction due to transfer out -5,624 -2,460

Balance at end of year 39,853 36,839 
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How we recognise 
employee benefits

Employee Benefit Recognition
Provision is made for benefits accruing 
to employees in respect of accrued 
days off, annual leave and long service 
leave for services rendered to the 
reporting date as an expense during 
the period the services are delivered.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when 
Monash Health has a present obligation, 
the future sacrifice of economic benefits 
is probable, and the amount of the 
provision can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as 
a liability is the best estimate 
of the consideration required 
to settle the present obligation 
at reporting date, taking into 
account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. 

Annual Leave and Accrued  
Days Off
Liabilities for annual leave and accrued 
days off are recognised in the provision 
for employee benefits as ‘current 
liabilities’ because Monash Health 
does not have an unconditional right 
to defer settlements of these liabilities.

Depending on the expectation of 
the timing of settlement, liabilities 

for annual leave and accrued 
days off are measured at:

• Nominal value – if Monash 
Health expects to wholly 
settle within 12 months; or

• Present value – if Monash Health 
does not expect to wholly 
settle within 12 months.

Long Service Leave
The liability for long service leave 
is recognised in the provision 
for employee benefits.

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements as 
a current liability even where Monash 
Health does not expect to settle the 
liability within 12 months because it 
will not have the unconditional right to 
defer the settlement of the entitlement 
should an employee take leave within 
12 months. An unconditional right 
arises after a qualifying period.

The components of this current 
LSL liability are measured at:

• Nominal value – if Monash 
Health expects to wholly 
settle within 12 months; or

• Present value – if Monash Health 
does not expect to wholly 
settle within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a 
non-current liability.  Any gain or loss 
following a revaluation of the present 
value of non-current LSL liability is 
recognised as a transaction, except 
to the extent that a gain or loss 
arises due to changes in estimations 
e.g. bond rate movements, inflation 
rate movements and changes in 
probability factors which are then 
recognised as other economic flows.

Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are payable 
when employment is terminated 
before the normal retirement date or 
when an employee decides to accept 
an offer of benefits in exchange for 
the termination of employment.

On-Costs Related to 
Employee Benefits
Provision for on-costs such as workers 
compensation and superannuation 
are recognised separately from 
provisions for employee benefits.

Note 3.3: Superannuation Paid Contribution 
for the Year

Contribution Outstanding
at Year End

Defined benefit plansi

Consolidated
2021
$’000

Consolidated
2020
$’000

Consolidated
2021
$’000

Consolidated
2020
$’000

State superannuation fund 439 475 33 39 

First State Super 2,128 2,358 362 392 

Unisuper 12 863 188 

Defined contribution plans

First State Super 48,790 47,892 9,076 8,678 

Hesta 50,117 45,495 9,538 8,662 

VicSuper and Other 16,363 10,654 3,458 2,341 

Total 117,849 107,737 22,467 20,300 

i. The basis for determining the level of contributions is determined by the various actuaries of the defined benefit superannuation plans.
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How we recognise 
superannuation
Employees of Monash Health are 
entitled to receive superannuation 
benefits and it contributes to both 
defined benefit and defined contribution 
plans. The defined benefit plan 
provides benefits based on years of 
service and final average salary.

Defined Benefit 
Superannuation Plans
The amount charged to the 
Comprehensive Operating Statement 
in respect of defined benefit 
superannuation plans represents the 
contributions made by Monash Health 
to the superannuation plans in respect 
of the services of current Monash 
Health’s staff during the reporting 
period. Superannuation contributions 

are made to the plans based on 
the relevant rules of each plan and 
are based upon actuarial advice.

Monash Health does not recognise 
any unfunded defined benefit liability in 
respect of the plans because Monash 
Health has no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay future benefits 
relating to its employees, its only 
obligation is to pay superannuation 
contributions as they fall due. 
The Department of Treasury and 
Finance discloses the State’s defined 
benefits liabilities in its disclosure 
for administered items.  However 
superannuation contributions paid or 
payable for the reporting period are 
included as part of employee benefits 
in the Comprehensive Operating 
Statement of Monash Health. 

The name, details and amounts 

that have been expensed in relation to 
the major employee superannuation 
funds and contributions made by 
Monash Health are disclosed above.

Defined Contribution 
Superannuation Plans
In relation to defined contribution (i.e. 
accumulation) superannuation plans, 
the associated expense is simply the 
employer contributions that are paid or 
payable in respect of employees who 
are members of these plans during 
the reporting period. Contributions to 
defined contribution superannuation 
plans are expensed when incurred.

The name, details and amounts 
that have been expensed in relation to 
the major employee superannuation 
funds and contributions made by 
Monash Health are disclosed above. 

Note 3.4: Other Economic Flows Consolidated
2021
$’000

Consolidated
2020
$’000

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property plant and equipment 675 589 

Total net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets 675 589 

Share of net profits of associates 197 117 

Total share of other economic flows from joint operations 197 117 

Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service liability 36,689 -12,611

Total other losses from other economic flows 36,689 -12,611

Total other losses from economic flows 37,561 -11,904

How we recognise other 
economic flows
Other economic flows are changes 
in the volume or value of an asset 
or liability that do not result from 
transactions. Other gains/(losses) 
from other economic flows include the 
gains or losses from the revaluation of 
the present value of the long service 
leave liability due to changes in the 
bond interest rates, and the share 
of net profits from associates.

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial 
assets includes any net gain/loss) 
recognised at the date of disposal 
of the non-financial asset.

Note 4: Key Assets to 
support service delivery
Monash Health controls infrastructure 
and other investments that are 
utilised in fulfilling its objectives and 
conducting its activities. They represent 
the key resources that have been 
entrusted to Monash Health to be 
utilised for delivery of those outputs.

Structure

• 4.1 Property, plant & equipment

• 4.2 Intangible assets 

• 4.3 Depreciation and amortisation 

Assets used to support the delivery of 
our services during the financial year 
were not materially impacted by the 
COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic

Key judgements and estimates
This section contains the following 
key judgements and estimates: 
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Key judgements and estimates Description

Measuring fair value of property, 
plant and equipment and 
investment properties

Monash Health obtains independent valuations for its non-current assets at least once every five years.

If an independent valuation has not been undertaken at balance date, the health service estimates  
possible changes in fair value since the date of the last independent valuation with reference  
to Valuer-General of Victoria indices.

Managerial adjustments are recorded if the assessment concludes a material change in fair value  
has occurred. Where exceptionally large movements are identified, an interim independent  
valuation is undertaken.

Estimating useful life and 
residual value of property, 
plant and equipment

Monash Health assigns an estimated useful life to each item of property, plant and equipment,  
whilst also estimating the residual value of the asset, if any, at the end of the useful life.  
This is used to calculate depreciation of the asset.

The health service reviews the useful life, residual value and depreciation rates of all assets at 
the end of each financial year and where necessary, records a change in accounting estimate. 

Estimating useful life of 
right-of-use assets

The useful life of each right-of-use asset is typically the respective lease term, except where the 
health service is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option contained within the lease  
(if any), in which case the useful life reverts to the estimated useful life of the underlying asset.

Monash Health applies significant judgement to determine whether or not it is reasonably certain  
to exercise such purchase options.

Estimating the useful life 
of intangible assets

Monash Health assigns an estimated useful life to each intangible asset with a finite useful life,  
which is used to calculate amortisation of the asset.

Identifying indicators of impairment At the end of each year, Monash Health assesses impairment by evaluating the conditions 
and events specific to the health service that may be indicative of impairment triggers. 
Where an indication exists, the health service tests the asset for impairment.

The health service considers a range of information when 
performing its assessment, including considering:

• If an asset’s value has declined more than expected based on normal use

• If a significant change in technological, market, economic or legal environment 
which adversely impacts the way the health service uses an asset

• If an asset is obsolete or damaged

• If the asset has become idle or if there are plans to discontinue 
or dispose of the asset before the end of its useful life

• If the performance of the asset is or will be worse than initially expected.

Where an impairment trigger exists, the health services applies significant 
judgement and estimate to determine the recoverable amount of the asset.
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Note 4.1: Property, plant and equipment 

(a): Gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation 

Consolidated  
2021 
$'000

Consolidated  
2020 
$'000

Land

 - Land at fair value 290,803 258,548 

Total land 290,803 258,548 

Buildings

 - Buildings at fair value 1,190,954 1,190,954 

      Less accumulated depreciation -150,247 -75,226

Sub-total buildings at fair value 1,040,707 1,115,728 

 - Buildings at cost  163,288  129,282 

      Less accumulated depreciation  -4,466 -1,126

Sub-total buildings at cost  158,822  128,156 

Building work in progress at cost  277,954  95,303 

Total buildings  1,477,483 1,339,187

Plant and equipment

 - Plant and equipment at fair value 74,503 66,027 

      Less accumulated depreciation 39,571 -33,852

Sub-total plant and equipment 34,932 32,176 

Motor vehicles

 - Motor vehicles at fair value 1,588 1,588 

      Less accumulated depreciation -1,588 -1,588

Sub-total motor vehicles - -

Medical equipment

 - Medical equipment at fair value 227,882 188,049 

      Less accumulated depreciation 125,724 -113,320

Sub-total medical equipment 102,158 74,729 

Computers and communication equipment

 - Computers and communication equipment at fair value 34,888 26,956 

      Less accumulated depreciation -24,018 -20,644

Sub-total computers and communication equipment 10,869 6,312 

Furniture and fittings

 - Furniture and fittings at fair value 62,731 46,571 

      Less accumulated depreciation -12,462 -5,930

Sub-total furniture and fittings 50,270 40,641 

Cultural assets

 - Cultural assets at fair value 2,792 2,792 

Sub-total cultural assets 2,792 2,792 
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Note 4.1 (a): Gross carrying amount and accumulated  
depreciation (continued)

Consolidated  
2021 
$'000

Consolidated  
2020 
$'000

Other assets under construction at cost  456  3,643 

Land - ROU at fair value 5,472 5,472 

      Less accumulated depreciation -301 -

Sub-total: ROU land at fair value 5,171 5,472 

 PPP (ROU) buildings at fair value 159,533 159,533 

      Less accumulated depreciation -14,567 -7,293

Sub-total: PPP - ROU buildings at fair value 144,966 152,240 

PPP ROU improvements at valuation 893 893 

      Less accumulated depreciation -839 -712

Sub-total: PPP - ROU improvements at valuation  54  182 

Buildings - ROU at fair value 42,080 38,593 

     Less accumulated depreciation -7,960 -3,577

Sub-total: - ROU buildings at fair value 34,120 35,015 

Leasehold improvements ROU at fair value 1,381 273 

      Less accumulated depreciation -35 -12

Sub-total: - ROU leasehold improvements at fair value 1,347 261 

Plant, equipment, motor vehicles, medical equipment ROU at fair value  14,311  15,487 

      Less accumulated depreciation  -10,801 -12,848

Sub-total: - ROU plant, equipment, motor vehicles, medical equipment at fair value  3,510  2,640 

Total Right of Use Assets 189,168 195,809 

Total Property, Plant and Equipment  2,158,932 1,953,837

How we recognise property, 
plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment 
are tangible items that are used 
by Monash Health in the supply of 
goods or services for rental to others 
or for administration purposes and 
are expected to be used during 
more than one financial year.

Initial Recognition
Items of property, plant and equipment 
(excluding right-of-use assets) are 
initially measured at cost. Where an 

asset is acquired for no or nominal 
cost, being far below the fair value of 
the asset, the deemed cost is its fair 
value at the date of acquisition. Assets 
transferred as part of an amalgamation/
machinery of government change are 
transferred at their carrying amounts.

The cost of constructed non-
financial physical assets includes 
the cost of all materials used in 
construction and direct labour on the 
project and an appropriate proportion 
of variable and fixed overheads.

The cost of a leasehold 

improvement is capitalised as an 
asset and depreciated over the 
shorter of the remaining term of 
the lease or the estimated useful 
life of the improvements.

Subsequent measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment 
(excluding right-of-use assets) are 
subsequently measured at fair value 
less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses where applicable. 

Fair value is determined with 
reference to the asset’s highest 
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and best use (considering legal or 
physical restrictions imposed on 
the asset, public announcements or 
commitments made in relation to the 
intended use of the asset). Further 
information regarding fair value 
measurement is disclosed below.

Revaluation
Fair value is based on periodic 
valuations by independent valuers, 
which normally occur once every 
five years, based upon the asset’s 
Government Purpose Classification, 
but may occur more frequently if fair 
value assessments indicate a material 
change in fair value has occurred. 

Where an independent valuation 
has not been undertaken at balance 
date, Monash Health perform a 
managerial assessment to estimate 
possible changes in fair value of 
land and buildings since the date 
of the last independent valuation 
with reference to Valuer-General 
of Victoria (VGV) indices.

An adjustment is recognised if 
the assessment concludes that the 
fair value of land and buildings has 
changed by 10% or more since 
the last revaluation (whether that 
be the most recent independent 
valuation or managerial valuation). 
Any estimated change in fair value of 
less than 10% is deemed immaterial 
to the financial statements and no 
adjustment is recorded. Where the 
assessment indicates there has been 
an exceptionally material movement 
in the fair value of land and buildings 
since the last independent valuation, 
being equal to or in excess of 40%, 
Monash Health would obtain an interim 
independent valuation prior to the next 
scheduled independent valuation.

An independent valuation of 
Monash Health’s property, plant and 
equipment was performed by the 
VGV on 30 June 2019. The valuation, 
which complies with Australian 
Valuation Standards, was determined 
by reference to the amount for which 

assets could be exchanged between 
knowledgeable willing parties in 
an arm’s length transaction. The 
managerial assessment performed at 
30 June 2021 indicated an overall:

• increase in fair value of 
land of 12.5% ($32.2m)

• increase in fair value of 
buildings of 3.8%

As the cumulative movement was 
greater than 10% for land since 
the last revaluation a managerial 
revaluation adjustment was required 
as at 30 June 2021. No managerial 
revaluation was required for Buildings 
as the accumulated movement was 
less than 10% for this asset class.

Revaluation increases (increments) 
arise when an asset’s fair value 
exceeds its carrying amount. In 
comparison, revaluation decreases 
(decrements) arise when an asset’s 
fair value is less than its carrying 
amount. Revaluation increments 
and revaluation decrements relating 
to individual assets within an asset 
class are offset against one another 
within that class but are not offset in 
respect of assets in different classes.

Revaluation increments are 
recognised in ‘Other Comprehensive 
Income’ and are credited directly 
to the asset revaluation reserve 
except that, to the extent that an 
increment reverses a revaluation 
decrement in respect of that same 
class of asset previously recognised 
as an expense in net result, in which 
case the increment is recognised 
as income in the net result.

Revaluation decrements are 
recognised in ‘Other Comprehensive 
Income’ to the extent that a 
credit balance exists in the asset 
revaluation reserve in respect 
of the same class of property, 
plant and equipment. Otherwise, 
the decrement is recognised as 
an expense in the net result.

The revaluation reserve included 
in equity in respect of an item of 
property, plant and equipment may be 
transferred directly to retained earnings 
when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment
At the end of each financial year, 
Monash Health assesses if there 
is any indication that an item of 
property, plant and equipment may 
be impaired by considering internal 
and external sources of information. 
If an indication exists, Monash Health 
estimates the recoverable amount 
of the asset. Where the carrying 
amount of the asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, an impairment 
loss is recognised. An impairment 
loss of a revalued asset is treated as a 
revaluation decrease as noted above.

Monash Health has concluded 
that the recoverable amount of 
property, plant and equipment 
which are regularly revalued is 
expected to be materially consistent 
with the current fair value. As 
such, there were no indications 
of property, plant and equipment 
being impaired at balance date.

How we recognise 
right-of-use assets
Where Monash Health enters a 
contract, which provides the health 
service with the right to control the 
use of an identified asset for a period 
of time in exchange for payment, 
this contract is considered a lease.

Unless the lease is considered a 
short-term lease or a lease of a low-
value asset (refer to Note 6.1 for further 
information), the contract gives rise to 
a right-of-use asset and corresponding 
lease liability. Monash Health presents 
its right-of-use assets as part of 
property, plant and equipment as if the 
asset was owned by the health service.

Right-of-use assets and their 
respective lease terms include: 

Class of right-of-use asset Lease term

Leased land 30 to 39 years

Leased buildings 1 to 35 years

Leased plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and vehicles 1 to 5 years



Monash Health Annual Report. 2020-21114

Financial Statements

Presentation of right-of-use assets 
Monash Health presents right-of-use 
assets as ‘property plant equipment’.

Initial recognition
When a contract is entered into, 
Monash Health assesses if the 
contract contains or is a lease. If 
a lease is present, a right-of-use 
asset and corresponding lease 
liability is recognised. The definition 
and recognition criteria of a lease 
is disclosed at Note 6.1. The right-
of-use asset is initially measured 
at cost and comprises the initial 
measurement of the corresponding 
lease liability, adjusted for:

• any lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date 

• any initial direct costs incurred and

• an estimate of costs to dismantle 
and remove the underlying asset 
or to restore the underlying asset 
or the site on which it is located, 
less any lease incentive received. 

Monash Health holds lease agreements 
which contain significantly below-
market terms and conditions, which 

are principally to enable Monash 
Health to further its objectives. Monash 
Health has applied temporary relief and 
continues to measure those right-of-
use asset at cost. Refer to Note 6.1 for 
further information regarding the nature 
and terms of the concessional lease 
and Monash Health’s dependency 
on such lease arrangements.

Subsequent measurement
Right-of-use assets are subsequently 
measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses where applicable. 
Right-of-use assets are also adjusted 
for certain remeasurements of the 
lease liability (for example, when a 
variable lease payment based on an 
index or rate becomes effective).

Impairment
At the end of each financial year, 
Monash Health assesses if there 
is any indication that a right-of-use 
asset may be impaired by considering 
internal and external sources of 
information. If an indication exists, 
Monash Health estimates the 
recoverable amount of the asset. 
Where the carrying amount of the 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 

an impairment loss is recognised.
Monash Health performed 

an impairment assessment and 
noted there were no indications 
of its right-of-use assets being 
impaired at balance date.

Included in Leased Buildings at 
Fair Value is Casey Hospital. Casey 
Hospital commenced operation 
during the year ended 30 June 
2005. Construction and fit out of 
Casey Hospital was funded as a 
Public Private Partnership under 
the Project Agreement between 
the State of Victoria and Plenary 
Health Pty Ltd (formerly Progress 
Health Pty Ltd). Monash Health is 
responsible for operating Casey 
Hospital and has recognised the 
leased asset and associated interest 
bearing liabilities (note 6.1). The 
State of Victoria is obligated to fund 
quarterly service payments due to the 
Project Agreement for the life of that 
agreement, a period of up to 25 years.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, 
the Casey Hospital Expansion Project 
was completed. The project is funded 
as a Public Private Partnership under a 
Project arrangement between the State 
of Victoria and Plenary Health Pty Ltd. 

Note 4.1 (b): Property, Plant and Equipment – Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of asset

Consolidated
Land 
$’000

Buildings 
$’000

Plant & 
Equipment 

$’000

Medical 
Equipment 

$’000

Computers 
& Comm 

Equipment 
$’000

Furniture 
& Fittings 

$’000

Cultural 
Assets 
$’0000

Right of 
Use Assets 

$’000

Assets 
Under 

Construction 
$’000

Motor 
Vehicles 

$’000
Total 
$’000

Balance at  
1 July 2019 233,489 1,354,122 34,261 64,547 2,356 8,516 2,793 161,219 1,363 - 1,907,297 

Recognition of ROU 
assets on initial 
application of AASB 16 44,632

Additions  - 112,983 2,935 8,763 -822 496  - 2,293 3,519  - 130,166

Disposals  - - -21 -81  - -7  - -  -  - -109

Revaluation 
increments/ 
(decrements) 25,059 -  -  -  -  - -  -  - 25,059

Net Transfers 
between classes -51,859 362 15,579 7,478 33,702  -  165 -1,239  - 4,189

Depreciation 
(refer Note 4.3)  - -76,060 -5,362 -14,077 -2,700 -2,065  - -12,500  - - -112,763

Balance at  
1 July 2020 258,548 1,339,186 32,175 74,728 6,313 40,642 2,793 195,810 3,644  - 1,953,838

Additions 237,353 5,988 38,212 8,239 6,906  - 5,874  481  - 303,052

Disposals -31 -77 - -2  -  -  - -110

Revaluation 
increments/ 
(decrements)  32,256  -  -  - 32,256

Net transfers 
between classes  - -20,695 3,164 3,510 890 9,264  - 1,047  -3,668  - -6,487

Depreciation 
(refer Note 4.3) -78,361 -6,364 -14,217 -4,572 -6,538  - -13,563  -1  - -123,616

Balance at  
30 June 2021 290,803 1,477,483 34,932 102,158 10,869 50,270 2,793 189,168 456 - 2,158,932
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Note 4.1 (c): Property, Plant and Equipment – Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets
Fair value measurement at end of reporting period using:

Balance at 30 June 2021

Consolidated 
Carrying 
Amount 

$'000
Level 1 i 

$'000
Level 2 i 

$'000
Level 3 i 

$'000

Land at fair value

 - Non-specialised land 16,579 - 16,579 -

 - Specialised land 274,224 - 274,224

Total land at fair value 290,803 - 16,579 274,224

Buildings at fair value

 - Non-specialised building 2,468 - 2,468

 - Specialised buildings 1,038,240 - 1,038,240 

Total building at fair value 1,040,707 - 2,468 1,038,240 

Plant and equipment at fair value 34,932 - 34,932 

Medical equipment at fair value 102,157 - 102,157 

Computers and communication equipment  
at fair value 10,870 - 10,870 

Furniture and fittings at fair value 50,269 - 50,269 

Motor vehicles at fair value - - -

Cultural assets at fair value 2,793 - 2,793

Total other property, plant and equipment 1,532,531 - 21,839 1,510,692 

i. classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.
 There have been no transfers between levels during the current year. 

Fair value measurement at end of reporting period using:

Balance at 30 June 2020

Consolidated 
Carrying Amount 

$'000
Level 1 i 

$'000
Level 2 i 

$'000
Level 3 i 

$'000

Land at fair value

 - Non-specialised land 14,715 - 14,715 -

 - Specialised land 243,833 - - 243,833

Total land at fair value 258,548 - 14,715 243,833

Buildings at fair value

 - Non-specialised building 2,685 - 2,685 -

 - Specialised buildings 1,113,043 - - 1,113,043

Total building at fair value 1,115,728 - 2,685 1,113,043

Plant and equipment at fair value 32,175 - - 32,175

Medical equipment at fair value 74,728 - - 74,728

Computers and communication equipment  
at fair value 6,313 - - 6,313

Furniture and fittings at fair value 40,640 - - 40,640

Motor vehicles at fair value -

Cultural assets at fair value 2,793 - 2,793

Total other property, plant and equipment 1,536,889 - 20,193 1,515,234 

i. classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.
 There were no transfers between levels during the prior year. 
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Note 4.1 (d): Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Value Measurementi

Land Buildings
Plant &  

Equipment
Motor  

Vehicles
Medical 

Equipment

Computer  
& Comm  

Equipment
Furniture & 

Fittings

Consolidated $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 30 June 2019 220,746 1,187,532 34,261 - 64,546 2,357 8,515 

Additions/(disposals) - - 3,276 24,260 6,656 34,191 

Gains/(losses) recognised 

in net result

- Depreciation and amortisation -74,490 -5,362 -14,077 -2,700 -2,065

Reclassification on valuation

Reclassification in/(out) level 3

- Revaluation 23,087 - - - - - -

Balance at 30 June 2020 243,833 1,113,042 32,175 - 74,727 6,313 40,641 

Additions/(disposals) 9,121 41,646 9,129 16,167 

Gains/(losses) recognised 

in net result

- Depreciation and amortisation -74,803 -6,364 -14,217 -4,572 -6,538

Reclassification on valuation

Reclassification in/(out) level 3

- Revaluation 30,392 

Balance at 30 June 2021 274,224 1,038,240 34,932 - 102,156 10,871 50,270 

i. Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, refer Note 4.1(c).

Note 4.1 (e): Property, Plant and Equipment (Fair value determination)

Asset class Likely valuation approach Significant inputs (Level 3 only)(a) 

Non-specialised land Market approach Not applicable

Specialised land Market approach Community Service Obligations Adjustments(a)

Non-specialised buildings Market approach Not applicable

Specialised buildings Depreciated replacement cost approach

- Cost per square metre

- Useful life

Vehicles Depreciated replacement cost approach

- Cost per unit

- Useful life

Plant and equipment Depreciated replacement cost approach

- Cost per unit

- Useful life

Medical equipment Depreciated replacement cost approach

- Cost per unit

- Useful life

Computers and communication equipment Depreciated replacement cost approach

- Cost per unit

- Useful life

Furniture and fittings Depreciated replacement cost approach

- Cost per unit

- Useful life

Cultural assets Market approach Not applicable

(a)  A community Service Obligation (CSO) of 20% was applied to the health services specialised land Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.
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How we measure fair value
Fair value is the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. 

For the purpose of fair value 
disclosures, Monash Health has 
determined classes of assets on the 
basis of the nature, characteristics 
and risks of the asset and the level 
of the fair value hierarchy. In addition, 
Monash Health determines whether 
transfers have occurred between 
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole) 
at the end of each reporting period.

The Valuer-General Victoria 
(VGV) is Monash Health’s 
independent valuation agency.

The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis.

Valuation hierarchy
In determining fair values a number 
of inputs are used. To increase 
consistency and comparability in 
the financial statements, these 
inputs are categorised into three 
levels also known as the fair value 
hierarchy. The levels are as follows: 

• Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) 
market prices in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities; 

• Level 2 – valuation techniques 
for which the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly 
or indirectly observable; and 

• Level 3 – valuation techniques 
for which the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable. 

Identifying unobservable inputs 
(level 3) fair value measurements
Level 3 fair value inputs are 
unobservable valuation inputs for 
an asset or liability. These inputs 
require significant judgement and 

assumptions in deriving fair value for 
both financial and non-financial assets.

Unobservable inputs are used 
to measure fair value to the extent 
that relevant observable inputs are 
not available, thereby allowing for 
situations in which there is little, if any, 
market activity for the asset or liability 
at the measurement date. However, 
the fair value measurement objective 
remains the same i.e: an exit price 
at the measurement date from the 
perspective of a market participant 
that holds the asset or owes the 
liability. Therefore, unobservable 
inputs shall reflect the assumptions 
that market participants would use 
when pricing the asset or liability 
including assumptions about risk.

Consideration of highest 
and best use (HBU) for non-
financial physical assets
Judgements about highest and 
best use must take into account 
the characteristics of the assets 
concerned, including restrictions 
on the use and disposal of assets 
arising from the asset’s physical 
nature and any applicable legislative/
contractual arrangements.

In accordance with paragraph AASB 
13 Fair Value Measurement paragraph 
29, Monash Health has assumed the 
current use of a non-financial physical 
asset is its HBU unless market or 
other factors suggest that a different 
use by market participants would 
maximise the value of the asset. 
Theoretical opportunities that may 
be available in relation to the asset(s) 
are not taken into account until it is 
virtually certain that any restrictions 
will no longer apply. Therefore, unless 
otherwise disclosed, the current use 
of these non-financial physical assets 
will be their highest and best use.

Non-Specialised Land and 
Non-Specialised Buildings 
Non-specialised land and non-
specialised buildings are valued 
using the market approach. Under 
this valuation method, the assets 
are compared to recent comparable 
sales or sales of comparable assets 

which are considered to have nominal 
or no added improvement value.

For non-specialised land and non-
specialised buildings, an independent 
valuation was performed by the 
Valuer-General Victoria to determine 
the fair value using the market 
approach. Valuation of the assets was 
determined by analysing comparable 
sales and allowing for share, size, 
topography, location and other 
relevant factors specific to the asset 
being valued. An appropriate rate per 
square metre has been applied to 
the subject asset. The effective date 
of the valuation is 30 June 2019.

Specialised Land and 
Specialised Buildings
Specialised land includes Crown 
Land which is measured at fair value 
with regard to the property’s highest 
and best use after due consideration 
is made for any legal or physical 
restrictions imposed on the asset, 
public announcements or commitments 
made in relation to the intended use 
of the asset. Theoretical opportunities 
that may be available in relation to the 
assets are not taken into account until 
it is virtually certain that any restrictions 
will no longer apply. Therefore, unless 
otherwise disclosed, the current use 
of these non-financial physical assets 
will be their highest and best use.

During the reporting period, Monash 
Health held Crown Land. The nature 
of this asset means that there are 
certain limitations and restrictions 
imposed on its use and/or disposal 
that may impact their fair value.

The market approach is also used 
for specialised land and specialised 
buildings although it is adjusted for 
the community service obligation 
(CSO) to reflect the specialised 
nature of the assets being valued. 
Specialised assets contain significant, 
unobservable adjustments; therefore 
these assets are classified as 
Level 3 under the market based 
direct comparison approach.

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of 
the valuer’s assessment of the impact 
of restrictions associated with an 
asset to the extent that is also equally 
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applicable to market participants. This 
approach is in light of the highest and 
best use consideration required for 
fair value measurement and takes into 
account the use of the asset that is 
physically possible, legally permissible 
and financially feasible. As adjustments 
of CSO are considered as significant 
unobservable inputs, specialised land 
would be classified as Level 3 assets. 

For Monash Health, the depreciated 
replacement cost method is used 
for the majority of specialised 
buildings, adjusting for the associated 
depreciation. As depreciation 
adjustments are considered as 
significant and unobservable 
inputs in nature, specialised 
buildings are classified as Level 
3 for fair value measurements.

An independent valuation of 
Monash Health’s specialised land 
and specialised buildings was 

performed by the Valuer-General 
Victoria. The valuation was performed 
using the market approach adjusted 
for CSO. The effective date of 
the valuation is 30 June 2019.

Vehicles
Monash Health acquires new vehicles 
and at times disposes of them before 
completion of their economic life. 
The process of acquisition, use and 
disposal in the market is managed 
by Monash Health who set relevant 
depreciation rates during use to reflect 
the consumption of the vehicles. 
As a result, the fair value of vehicles 
does not differ materially from the 
carrying amount (depreciated cost).

Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment (including 
medical equipment, computers and 
communication equipment and furniture 

and fittings) are held at carrying amount 
(depreciated cost). When plant and 
equipment is specialised in use, such 
that it is rarely sold other than as part 
of a going concern, the depreciated 
replacement cost is used to estimate 
the fair value. Unless there is market 
evidence that current replacement 
costs are significantly different from the 
original acquisition cost, it is considered 
unlikely that depreciated replacement 
cost will be materially different from 
the existing carrying amount. 

There were no changes in 
valuation techniques throughout 
the period to 30 June 2021. 

For all assets measured at fair 
value, the current use is considered 
the highest and best use.

Note 4.1 (f): Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus

Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus

Consolidated
2021
$’000

Consolidated
2020
$’000

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 1,051,226 1,026,168

Transfer to accumulated deficits

 - Land

Revaluation increment

 - Land 4.1 (b) 32,256 25,059

 - Buildings 4.1 (b) - -

 - Leased building 4.1 (b) - -

Balance at the end of the reporting period* 1,083,482 1,051,227

*Represented by:

 - Land  233,115  200,861 

 - Buildings  778,924  778,924 

 - Leased building  70,678  70,678 

 - Cultural assets  447  447 

 - Motor vehicles  317  317 

 1,083,482  1,051,227 
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Note 4.2: Intangible Assets

Note 4.2 (a) Intangible assets - Gross carrying amount and accumulated amortisation

Consolidated
2021
$’000

Consolidated
2020
$’000

Intangible produced assets - software 122,142 116,358 

Less accumulated amortisation -57,529 -38,541

Intangible work in progress at cost 9,759 5,892 

Total intangible assets 74,372 83,709 

Note 4.2 (b): Intangible assets – Reconciliation of carrying amounts

Consolidated Total $’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 64,657 

Additions 29,324 

Net transfers between classes -4,189

Amortisation (note 4.3) -6,083

Balance at 30 June 2020 83,709 

Additions 3,164 

Net transfers between classes 6,487 

Amortisation (note 4.3) -18,988

Balance at 30 June 2021 74,372 

How we recognise 
intangible assets
Intangible assets represent identifiable 
non-monetary assets without physical 
substance such as computer 
software. Intangible assets, including 
purchased intangible assets, are 
initially recognised at cost. 

An internally generated intangible 
asset arising from development (or 
from the development phase of an 
internal project) is also recognised 
at cost if and only if, all of the 
following are demonstrated:

• the technical feasibility of 
completing the intangible asset so 
that it will be available for use or sale

• an intention to complete the 
intangible asset and use or sell it

• the ability to use or sell 
the intangible asset

• the intangible asset will generate 
probable future economic benefits

• the availability of adequate 
technical, financial and other 
resources to complete the 
development and to use or 
sell the intangible asset and

• the ability to measure reliably 
the expenditure attributable 
to the intangible asset 
during its development. 

Expenditure on research activities 
is recognised as an expense in the 
period on which it is incurred.

Subsequent measurement
Intangible assets with finite useful 
lives are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment
Intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives (and intangible assets 
not yet available for use) are tested 
annually for impairment and whenever 
there is an indication that the asset 
may be impaired. Intangible assets 
with finite useful lives are testing for 
impairment whenever an indication 
of impairment is identified. 
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Note 4.3: Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation

Consolidated
2021
$’000

Consolidated
2020
$’000

Buildings  78,361  76,060 

Plant and equipment  6,364  5,362 

Medical equipment  14,217  14,077 

Computers and communication equipment  4,572  2,700 

Furniture and fittings  6,538  2,065 

Leased assets  8,603  8,674 

Right of use assets

- land  301  - 

- buildings  4,382  3,577 

- plant, equipment and vehicles  276  248 

Total depreciation  123,615  112,763 

Amortisation

Intangible Assets 18,988 6,083

Total Amortisation 18,988 6,038

Total Depreciation and Amortisation 142,604 118,846

How we recognise depreciation
All infrastructure assets, buildings, 
plant and equipment and other non-
financial physical assets (excluding 
items under operating leases, assets 
held for sale and land and investment 
properties) that have finite useful 
lives are depreciated. Depreciation is 
generally calculated on a straight-line 
basis at rates that allocate the asset’s 
value, less any estimated residual 
value over its estimated useful life. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated 
over the lease term or useful life of 
the underlying asset, whichever is 
the shortest. Where a lease transfers 
ownership of the underlying asset 
or the cost of the right-of-use 
asset reflects that Monash Health 
anticipates to exercise a purchase 
option, the specific right-of-use 
asset is depreciated over the useful 
life of the underlying asset.

How we recognise amortisation
Amortisation is the systematic 
allocation of the depreciable amount 
of an asset over its useful life.
The following table indicates the 
expected useful lives of non-current 
assets on which the depreciation and 
amortisation charges are based. 
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Note 4.3: Depreciation and amortisation (continued)

2021 2020

Buildings

- Structure shell building fabric 45 to 70 years 45 to 70 years

- Site engineering services and central plant 22 to 30 years 22 to 30 years

Central plant

- Fit out 22 to 30 years 22 to 30 years

- Trunk reticulated building system 22 to 30 years 22 to 30 years

Plant and equipment 3 to 10 years 3 to 10 years

Medical equipment 3 to 10 years 3 to 10 years

Computers and communication 3 years 3 years

Furniture and fitting 10 years 10 years

Motor vehicles 4 years 4 years

Right of use buildings 2 to 55 years 2 to 55 years

Right of use land 30 to 40 years 30 to 40 years

Intangible assets 5 years 5 years

As part of the building valuation, building values are separated into components and each component assessed for its useful life which  
is represented above.

Note 5: Other assets 
and liabilities
This section sets out those assets 
and liabilities that arose from 
Monash Health’s operations.

Structure

• 5.1 Receivables and contract assets

• 5.2 Inventories

• 5.3 Payables and contract liabilities

• 5.4 Other liabilities

Other assets and liabilities used 
to support the delivery of our 
services during the financial year 
were not materially impacted by the 
COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic.

Key judgements and estimates
This section contains the following 
key judgements and estimates:

Key judgements and estimates Description

Estimating the provision for 
expected credit losses

Monash Health uses a simplified approach to account for the expected credit loss provision.  
A provision matrix is used, which considers historical experience, external indicators and  
forward-looking information to determine expected credit loss rates.

Measuring deferred 
capital grant income

Where Monash Health has received funding to construct an identifiable non-financial asset, such 
funding is recognised as deferred capital grant income until the underlying asset is constructed.

Monash Health applies significant judgement when measuring the deferred capital grant income 
balance, which references the estimated the stage of completion at the end of each financial year.

Measuring contract liabilities Monash Health applies significant judgement to measure its progress towards satisfying a performance  
obligation as detailed in Note 2. Where a performance obligation is yet to be satisfied, the health  
service assigns funds to the outstanding obligation and records this as a contract liability until the  
promised good or service is transferred to the customer.
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Note 5.1 (a): Receivables and Contract Assets

Current

Consolidated
2021
$’000

Consolidated
2020
$’000

Contractual

Inter hospital debtors 4,329 2,201

Trade debtors 9,320 11,260

Patient Fees 13,640 14,443

Contract assets AABS15i 5.1c 19,770 20,110

Amounts receivable from governments and agencies 1,171 1,778

Less allowance for doubtful debts

Inter hospital debtors

Trade debtors 7.2a -750 -1,131

Patient Fees 7.2a -3,476 -3,194

44,003 45,468

Statutory

GST receivable 4,737 9,614

4,737 9,614

Total current receivables 48,740 55,082

Non-current

Contractual

Long Service Leave - Department of Health 138,905 125,978

138,905 125,978

Total non-current receivables 138,905 125,978

Total Receivablesi 187,645 181,060

i. Financial assets classified as receivables and contract assets (note 7.1(a))

Consolidated
2021
$’000

Consolidated
2020
$’000

Total receivable and contract assets 187,645 181,060 

Provision for impairment 4,225 4,325 

Contract assets -19,770 -20,110

GST receivable -4,737 -9,617

Total financial assets 7.1 (a) 167,363 155,659 

As at 30 June 2021, Monash Health has contract assets of $19.8m (2020 $20.1m).  There is no expected credit losses from these contract assets.
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Note 5.1 (b): Movement in the Allowance for impairment losses  
of contractual receivables

Consolidated
2021
$’000

Consolidated
2020
$’000

Balance at beginning of year 4,326 3,872 

Opening retained earnings adjustment on adoption of AASB 9 -3,392

Reversal of provision of receivables written off during the year as uncollectable -2,485 -

Increase in provision recognised in the net result 2,386 3,845 

Balance at end of year 4,226 4,326 

How we recognise receivables
Receivables consist of:

Contractual receivables, which 
mostly includes debtors in relation to 
goods and services. These receivables 
are classified as financial instruments 
and categorised as ‘financial assets 
at amortised costs. They are initially 
recognised at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs. 
Monash Health holds the contractual 
receivables with the objective to 
collect the contractual cash flows and 
therefore subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment. 

Statutory receivables, which mostly 
includes amounts owing from the 
Victorian Government and Goods 
and Services Tax (GST) input tax 
credits that are recoverable. Statutory 

receivables do not arise from contracts 
and are recognised and measured 
similarly to contractual receivables 
(except for impairment) but are not 
classified as financial instruments for 
disclosure purposes. Monash Health 
applies AASB 9 for initial measurement 
of the statutory receivables and as a 
result statutory receivables are initially 
recognised at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction cost.

Trade debtors are carried at 
nominal amounts due and are 
due for settlement within 30 days 
from the date of recognition. 

In assessing impairment of statutory 
(non-contractual) financial assets, 
which are not financial instruments, 
professional judgement is applied in 
assessing materiality using estimates, 
averages and other computational 

methods in accordance with AASB 
136 Impairment of Assets.

Monash Health is not exposed to 
any significant credit risk exposure 
to any single counterparty or any 
group of counterparties having similar 
characteristics. Trade receivables 
consist of a large number of 
customers in various geographical 
areas. Based on historical information 
about customer default rates, 
management consider the credit 
quality of trade receivables that are 
not past due or impaired to be good.

Impairment losses of 
contractual receivables
Refer to Note 7.2 (a) Contractual 
receivables at amortised costs 
for Monash Health’s contractual 
impairment losses. 

Note 5.1 (c): Contract assets Consolidated
2021
$’000

Consolidated
2020
$’000

Opening balance 20,110 -

Opening balance brought forward from 30 June 2019 adjusted for AASB 15  - 19,367 

Add additional costs that are incurred that are recoverable from the customer 199,407 168,691 

Less: Transfer to trade receivable or cash at bank -179,637 -167,948

Less: impairment allowance  - -

Total contract assets  19,770 20,110

Represented by       

Current contract assets  19,770 20,110

Non-current contract assets  - -

How we recognise 
contract assets
Contract assets relate to the Monash 
Health’s right to consideration in 
exchange for goods transferred to 
customers for works completed, but 

not yet billed at the reporting date. 
The contract assets are transferred to 
receivables when the rights become 
unconditional, at this time an invoice is 
issued. Contract assets are expected 
to be recovered early next year. 
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Note 5.2: Inventories Consolidated  
2021 
$'000

Consolidated  
2020 
$'000

Medical and surgical consumables: 7,649 8,940 

Pharmacy supplies: 10,000 10,779 

Pathology supplies: 4,816 1,568

General stores: 3,229 3,669 

Total inventories at cost 25,694 24,956 

How we recognise inventories
Inventories include goods and 
other property held either for sale, 
consumption or for distribution at 
no or nominal cost in the ordinary 
course of business operations. 

It excludes depreciable assets. 
Inventories acquired at no cost 
or for nominal consideration are 
measured at current replacement 
cost at the date of acquisition. 

Note 5.3: Payables and Contract Liabilities Consolidated  
2021 
$'000

Consolidated  
2020 
$'000

Current

Contractual

Trade creditors 5,737 10,315 

Accrued salaries and wages 73,495 75,832 

Accrued expenses 69,892 98,909 

Deferred grant revenue 5.3(a) 85 7,421 

Contract liabilities - income received in advance 5.3(b) 59,819 45,957 

Other 8,721 9,775 

Total payablesi 217,749 248,208 

iFinancial liabilities classified as payables and contract liabilities (note 7.1(a))

Total payables and contract liabilties 217,749 248,208 

Deferred grant revenue -85 -7,421

Contract liabilities - income received in advance -59,819 -45,957

Total financial liabilities 157,844 194,830 

How we recognise payables 
and contract liabilities
Payables consist of:

• contractual payables classified as 
financial instruments and measured 
at amortised cost. Accounts 
payable and salaries and wages 
payable represent liabilities for 
goods and services provided to 
Monash Health prior to the end of 
the financial year that are unpaid. 

• statutory payables that are 
recognised and measured similarly 
to contractual payables, but 
are not classified as financial 
instruments and not included in 
the category of financial liabilities 
at amortised cost, because they 
do not arise from contracts.

• Payables include $8.2m for 
goods received that remain 
unpaid as at 30 June 2021 (2020 

$65m) relating to the state health 
product supply (refer Note 6.2).

The normal credit terms for accounts 
payable are usually Nett 60 days. 
However, Monash Health operated 
on shortened supplier terms of 5 
to 10 days for all invoices as part 
of the Victorian State government 
COVID19 Economic Survival and 
Jobs Package measures. 
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Note 5.3 (a): Deferred Capital Grant Revenue Consolidated  
2021 
$'000

Consolidated  
2020 
$’000

Opening balance of deferred grant income 7,421 -

Grant consideration for capital works received during the year 315,520 147,324 

Grant revenue for capital works recognised consistent with the capital works undertaken  
during the year -322,856 -139,903

Closing balance of deferred grant consideration received for capital works 85 7,421 

How we recognise deferred 
capital grant revenue
Grant consideration was received 
from DH and other government 
departments to acquire buildings, plant 
and equipment, furniture and fittings, 
computer equipment and software and 
medical equipment. Grant revenue is 
recognised progressively as the asset is 

constructed, since this is the time when 
Monash Health satisfies its obligations 
under the transfer by controlling the 
asset as and when it is constructed. 
The progressive percentage costs 
incurred is used to recognise income 
because this most closely reflects the 
progress to completion as costs are 
incurred as the works are done (see 

note 2.1). As a result, Monash Health 
has deferred recognition of a portion of 
the grant consideration received as a 
liability for the outstanding obligations.

Monash Health expects to 
recognise all of the remaining deferred 
capital grant revenue for capital 
works by 31st December 2021.

Note 5.3 (b): Contract Liabilities Consolidated  
2021 
$'000

Consolidated  
2020 
$’000

Opening balance of contract liabilities   45,957 -

Opening balance brought forward from 30 June 2019 adjusted for AASB 15  - 11,021 

Add: payments received for performance obligations not yet fulfilled 199,407 168,691 

Add: grant consideration for sufficiently specific performance obligations received during the year 1,626,835 1,563,227 

Less: revenue recognised in the reporting period for the completion of a performance obligation  -199,407 -168,691

Less: grant revenue for sufficiently specific performance obligations works recognised consistent  
with the performance obligations met during the year  -1,612,973 -1,528,291

Total contract liabilities 59,819  45,957 

Represented by 

Current contract liabilities   59,819  45,957 

Non-current contract liabilities   -  - 

How we recognise 
contract liabilities
Contract liabilities include consideration 
received in advance from customers 
and the State Government. The 
balance of contract liabilities was higher 
than the previous reporting period due 
to delays in delivering programs due to 
COVID-19 restrictions during the year.

Contract liabilities are derecognised and 
recorded as revenue when promised 
goods and services are transferred 
to the customer, refer to Note 2.1.

Maturity analysis of payables
Please refer to Note 7.1(b) for the 
ageing analysis of payables. 
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Note 5.4: Other Liabilities Consolidated  
2021 
$'000

Consolidated  
2020 
$'000

Current

Monies held in trust*

   - Patient monies held in trust*  226  230 

   - Accommodation deposits (refundable entrance fees)*  13,045  12,813 

   - Government COVID19 Victorian Health Service product funds*  7,429  194,866 

Total Current  20,699  207,909 

* Total monies held in trust

Represented by the following assets:

Cash assets  20,699  207,909 

Total  20,699  207,909 

How we recognise 
other liabilities

Refundable Accommodation 
Deposit (RAD)/Accommodation 
Bond liabilities 
RADs/accommodation bonds are 
non-interest-bearing deposits made by 
some aged care residents to Monash 
Health upon admission. These deposits 
are liabilities which fall due and payable 
when the resident leaves the home. As 
there is no unconditional right to defer 
payment for 12 months, these liabilities 
are recorded as current liabilities. 

RAD/accommodation bond 
liabilities are recorded at an amount 
equal to the proceeds received, 
net of retention and any other 
amounts deducted from the RAD/
accommodation bond in accordance 
with the Aged Care Act 1997.

As at 30 June 2021 Monash 
Health have recorded a liability of 

$7.4m (2020 $195m) for amounts 
received from DH but unspent in 
acquiring health services products 
on their behalf (refer Note 6.2).

Note 6: How we finance 
our operations 
This section provides information 
on the sources of finance utilised by 
Monash Health during its operations, 
along with interest expenses (the 
cost of borrowings) and other 
information related to financing 
activities of Monash Health.

This section includes disclosures 
of balances that are financial 
instruments (such as borrowings 
and cash balances). Note 7.1 
provides additional, specific 
financial instrument disclosures.

Structure

• 6.1 Borrowings 

• 6.2 Cash and cash equivalents 

• 6.3 Commitments for expenditure 

• 6.4 Non-cash financing 
and investing activities

The level of cash and borrowings 
required to finance our operations 
were impacted during the financial year 
which was partially attributable to the 
COVID-19 Coronavirus pandemic.

The following items were impacted:

• Repayment of the cash 
advance $52m 

Key judgements and estimates
This section contains the following 
key judgements and estimates:

Key judgements and estimates Description

Determining if a contract 
is or contains a lease

Monash Health applies significant judgement to determine if a contract is or contains a lease  
by considering if the health service:

• has the right-to-use an identified asset

• has the right to obtain substantially all economic benefits from the use of the leased asset and

• can decide how and for what purpose the asset is used throughout the lease.

Discount rate applied to 
future lease payments

Monash Health discounts its lease payments using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate  
cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for the lease arrangements, Monash 
Health uses its incremental borrowing rate, which is the amount Monash Health would have to pay  
to borrow funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar  
economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
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Key judgements and 
estimates (continued) Description

Assessing the lease term The lease term represents the non-cancellable period of a lease, combined with periods covered  
by an option to extend or terminate the lease if Monash Health is reasonably certain to exercise  
such options.

Monash Health determines the likelihood of exercising such options on a lease-by-lease basis  
through consideration of various factors including:

• If there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), Monash health is typically  
reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate) the lease.

• If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, Monash  
Health is typically reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate) the lease.

• Monash Health considers historical lease durations and the costs and business disruption  
to replace such leased assets.

Note 6.1: Borrowings Consolidated  
2021 

Consolidated  
2020 

$'000 $'000

Current

– Public private partnership (PPP) related lease liabilities  4,081  3,840 

– Non PPP related lease liabilities 5,195  4,827 

– TCV loani 1,413  1,331 

- Advances from governmentii 1,000  53,240 

- Other financial liability 1,465  1,308 

Total current borrowings 13,155  64,546 

Non-current

– Public private partnership (PPP) related lease liabilities  38,891  42,972 

– Non PPP related lease liabilities 35,878  35,712 

– TCV loani 22,010  23,423 

- Advances from governmentii 5,867  6,630 

- Other financial liability 17,729  19,194 

Total non-current borrowings 120,374  127,931 

Total borrowings 133,528  192,477 

i. During the year ended 30 June 2010 Monash Health entered into a loan agreement with the Treasury Corporation of Victoria to fund $19.6m 
improvements required to the car park at the Clayton site. The loan is repayable over 22 years with repayments made quarterly. In the 2014 
financial year, Monash Health made a further drawdown under the existing loan arrangement with the Treasury Corporation of Victoria to fund 
$13.5m improvements required to the car park at the Clayton site. The loan is repayable over 22 years with repayments being made quarterly.

ii. During the year ended 30 June 2018, the Department of Health granted an interest free loan of $10m to Monash Health. The loan is repayable  
over 10 years with repayments being made annually. In June 2020, the Department of Health granted a cash advance of $52.4m to meet early  
July Payments. The amount was repaid in the 20/21 financial year.
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How we recognise borrowings
Borrowings refer to interesting bearing 
liabilities mainly raised from advances from 
the Treasury Corporation of Victoria (TCV) 
and other funds raised through lease liabilities 
and other interest-bearing arrangements.

Initial recognition
All borrowings are initially recognised at 
fair value of the consideration received, 
less directly attributable transaction costs. 
The measurement basis subsequent to 
initial recognition depends on whether 
Monash Health has categorised its liability 

as either ‘financial liabilities designated 
at fair value through profit or loss’, or 
financial liabilities at ‘amortised cost’. 

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest 
bearing borrowings are measured at 
amortised cost with any difference between 
the initial recognised amount and the 
redemption value being recognised in the 
net result over the period of the borrowing 
using the effective interest method. Non-
interest bearing borrowings are measured 
at ‘fair value through profit or loss’.

Maturity analysis of borrowings
Please refer to Note 7.1(b) for the 
maturity analysis of borrowings.

Defaults and breaches
During the current and prior year, there were 
no defaults and breaches of any of the loans.

Lease Liabilities
Repayments in relation to leases 
are payable as follows:

Consolidated  
2021 
$'000

Consolidated  
2020 
$'000

Total undiscounted lease liabilities  103,736  110,758 

Less unexpired finance expenses  -19,692  -23,407

Net lease liabilities 84,044  87,351 

Casey Hospital Public Private Partnership lease

Repayments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows:

Not later than one year 6,592 6,592

Later than one year but not later than 5 years 26,370 26,370

Later than 5 years 21,975 28,567

Minimum future lease liability 54,937 61,530

Less unexpired finance expenses  -11,966  -14,718

Present value of lease liability 42,972 46,812

Other lease liabilities payable

Not later than one year 6,264 5,934

Later than one year but not later than 5 years 16,270 14,476

Later than 5 years 26,265 28,819

Minimum future lease liability 48,799 49,228

Less unexpired finance expenses  -7,726 -8,689

41,072 40,539

Total minimum future lease liability 103,736 110,758

Less unexpired finance expenses  -19,692 -23,407

Total present value of lease liability 84,044 87,351

Included in the financial statements as:

Current borrowings lease liabilities 9,276 8,667

Non-current borrowing lease liabilities 74,768 78,684

84,044 87,351

The interest rate implicit in the leases is 4.4% (2020: 4.6%).
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How we recognise 
lease liabilities
A lease is defined as a contract, or part 
of a contract, that conveys the right for 
Monash Health to use an asset for a 
period of time in exchange for payment. 

To apply this definition, Monash 
Health ensures the contract 
meets the following criteria: 

• the contract contains an identified 
asset, which is either explicitly 
identified in the contract or implicitly 

specified by being identified 
at the time the asset is made 
available to Monash Health and for 
which the supplier does not have 
substantive substitution rights

• Monash Health has the right to 
obtain substantially all of the 
economic benefits from use of 
the identified asset throughout 
the period of use considering its 
rights within the defined scope 
of the contract and Monash 

Health has the right to direct 
the use of the identified asset 
throughout the period of use and

• Monash Health has the right to 
take decisions in respect of ‘how 
and for what purpose’ the asset is 
used throughout the period of use. 

Monash Health’s lease arrangements 
consist of the following:

Type of asset leased Lease term

Leased land 30 to 39 years

Leased buildings 1 to 35 years

Leased plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and vehicles 1 to 3 years

All leases are recognised on the 
balance sheet, with the exception of 
low value leases (less than $10,000 
AUD) and short term leases of less than 
12 months. The following low value, 
short term and variable lease payments 
are recognised in profit or loss:

Type of payment Description of payment Type of leases captured

Low value lease payments Leases where the underlying asset’s fair 
value, when new, is no more than $10,000

Computer equipment, office equipment

Short-term lease payments Leases with a term less than 12 months Buildings used for less than 12 months

Separation of lease and 
non-lease components 
At inception or on reassessment 
of a contract that contains a lease 
component, the lessee is required to 
separate out and account separately 
for non-lease components within a 
lease contract and exclude these 
amounts when determining the lease 
liability and right-of-use asset amount. 

Initial measurement 
The lease liability is initially measured at 
the present value of the lease payments 
unpaid at the commencement date, 
discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease if that rate is readily 
determinable or Monash Health’s 

incremental borrowing rate. Our lease 
liabilities have been discounted by 
rates of between 0% and 3.5%.

Lease payments included in 
the measurement of the lease 
liability comprise the following: 

• fixed payments (including  
in-substance fixed payments) less 
any lease incentive receivable; 

• variable payments based on an 
index or rate, initially measured 
using the index or rate as at 
the commencement date 

• amounts expected to be payable 
under a residual value guarantee and 

• payments arising from purchase 
and termination options reasonably 
certain to be exercised. 

The following type of lease 
arrangements, contain extension 
and termination options:

• Buildings 

These terms are used to maximise 
operational flexibility in terms of 
managing contracts. The majority of 
extension and termination options 
held are exercisable only by the health 
service and not by the respective lessor. 

In determining the lease term, 
management considers all facts 
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and circumstances that create an 
economic incentive to exercise an 
extension option, or not exercise 
a termination option. Extension 
options (or periods after termination 
options) are only included in the 
lease term and lease liability if the 
lease is reasonably certain to be 
extended (or not terminated).

Potential future cash outflows 
have not been included in the lease 
liability because it is not reasonably 
certain that the leases will be 
extended (or not terminated).

The assessment is reviewed if 
a significant event or a significant 
change in circumstances occurs 
which affects this assessment and 
that is within the control of the lessee.

During the current financial 
year, the financial effect of revising 
lease terms to reflect the effect 
of exercising extension and 
termination options was an increase 
in recognised lease liabilities and 
right-of-use assets of $0.4m

Lease Liability – subsequent 
measurement 
Subsequent to initial measurement, the 
liability will be reduced for payments 
made and increased for interest. It is 
remeasured to reflect any reassessment 
or modification, or if there are changes 
in-substance fixed payments.

When the lease liability is 
remeasured, the corresponding 
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use  

asset, or profit and loss if the right of 
use asset is already reduced to zero.

Leases with significantly below 
market terms and conditions
Monash Health holds lease 
arrangements which contain 
significantly below-market terms and 
conditions, which are principally to 
enable the health service to further 
its objectives. These are commonly 
referred to as a peppercorn or 
concessionary lease arrangement.

The nature and terms of such lease 
arrangements, including Monash 
Health’s dependency on such lease 
arrangements is described below:

Description of leased asset Our dependence on lease Nature and terms of lease

DH Land Monash Health’s dependence on these two leases  
is considered high as we have buildings on them  
which have long useful lives.

Lease terms are 40 years.

Lease payments are between 
$12 and $104 p.a.

How we recognise 
commissioned public 
private partnerships (PPP)
Monash Health entered into Public 
Private Partnership agreements 
between the State of Victoria and 
Plenary Health Pty Ltd. Under 
the arrangements, the portion 
of total payments to Plenary 
Health that relates to Monash 
Health’s right to use the assets is 
accounted for as a lease liability.

During the year ended 30 June 
2005, Casey Hospital commenced 
operations. Monash Health is 
responsible for operating Casey 
Hospital and has recognised the ROU 
asset (note 4.1) and the associated 
interest bearing liabilities. The State of 
Victoria is obligated to fund quarterly 
service payments due under the 

Project Agreement for the life of that 
agreement, a period of up to 25 years.

During the year ended 30 June 
2020, the Casey Hospital Expansion 
Project was completed. Monash 
Health is responsible for operating 
Casey Hospital and has recognised 
the ROU asset (note 4.1) and the 
associated interest bearing liabilities. 
The State of Victoria is obligated 
to fund quarterly service payments 
due under the Project Agreement 
for the life of that agreement, a 
period of up to 2030 in line with the 
original Casey Hospital Liability.

Such PPP’s are not accounted 
for as a Service Concession 
Arrangement within the scope of 
AASB 1059 Service Concession 
Arrangements: Grantors as the public 
service criterion is not satisfied.

Initial measurement 
PPP leases are recognised as assets 
and liabilities at amounts equal to the 
fair value of the leased property or, if 
lower, the present value of the minimum 
lease payment, each determined at 
the inception of the PPP lease.

Subsequent measurement 
Minimum lease payments are 
apportioned between reduction of 
the outstanding lease liability and the 
periodic finance expense which is 
calculated using the interest rate implicit 
in the lease and charged directly to the 
Comprehensive Operating Statement.

Contingent rentals associated with 
leases are recognised as an expense 
in the period in which they are incurred.
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Note 6.2: Cash and cash equivalents Consolidated  
2021 
$'000

Consolidated  
2020 
$'000

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand (excluding monies held in trust)  73  73 

Cash on hand (monies held in trust)  - 

Cash at bank  (monies held in trust)  - 

Cash at bank - CBS (excluding monies held in trust)  264,993  228,322 

Cash at bank - CBS (monies held in trust)  29,160  272,664 

Total cash and cash equivalents  294,226  501,059 

How we recognise cash 
and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents recognised 
on the balance sheet comprise cash 
on hand and in banks, deposits at 
call and highly liquid investments 
(with an original maturity date of three 
months or less), which are held for 
the purpose of meeting short term 
cash commitments rather than for 
investment purposes, which are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash 
and are subject to insignificant risk 
of changes in value. The cash flow 
statement includes monies held in trust.

Monash Health entered into an 
agreement with the DH to act as an 
agent for the department in paying, 

warehousing, and distributing products 
and equipment for Victorian public 
health services and other entities 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
These items are distributed at cost, 
and Monash Health receives no 
commission on the transactions. 
As Monash Health would only 
record the amount of any fee or 
commission to which it expects to 
be entitled in exchange for arranging 
these distributions, and this amount 
is zero, there was no impact on 
the Comprehensive Operating 
Statement from this relationship. 

As at 30 June 2021 the cash 
assets balance includes funds held 
on behalf of DH of $15.6m (2020 

$260m). Liabilities of $15.6m (2020 
$260m) have also been recognised 
comprising payables of $8.2m (2020 
$65m) for items goods received that 
remain unpaid (refer Note 5.3) and 
other liabilities of $7.4m (2020 $195m) 
for amounts received from DH but 
unspent in acquiring goods on their 
behalf as at year-end (refer Note 5.4).

For the year ended 30 June 2021 
Monash Health received funding 
of $176m (2020 $850m) and 
made payments of $420m (2020 
$590m) acting as agent for DH.

Note 6.3: Commitments for expenditure Consolidated  
2021 
$'000

Consolidated  
2020 
$'000

Capital expenditure commitments

Less than 1 year  8,299  5,906 

Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years  6,490  11,825 

Total capital expenditure commitments  14,788  17,730 

Operating expenditure commitments 

Less than 1 year  63,334  59,565 

Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years  86,417  95,947 

5 Years or more  7,842  22,708 

Total operating expenditure commitments  157,593  178,221 
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How we disclose our 
commitments
Our commitments relate to expenditure, 
Public Private Partnerships (PPP) and 
short term and low value leases.

Commitments
Commitments for future expenditure 
include operating and capital 
commitments arising from contracts. 
These commitments are disclosed at 
their nominal value and are inclusive of 
the GST payable. In addition, where it 
is considered appropriate and provides 
additional relevant information to users, 
the net present values of significant 
projects are stated. These future 
expenditures cease to be disclosed as 
commitments once the related liabilities 
are recognised on the Balance Sheet. 

Short term and low value leases
Monash Health discloses short term 
and low value lease commitments 
which are excluded from the 
measurement of right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities. Refer to Note 
6.1 for further information.

Commissioned public private 
partnerships (PPP)
Pursuant to the requirements of the 
Operating Deeds signed by the State 
of Victoria and Monash Health during 
the years ended 30 June 2005 and 
30 June 2020, the Department of 
Health agrees to meet all payments 
(including leasing and operating) for 
which the State of Victoria is liable and 
which are associated with the project. 

Monash Health has agreed to record 
and report all of the obligations of the 
State of Victoria reflecting Monash 
Health’s position as the government 
agency that controls the assets. 

Refer to Note 6.1 for 
further information.

Note 7: Risks, contingencies 
and valuation uncertainties 
Monash Health is exposed to risk 
from its activities and outside factors. 
In addition, it is often necessary to 
make judgements and estimates 
associated with recognition and 
measurement of items in the financial 
statements. This section sets out 
financial instrument specific information, 
including exposures to financial 

risks, as well as those items that 
are contingent in nature or require a 
higher level of judgement to be applied 
which, for Monash Health, is related 
mainly to fair value determination.

Structure

• 7.1 Financial Instruments

• 7.2 Financial risk management 
objectives and policies

• 7.3: Contingent assets and 
contingent liabilities

Note 7.1: Financial instruments
Financial instruments arise out of 
contractual agreements that give 
rise to a financial asset of one entity 
and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. Due 
to the nature of Monash Health’s 
activities, certain financial assets 
and financial liabilities arise under 
statute rather than a contract. 
Such financial assets and financial 
liabilities do not meet the definition 
of financial instruments in AASB 132 
Financial Instruments: Presentation. 

Note 6.3: Commitments for expenditure (continued)

Non-cancellable short term and low value lease commitments

Less than 1 year  4,622  2,852 

Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years  9,505  3,869 

Total non-cancellable lease commitments  14,126  6,721 

Public private partnership commitments (commissioned) 

Less than 1 year  25,139  24,385 

Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years  130,311  123,905 

5 Years or more  108,145  137,910 

Total public private partnership commitments  263,596  286,200 

Total commitments for expenditure (inclusive of GST)  450,103  488,872 

Less GST recoverable from the Australian Tax Office  -40,918 -44,443

Total commitments for expenditure (exclusive of GST)  409,185  444,429 

Note: the present values of the minimum lease payments for commissioned PPPs are recognised on the balance sheet (not disclosed as commitments).

Future lease payments are recognised on the balance sheet, refer to Note 6.1 Borrowings.
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Note 7.1 (a): Categorisation of financial instruments

Consolidated

Financial Assets 
at Amortised 

Cost

Financial 
Liabilities at 

Amortised Cost Total

2021 $'000 $'000 $'000

Contractual financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6.2  294,226  -    294,226 

Receivables  -   

 - Trade debtors 5.1  9,320  -    9,320 

 - Other receivables 5.1  19,139  -    19,139 

 - Long Service Leave - Department of Health 5.1  138,905  138,905 

Total financial assetsi  461,589  -    461,589 

Financial liabilities

Payables and contract liabilties  -    -    -   

Borrowings 6.1  -    157,380  157,380 

Other financial liabilities 5.4

 - Accommodation bonds  -    -    -   

 - Government COVID-19 Victorian  
Health Services Product funds

 13,045  13,045 

 - Other  -    7,429  7,429 

Total financial liabilitiesi  -    177,854  177,854 

As at 30 June 2021 Monash Health have recorded an other liability of $7m (2020 $195m) for amounts received from DH but unspent in acquiring  
health services products on their behalf (refer Note 6.2).

Consolidated

Financial Assets 
at Amortised 

Cost

Financial 
Liabilities at 

Amortised Cost Total

2020 $'000 $'000 $'000

Contractual financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6.2  501,059  -    501,059 

Receivables

 - Trade debtors 5.1  11,260  -    11,260 

 - Other receivables 5.1  18,422  -    18,422 

 - Long Service Leave - Department of Health 5.1  125,978  125,978 

Total financial assetsi  656,718  -    656,718 
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Note 7.1 (a): Categorisation of financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

Payables  -    194,830  194,830 

Borrowings 6.1  -    192,477  192,477 

Other financial liabilities 5.4

 - Accommodation bonds  -    12,813  12,813 

-  Government COVID-19 Victorian 
Health Services Product funds

 194,866  194,866 

 - Other  -    230  230 

Total financial liabilitiesi  -    595,216  595,216 

i. The carrying amount excludes statutory receivables (i.e. GST receivable and DH receivable) and statutory payables (i.e. Revenue in Advance  

and DH payable).

How we categorise 
financial instruments

Categories of financial assets 
Financial assets are recognised 
when Monash Health becomes 
party to the contractual provisions 
to the instrument. For financial 
assets, this is at the date Monash 
Health commits itself to either the 
purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. 
trade date accounting is adopted).

Financial instruments (except 
for trade receivables) are initially 
measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs, except where the 
instrument is classified at fair value 
through net result, in which case 
transaction costs are expensed 
to profit or loss immediately. 

Where available, quoted prices in an 
active market are used to determine 
the fair value. In other circumstances, 
valuation techniques are adopted. 

Trade receivables are initially 
measured at the transaction price if 
the trade receivables do not contain 
a significant financing component or 
if the practical expedient was applied 
as specified in AASB 15 para 63.

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are measured 
at amortised costs if both of the 
following criteria are met and the 
assets are not designated as 
fair value through net result:

• the assets are held by 
Monash Health to collect the 
contractual cash flows and

• the assets’ contractual terms 
give rise to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount 
outstanding on specific dates.

These assets are initially recognised 
at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs and 
subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest 
method less any impairment. 

Monash Health recognises the 
following assets in this category:

• cash and deposits and

• receivables (excluding 
statutory receivables) 

Categories of financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are recognised when 
Monash Health becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions to the instrument. 
Financial instruments are initially 
measured at fair value plus transaction 
costs except where the instrument is 
classified at fair value through profit or 
loss, in which case transaction costs are 
expensed to profit or loss immediately. 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective 

interest method, where they are not 
held at fair value through net result. 

The effective interest method is a 
method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest expense in net 
result over the relevant period. The 
effective interest is the internal rate of 
return of the financial asset or liability. 
That is, it is the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash 
flows through the expected life of 
the instrument to the net carrying 
amount at initial recognition. 

Monash Health recognises the 
following liabilities in this category:

• payables (excluding 
statutory payables) and

• borrowings (including 
finance lease liabilities). 

• other liabilities (including 
monies held in trust). 

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial instrument assets and 
liabilities are offset and the net amount 
presented in the consolidated balance 
sheet when, and only when, Monash 
Health has a legal right to offset the 
amounts and intend either to settle 
on a net basis or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Some master netting arrangements 
do not result in an offset of balance 
sheet assets and liabilities. Where 
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Monash Health does not have a 
legally enforceable right to offset 
recognised amounts, because the 
right to offset is enforceable only on 
the occurrence of future events such 
as default, insolvency or bankruptcy, 
they are reported on a gross basis. 

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, 
a part of a financial asset or part 
of a group of similar financial 
assets) is derecognised when: 

• the rights to receive cash flows 
from the asset have expired or

• Monash Health retains the right to 
receive cash flows from the asset, 
but has assumed an obligation to 
pay them in full without material 
delay to a third party under a 
‘pass through’ arrangement or

• Monash Health has transferred 
its rights to receive cash flows 
from the asset and either:

• has transferred substantially  
 all the risks and rewards  
 of the asset or

• has neither transferred nor  
 retained substantially all the risks  
 and rewards of the asset but has  
 transferred control of the asset. 

Where Monash Health has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially 
all the risks and rewards or transferred 
control, the asset is recognised 
to the extent of Monash Health’s 
continuing involvement in the asset.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised 
when the obligation under the liability 
is discharged, cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability 
is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated 
as a derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new 

liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised 
as an ‘other economic flow’ in the 
comprehensive operating statement. 

Reclassification of 
financial instruments 
A financial asset is required to be 
reclassified between fair value between 
amortised cost, fair value through net 
result and fair value through other 
comprehensive income when, and 
only when, Monash Health’s business 
model for managing its financial assets 
has changed such that its previous 
model would no longer apply.

A financial liability reclassification 
is not permitted.

Note 7.2: Financial risk 
management objectives 
and policies
As a whole, Monash Health’s financial 
risk management program seeks to 
manage the risks and the associated 
volatility of its financial performance.

Details of the significant accounting 
policies and methods adopted 
included the criteria for recognition, the 
basis of measurement and the basis 
on which income and expenses are 
recognised with respect to each class 
of financial asset, financial liability and 
equity instrument above are disclosed 
throughout the financial statements.

Monash Health’s main financial 
risks include credit risk and liquidity 
risk. Monash Health manages this 
financial risk in accordance with its 
financial risk management policy.

Monash Health uses different 
methods to measure and manage 
the different risks to which it is 
exposed. Primary responsibility for 
the identification and management 
of financial risks rests with 
the Accountable Officer.

Note 7.2 (a) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the possibility that 
a borrower will default on its financial 
obligations as and when they fall 
due. Monash Health’s exposure to 
credit risk arises from the potential 
default of a counter party on their 
contractual obligations resulting in 

financial loss to Monash Health. 
Credit risk is measured at fair value 
and is monitored on a regular basis.

Credit risk associated with 
Monash Health’s contractual 
financial assets is minimal because 
the main debtor is the Victorian 
Government. For debtors other than 
the Government, the health service 
is exposed to credit risk associated 
with patient and other debtors.

In addition, Monash Health does not 
engage in hedging for its contractual 
financial assets and can obtain 
contractual financial assets that are on 
fixed interest, however it is mostly cash 
and deposits which are mainly cash at 
bank. As with the policy for debtors, 
Monash Health’s policy is to only deal 
with banks with high credit ratings.

Provision of impairment for 
contractual financial assets is 
recognised when there is objective 
evidence that Monash Health will 
not be able to collect a receivable. 
Objective evidence includes 
financial difficulties of the debtor, 
default payments, debtors that are 
more than 60 days overdue and 
changes in debtor credit ratings.

Contract financial assets are written 
off against the carrying amount when 
there is no reasonable expectation 
of recovery. Bad debt written off 
by mutual consent is classified as 
a transaction expense. Bad debt 
written off following a unilateral 
decision is recognised as other 
economic flows in the net result.

Except as otherwise detailed in the 
following table, the carrying amount of 
contractual financial assets recorded 
in the financial statements, net of any 
allowances for losses, represents 
Monash Health’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk without taking account of 
the value of any collateral obtained.

There has been no material 
change to Monash Health’s 
credit risk profile in 2020-21.

Impairment of financial assets 
under AASB 9 Financial Instruments
Monash Health records the allowance 
for expected credit loss for the 
relevant financial instruments in 
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accordance with AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments ‘Expected Credit 
Loss’ approach. Subject to AASB 
9 impairment assessment include 
the Monash Health’s contractual 
receivables, statutory receivables and 
its investment in debt instruments. 

Equity instruments are not subject 
to impairment under AASB 9. 
Other financial assets mandatorily 
measured or designated at fair value 
through net result are not subject to 
impairment assessment under AASB 
9. While cash and cash equivalents 
are also subject to the impairment 
requirements of AASB 9, the identified 

impairment loss was immaterial. 
Credit loss allowance is classified 

as other economic flows in the 
net result. Contractual receivables 
are written off when there is 
no reasonable expectation of 
recovery and impairment losses are 
classified as a transaction expense. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited 
against the same line item.

Contractual receivables 
at amortised cost
Monash Health applies AASB 9 
simplified approach for all contractual 

receivables to measure expected credit 
losses using a lifetime expected loss 
allowance based on the assumptions 
about risk of default and expected loss 
rates. Monash Health has grouped 
contractual receivables on shared credit 
risk characteristics and days past due 
and select the expected credit loss 
rate based on Monash Health’s past 
history, existing market conditions, 
as well as forward looking estimates 
at the end of the financial year. 

On this basis, Monash Health 
determines the closing loss allowance 
at end of the financial year as follows: 

30-Jun-21 Note Current
Less than 

1 month
1–3 

months
3 months 

–1 year
1–5

years Total

Expected loss rate 3.0% 5.5% 12.7% 30.3% 0.0% 8.7%

Gross carrying amount of 
contractual receivables 5.1 32,664 4,572 2,755 8,720 48,710

Loss allowance  -982 -251 -348 -2,644  - -4,226

30-Jun-20

Expected loss rate 2.7% 7.5% 42.7% 18.8% 0.0% 8.7%

Gross carrying amount of 
contractual receivables 5.1 31,619 3,995 2,423 11,433 49,470

Loss allowance -848 -298 -1,034 -2,146  - -4,326

Statutory receivables and debt 
investments at amortised cost
Monash Health’s non-contractual 
receivables arising from statutory 
requirements are not financial 
instruments. However, they are 
nevertheless recognised and 
measured in accordance with 
AASB 9 requirements as if those 
receivables are financial instruments. 

Statutory receivables are considered 
to have low credit risk taking into 
account the counterparty’s credit 
rating, risk of default and capacity to 
meet contractual cash flow obligations 
in the near term. As a result, no loss 
allowance has been recognised.

Note 7.2 (b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from 
being unable to meet financial 

obligations as they fall due. 
Monash Health is exposed to liquidity 
risk mainly through the financial 
liabilities as disclosed in the face of the 
balance sheet and the amounts related 
to financial guarantees. The health 
service manages its liquidity risk by:

• support provided from 
the Department of Health 
(refer note 8.10)

• close monitoring of its short-term 
and long-term borrowings by senior 
management, including monthly 
reviews on current and future 
borrowing levels and requirements

• maintaining an adequate level 
of uncommitted funds that can 
be drawn at short notice to meet 
its short-term obligations

• holding investments and other 
contractual financial assets 
that are readily tradeable in 
the financial markets and

• careful maturity planning of its 
financial obligations based on 
forecasts of future cash flows.

Monash Health’s exposure to 
liquidity risk is deemed insignificant 
based on prior periods’ data and 
current assessment of risk. Cash for 
unexpected events is generally sourced 
from liquidation of financial assets.

The following table discloses the 
contractual maturity analysis for 
Monash Health’s financial liabilities. 
For interest rates applicable to each 
class of liability refer to individual 
notes to the financial statements.
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Maturity Dates

Note Carrying 
Amount

Nominal 
Amount

Less 
than 1 
Month

1-3 
Months

3 
months 
- 1 Year

1-5 
Years

Over 5 
years

2021 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost

  Payables 5.3  157,844  157,844  149,487  1,090  2,907  4,361  - 

  Borrowings 6.1  133,528  133,528  1,491  3,705  7,958  50,418  69,956 

  Other financial liabilitiesi

   - Accommodation deposits 5.4  13,045  13,045  -  587  12,458  -  - 

   - Government COVID-19 deposit 5.4  7,429  7,429  7,429  -  -  -  - 

   - Other 5.4  226  226  226  -  -  -  - 

Total financial liabilities  312,072  312,072  158,633  5,383  23,323  54,779  69,956 

2020

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost

  Payables 5.3  194,830  194,830  180,988  4,589  4,365 4,888  - 

  Borrowings 6.1  192,477  192,477  53,519  3,521  7,505 48,191  79,740 

  Other financial liabilitiesi

   - Accommodation deposits 5.4  12,813  12,813  -  577  12,236 

   - Government COVID-19 deposit  194,866  194,866  194,866  -  -  -  - 

   - Other 5.4  230  230  230  -  -  -  - 

Total financial liabilities  595,216  595,216  429,603  8,687  24,106  53,079  79,740 

i. Maturity analysis of financial liabilities excludes statutory financial liabilities (i.e. GST payable).

How we measure and 
disclose contingent assets 
and contingent liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent 
liabilities are not recognised 
in the balance sheet but are 
disclosed and if quantifiable, are 
measured at nominal value.

Contingent assets and liabilities 
are presented inclusive of GST 
receivable or payable respectively.

Contingent assets
Contingent assets are possible 
assets that arise from past events, 
whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the 

control of the health service.
These are classified as 

either quantifiable, where the 
potential economic benefit is 
known, or non-quantifiable.

At balance date, the Board are not 
aware of any contingent assets

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are:

• possible obligations that arise 
from past events, whose existence 
will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence 
of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the 
control of the health service or

• present obligations that arise 
from past events but are not 
recognised because:

• It is not probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligations or

• the amount of the obligations 
cannot be measured with 
sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are also 
classified as either quantifiable 
or non-quantifiable.

At balance date, the Board are 
aware of a Legal dispute from past 
events that may result in a possible 
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obligation to Monash Health. The 
possible obligation may arise from a 
class action on behalf of junior doctors 
in Victoria who allege they were denied 
pay for overtime hours worked.

It is not practical at this time to 
disclose a potential financial effect, if any.

Note 8: Other disclosures
This section includes additional material 
disclosures required by accounting 
standards or otherwise, for the 
understanding of this financial report.

Structure

• 8.1 Reconciliation of Net Result 

for the Year to Net Cash Flow 
from Operating Activities

• 8.2 Responsible Persons Disclosures

• 8.3 Remuneration of Executives

• 8.4 Related Parties

• 8.5 Remuneration of Auditors

• 8.6 Events Occurring after 
the Balance Sheet Date

• 8.7 Controlled Entities

• 8.8 Investments accounted for 
using the Equity Method 

• 8.9 Equity

• 8.10 Economic Dependency

• 8.11 Glossary of terms 
and style conventions

Our other disclosures were not 
materially impacted by the COVID-19 
Coronavirus pandemic and its 
impact on our economy and the 
health of our community.

Note 8.1: Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash inflow/(outflow)  
from operating activities

Consolidated
2021

Consolidated
2020

Note $'000 $'000

Net result for the year 220,431 25,782

Non-cash movements: 

Depreciation and amortisation 4.3 142,604 118,846

Provision for doubtful debts 5.1(a) -100 454

Share of net results in associates 3.4 -197 -117

Revaluation of long service leave provision -36,689 12,611

Net movement in lease liability and borrowings -5,148 -3,839

Government non cash funding -238,290 -73,366

Discount (interest)/expense on loan 237 96

Movements included in investing and financing activities 

Net gain/(loss) from sale of plant and equipment -675 -589

Movements in assets and liabilities: 

For the financial year ended 30 June 2021

     (Increase)/Decrease in receivables -6,481 -1,058

     (Increase)/Decrease in other assets -1,352 -78

     Increase/(Decrease) in payables -36,545 82,839

     Increase/(Decrease) in other liabilities -180,711 224,601

     Increase/(Decrease) in provisions 58,363 41,884

     (Increase)/Decrease in inventories -738 -6,428

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities -85,289  421,639 
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Note 8.2: Responsible persons disclosures
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994,  
the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

Responsible Ministers Period

The Honourable Martin Foley
Minister for Mental Health 01/07/2020 - 29/09/2020
Minister for Health 26/09/2020 - 30/06/2021
Minister for Ambulance Services 26/09/2020 - 30/06/2021
Minister for Coordination of Health and Human Services: COVID-19 26/09/2020 - 09/11/2020
The Honourable Jenny Mikakos
Minister for Health 01/07/2020 - 26/09/2020
Minister for Ambulance Services 01/07/2020 - 26/09/2020
Minister for Coordination of Health and Human Services: COVID-19 01/07/2020 - 26/09/2020
The Honourable Luke Donnellan
Minister for Child Protection 01/07/2020 - 30/06/2021
Minister for Disability, Ageing and Carers 01/07/2020 - 30/06/2021
The Honourable James Merlino
Minister for Mental Health 29/09/2020 - 30/06/2021

Governing Boards
Mr Dipak Sanghvi - Chair 01/07/2020 - 30/06/2021
Ms Aurélia Balpe 01/07/2020 - 30/06/2021
Prof. Hatem Salem AM 01/07/2020 - 30/06/2021
Ms Helen Brunt 01/07/2020 - 30/06/2021
Mrs Jane Bell 01/07/2020 - 30/06/2021
Associate Professor Misty Jenkins 01/07/2020 - 30/06/2021
Prof. Peter McDougall 01/07/2020 - 30/06/2021
Ms Robyn McLeod 01/07/2020 - 30/06/2021
Mr Tony Brain 01/07/2020 - 30/06/2021

Accountable Officers
Mr Andrew Stripp (Chief Executive) 01/07/2020 - 30/06/2021

Remuneration of Responsible Persons
The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands. Kitaya Holding Pty Ltd is Monash Health’s controlled 
entity. Amounts relating to Kitaya Holding Pty Ltd’s Governing Board Members and Accountable Officer are disclosed in its financial 
statements. Amounts relating to Responsible Ministers are reported within the Department of Parliamentary Services’ Financial Report.

Remuneration of Responsible Persons
The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands:

Consolidated 
2021

Consolidated 
2020

Income Band No. No.

$50,000 - $59,999  8  7 

$60,000 - $69,999  -  1 

$100,000 - $109,999  1  1 

$530,000 - $539,999  -  1 

$540,000 - $549,999  1  - 

Total Numbers  10  10 

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

Total remuneration received or due and receivable by Responsible Persons  
from the reporting entity amounted to: $1,112  $1,105 
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Note 8.3: Remuneration of Executives
The number of executive officers, other than Ministers and Accountable Officers, and their total remuneration during the  
reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee equivalent provides a measure of full time  
equivalent executive officers over the reporting period. 

Remuneration of Executive Officers

Consolidated
Total Remuneration

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

Short-term benefits  3,012  2,974 

Post-employment benefits  69  174 

Other long-term benefits  254  257 

Total remunerationi  3,335  3,405 

Total number of executives  9  10 

Total annualised employee equivalentii  9  9 

i. The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the definition of Key Management Personnel (KMP) of Monash Health under  
AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and are also reported within Note 8.4 Related Parties. 

ii. Annualised employee equivalent is based on working 38 ordinary hours per week over the reporting period.

Total remuneration payable to 
executives during the 2019-20 year 
included additional executive officers 
and a number of executives who 
received bonus payments during the 
2019-20 year. No bonuses were paid 
in the 2020-21 year. These bonus 
payments depend on the terms of 
individual employment contracts.  
Remuneration comprises employee 
benefits in all forms of consideration 
paid, payable or provided in exchange 
for services rendered, and is disclosed 
in the following categories:

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages, annual leave 
or sick leave that are usually paid 
or payable on a regular basis, as 
well as non-monetary benefits 
such as allowances and free or 
subsidised goods or services. 

Post-employment Benefits
Pensions and other retirement 
benefits (such as superannuation 
guarantee contributions) paid or 
payable on a discrete basis when 
employment has ceased. 

Other Long-term Benefits
Long service leave, other long-service 
benefit or deferred compensation. 

Note 8.4: Related parties
Monash Health is a wholly owned 
and controlled entity of the State 
of Victoria. Related parties of 
Monash Health include:

• All key management 
personnel (KMP) and their 
close family members;

• Cabinet ministers (where applicable) 
and their close family members;

• Controlled Entity – Kitaya 
Holdings Pty Ltd; and

• All hospitals and public sector 
entities that are controlled and 
consolidated into the State of 
Victoria financial statements.

KMPs are those people with the 
authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities 
of the Monash Health and its controlled 
entities, directly or indirectly. 

The Board of Directors and 
the Chief Executive of Monash 
Health and its controlled entities 
are deemed to be KMPs.

Key management personnel 
of Monash Health
The Board of Directors and the 
Executive Directors of Monash Health 
and its controlled entities are deemed 
to be KMPs. This includes the following:

KMPs Position Title

Mr Dipak Sanghvi Chair of the Board

Assoc. Prof. Misty Jenkins Board Member

Ms Aurélia Balpe Board Member

Mrs Jane Bell Board Member

Ms Helen Brunt Board Member

Ms Robyn McLeod Board Member

Prof. Hatem Salem Board Member

Mr Tony Brain Board Member

Prof. Peter McDougall Board Member

Mr Andrew Stripp Chief Executive Officer
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Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd’s KMPs 
are disclosed in the company’s 
financial statements.

The compensation detailed below 
excludes the salaries and benefits 
the Portfolio Ministers receive. 

The Minister’s remuneration and 
allowances is set by the Parliamentary 
Salaries and Superannuation 
Act 1968, and is reported within 
the Department of Parliamentary 
Services’ Financial Report.

Compensation - KMPs

Consolidated
2021
$’000

Consolidated
2020
$’000

Short-term employee benefitsi 1,008  993 

Post-employment benefits 79  79 

Other long-term benefits 25  33 

Totalii 1,112  1,105 

i. Total remuneration paid to KMPs employed as a contractor during the reporting period  
through accounts payable has been reported under short-term employee benefits.

ii. KMPs are also reported in Note 8.2 Responsible Persons  
or Note 8.3 Remuneration of Executives. 

Significant Transactions with 
Government Related Entities
Monash Health received funding 
from the Department of Health (DH) 
of $1,985m (2020: $1,783m) and 
indirect contributions of $14.7m (2020: 
$13.7m). Monash Health also received 
further funds from the DH of $176m 
(2020 $850m) to act as an agent for 
the Department in paying, warehousing 
and distributing products for Victorian 
health services and other entities during 
the COVID-19 pandemic. As at 30 June 
2021 Monash Health have recorded a 
current liability of $7.4m (2020 $195m) 
for the remaining balance owed to the 
department for amounts received but 
unspent. The DH granted an interest 
free loan of $10m to Monash Health 
in 2018. The loan is repayable over 10 
years with repayments made annually. 
At 30 June 2021, the total amount 
due to DH in relation to this loan was 
$6.9m (2020: $7.6m). In June 2021, 
the Department of Health granted no 
cash advance in the current financial 
year (2020 $52.4m to meet early July 
payments in which the amount was 
repaid in the current financial year).

Monash Health has two loan 
agreements with Treasury Corporation 
of Victoria (TCV) for $19.6m and 
$13.3m with amounts borrowed 

repayable over 22 and 20 years 
respectively. At 30 June 2021, the total 
amount due to TCV in relation to these 
loans was $23.4m (2020: $24.7m)

Expenses incurred by Monash 
Health in delivering services and 
outputs are in accordance with Health 
Purchasing Victoria requirements. 
Goods and services including 
procurement, diagnostics, patient 
meals and multi-site operational 
support are provided by other 
Victorian Health Service Providers 
on commercial terms. Professional 
medical indemnity insurance 
and other insurance products 
are obtained from the Victorian 
Managed Insurance Authority. 

The Standing Directions of the 
Assistant Treasurer require Monash 
Health to hold cash (in excess of 
working capital) in accordance with 
the State’s centralised banking 
arrangements. All borrowings are 
required to be sourced from Treasury 
Corporation Victoria unless an 
exemption has been approved by 
the Minister for Health and Human 
Services and the Treasurer.

Transactions with KMPs and 
Other Related Parties
Given the breadth and depth of 

State government activities, related 
parties transactions with the Victorian 
public sector occur in a manner 
consistent with other members of 
the public. Further, employment 
of processes within the Victorian 
public sector occur on terms and 
conditions consistent with the Public 
Administration Act 2004 and Codes of 
Conduct and Standards issued by the 
Victorian Public Sector Commission. 
Procurement processes occur on 
terms and conditions consistent 
with the Victorian Government 
Procurement Board requirements. 

Outside transactions undertaken on 
arm’s length terms and in the ordinary 
course of carrying out Monash Health’s 
functions and activities, there were 
no related party transactions that 
involved key management personnel, 
their close family members and their 
personal business interests. No 
provision has been required, nor any 
expense recognised, for impairment of 
receivables from related parties. There 
were no related party transactions 
with Cabinet Ministers required to 
be disclosed in 2021 (2020 Nil).

There were no related party 
transactions required to be 
disclosed for the Monash Health 
Board of Directors and the Chief 



Monash Health Annual Report. 2020-21142

Financial Statements

Executive Officer in 2021.
Related party transactions required 

to be disclosed for Kitaya Holding Pty 
Ltd’s Board of Directors in 2021 are 
disclosed in its financial statements.

Controlled Entities Related 
Party Transactions

Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd
• Ms Jane Bell is a member of both 

the Monash Health Board and the 
Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd Board.

• Mr Andrew Stripp is Chief Executive 
of Monash Health and a member of 
the Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd Board. 

• Mr Stuart Donaldson is Chief 
Financial Officer of Monash 
Health and a member of the 
Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd Board. 

Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd operates Jessie 
McPherson Private Hospital. Monash 
Health is reimbursed by its controlled 
entity, Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd, for 

the provision of goods and services 
required to run the private hospital. The 
fee includes charges for labour, power, 
food, cleaning and other services.  All 
transactions are conducted on normal 
commercial terms and conditions.

The aggregate amounts brought 
to account in respect of the following 
types of transactions were:

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

Rental income received from its controlled entity  1,200  1,183 

Contracted goods and services provided to its controlled entity  18,232  17,438 

Amount owing to controlled entity at balance date  12,369  15,586 

8.5 Remuneration of auditors Consolidated

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office

Audit of the financial statements  297  297 

Total remuneration of auditors  297  297 

Note 8.6: Events occurring 
after the balance sheet date
There are no events occurring 
after the Balance Sheet date.

Note 8.7: Controlled entities
Monash Health’s interest in the jointly 
controlled operations are detailed 
below. The amounts are included in 
the consolidated financial statements 
under their respective categories: 

Name of Entity Country of Incorporation Ownership Interest % Equity Holding

Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd (trading as 
Jessie McPherson Private Hospital)

Australia 100 100%

Monash Health’s interest in revenues and expenses resulting from this is detailed below:

Controlled entities contribution to the consolidated results

Net result for the year
2021
$'000

2020
$'000

Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd  -541  -2,151

Contingent liabilities and 
capital commitments 
There are no known contingent liabilities 
or capital commitments held by 
controlled operations at balance date.
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Note 8.8: Investments accounted for using the equity method

Ownership Interest Published Fair Value

Name of Entity
Principal 

Activity
Country of 

Incorporation
2021

%
2020

%
2021
$'000

2020
$'000

Associates

Monash Health Research 
Precinct Pty Ltd (a)(b)

Property 
Investment Australia 20.33 20.33  4,443  4,246 

(a). As at 30 June 2021, the fair value of Monash Health’s interest in Monash Health Research Precinct Pty Ltd was based on its share of the  
company’s net assets which is a level 3 input in terms of AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement.

(b). The financial year end date in Monash Health Research Precinct Pty Ltd is 31 December. This was the reporting date established when that  
company was incorporated. For the purpose of applying the equity method of accounting, the financial statements of Monash Health Research  
Precinct Pty Ltd have been used, and appropriate adjustments have been made for the effects of significant transactions between that date  
and 30 June 2021.

Note 8.9: Equity

Contributed capital
Contributions by owners (that 
is, contributed capital and its 
repayment) are treated as equity 
transactions and, therefore, do 
not form part of the income and 
expenses of Monash Health. 

Transfers of net assets arising from 
administrative restructurings are treated 
as distributions to or contributions by 
owners. Transfers of net liabilities arising 
from administrative restructurings are 
treated as distributions to owners. 

Other transfers that are in the 
nature of contributions or distributions 
or that have been designated 
as contributed capital are also 
treated as contributed capital.

Specific restricted purpose reserves
The specific restricted purpose reserve 
is established where Monash Health 
has possession or title to the funds 
but has no discretion to amend or 
vary the restriction and/or condition 
underlying the funds received.

Note 8.10: Economic 
dependency
Monash Health is wholly dependent 
on the continued financial support 
of the State Government and in 
particular, the Department of Health.

The Department of Health has 
provided confirmation that it will 
continue to provide Monash Health 
adequate cash flow support to meet 
its current and future obligations as 
and when they fall due for a period up 

to 30 September 2022. On that basis, 
the financial statements have been 
prepared on a going concern basis

Note 8.11: Glossary of terms 
and style conventions 

Actuarial gains or losses on 
superannuation defined benefit plans
Actuarial gains or losses are changes in 
the present value of the superannuation 
defined benefit liability resulting from:

• experience adjustments (the 
effects of differences between the 
previous actuarial assumptions and 
what has actually occurred); and

• the effects of changes in 
actuarial assumptions.

Amortisation
Amortisations is the expense which 
results from the consumption, 
extraction or use over time of a non-
produced physical or intangible asset. 

Associates
Associates are all entities over which 
an entity has significant influence but 
not control, generally accompanying 
a shareholding and voting rights of 
between 20 per cent and 50 per cent.

Comprehensive result
The net result of all items of income 
and expense recognized for the period. 
It is the aggregate of operating result 
and other comprehensive income.

Commitments
Commitments include those 
operating, capital and other 
outsourcing commitments arising 
from non-cancellable contractual 
or statutory sources.

Current grants
Amounts payable or receivable 
for current purposes for which no 
economic benefits of equal value 
are receivable or payable in return.

Depreciation
Depreciation is an expense that 
arises from the consumption through 
wear or time of a produced physical 
or intangible asset. This expense 
reduces the ‘net result for the year’.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is 
used to calculate the amortized cost 
of a financial asset or liability and 
of allocating interest income over 
the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period.

Employee benefits expenses
Employee benefits expenses include 
all costs related to employment 
including wages and salaries, fringe 
benefits tax, leave entitlements, 
redundancy payments, defined benefits 
superannuation plans, and defined 
contribution superannuation plans.
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Ex-gratia expenses
Ex-gratia expenses mean the voluntary 
payment of money or other non-
monetary benefit (e.g. a write off) 
that is not made either to acquire 
goods, services or other benefits for 
the entity or to meet a legal liability, 
or to settle or resolve a possible legal 
liability, or claim against the entity. 

Financial asset
A financial asset is any asset that is:

• cash;

• an equity instrument of another entity;

• a contractual or statutory right:

• to receive cash or 
another financial asset 
from another entity; or

• to exchange financial assets 
or financial liabilities with another 
entity under conditions that are 
potentially favorable to the entity; or

• a contract that will or may 
be settled in the entity’s own 
equity instruments and is:

• a non-derivative for which the 
entity is or may be obliged to 
receive a variable number of the 
entity’s own equity instruments; or

• a derivative that will or may 
be settled other than by the 
exchange of a fixed amount of 
cash or another financial asset 
for a fixed number of the entity’s 
own equity instruments.

Financial instrument
A financial instrument is any contract 
that gives rise to a financial asset of 
one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity. 
Financial assets or liabilities that are 
not contractual (such as statutory 
receivables or payables that arise 
as a result of statutory requirements 
imposed by governments) are 
not financial instruments.

Financial liability
A financial liability is any liability that is:
• A contractual obligation:

• to deliver cash or another 
financial asset to another entity; or

• to exchange financial 
assets or financial liabilities 
with another entity under 
conditions that are potentially 
unfavorable to the entity; or

• A contract that will or may 
be settled in the entity’s own 
equity instruments and is:

• a non-derivative for which the 
entity is or may be obliged to 
deliver a variable number of the 
entity’s own equity instruments; or

• a derivative that will or may be 
settled other than by the exchange 
of a fixed amount of cash or 
another financial asset for a fixed 
number of the entity’s own equity 
instruments. For this purpose the 
entity’s own equity instruments 
do not include instruments that 
are themselves contracts for the 
future receipt or delivery of the 
entity’s own equity instruments.

Financial statements
A complete set of financial 
statements comprises:

• Balance sheet as at the 
end of the period;

• Comprehensive operating 
statement for the period;

• A statement of changes in 
equity for the period;

• Cash flow statement for the period;

• Notes, comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information;

• Comparative information in 
respect of the preceding period 
as specified in paragraph 38 
of AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements; and

• A statement of financial position 
at the beginning of the preceding 
period when an entity applies an 
accounting policy retrospectively or 
makes a retrospective restatement 
of items in its financial statements, 
or when it reclassifies items in its 
financial statements in accordance 
with paragraphs 41 of AASB 101.

Grants and other transfers
Transactions in which one unit provides 
goods, services, assets (or extinguishes 
a liability) or labor to another unit 
without receiving approximately equal 
value in return. Grants can either 
be operating or capital in nature.

While grants to governments 
may result in the provision of some 
goods or services to the transferor, 
they do not give the transferor a 
claim to receive directly benefits of 
approximately equal value. For this 
reason, grants are referred to by 
the AASB as involuntary transfers 
and are termed non-reciprocal 
transfers. Receipt and sacrifice of 
approximately equal value may occur, 
but only by coincidence. For example, 
governments are not obliged to provide 
commensurate benefits, in the form 
of goods or services, to particular 
taxpayers in return for their taxes. 

Grants can be paid as general 
purpose grants which refer to grants 
that are not subject to conditions 
regarding their use. Alternatively, they 
may be paid as specific purpose 
grants which are paid for a particular 
purpose and/or have conditions 
attached regarding their use.

General government sector
The general government sector 
comprises all government departments, 
offices and other bodies engaged in 
providing services free of charge or 
at prices significantly below their cost 
of production. General government 
services include those which are mainly 
non-market in nature, those which 
are largely for collective consumption 
by the community and those which 
involve the transfer or redistribution of 
income. These services are financed 
mainly through taxes, or other 
compulsory levies and user charges.
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Intangible produced assets
Refer to produced assets in this glossary.

Intangible non-produced assets
Refer to non-produced asset in  
this glossary.

Interest expense
Costs incurred in connection with the 
borrowing of funds includes interest 
on bank overdrafts and short-term 
and long-term liabilities, amortization 
of discounts or premiums relating 
to liabilities, interest component of 
finance leases repayments, and 
the increase in financial liabilities 
and non-employee provisions due 
to the unwinding of discounts to 
reflect the passage of time.

Interest income
Interest income includes unwinding 
over time of discounts on financial 
assets and interest received on bank 
term deposits and other investments.
Investment properties
Investment properties represent 
properties held to earn rentals or 
for capital appreciation or both.  
Investment properties exclude 
properties held to meet service delivery 
objectives of the State of Victoria.

Joint Arrangements
A joint arrangement is an arrangement 
of which two or more parties have 
joint control. A joint arrangement 
has the following characteristics: 

• The parties are bound by a 
contractual arrangement and 

• The contractual arrangement gives 
two or more of those parties joint 
control of the arrangement; 

A joint arrangement is either a joint 
operation or a joint venture.

Liabilities
Liabilities refers to interest-bearing 
liabilities mainly raised from public 
liabilities raised through the 
Treasury Corporation of Victoria, 
finance leases and other interest-
bearing arrangements. Liabilities 
also include non-interest-bearing 

advances from government that 
are acquired for policy purposes.

Net acquisition of non-financial 
assets (from transactions)
Purchases (and other acquisitions) 
of non-financial assets less sales (or 
disposals) of non-financial assets 
less depreciation plus changes in 
inventories and other movements 
in non-financial assets. It includes 
only those increases or decreases 
in non-financial assets resulting 
from transactions and therefore 
excludes write-offs, impairment 
write-downs and revaluations.

Net result
Net result is a measure of financial 
performance of the operations for the 
period. It is the net result of items of 
income, gains and expenses (including 
losses) recognized for the period, 
excluding those that are classified 
as ‘other comprehensive income’.

Net result from transactions/
net operating balance, Net result 
from transactions or net operating 
balance is a key fiscal aggregate and 
is income from transactions minus 
expenses from transactions. It is a 
summary measure of the ongoing 
sustainability of operations. It excludes 
gains and losses resulting from 
changes in price levels and other 
changes in the volume of assets. 

Net worth
Assets less liabilities, which is an 
economic measure of wealth.

Non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are all assets 
that are not ‘financial assets’. It 
includes inventories, land, buildings, 
infrastructure, and road networks, 
land under roads, plant and 
equipment, investment properties, 
cultural and heritage assets, 
intangible and biological assets.

Non-produced assets
Non-produced assets are assets 
needed for production that have not 
themselves been produced. They 
include land, subsoil assets, and certain 
intangible assets. Non-produced 

intangibles are intangible assets needed 
for production that have not themselves 
been produced. They include 
constructs of society such as patents.

Non-profit institution
A legal or social entity that is created 
for the purpose of producing or 
distributing goods and services but is 
not permitted to be a source of income, 
profit or other financial gain for the units 
that establish, control or finance it.

Payables
Includes short and long term trade 
debt and accounts payable, grants, 
taxes and interest payable.

Produced assets
Produced assets include buildings, 
plant and equipment, inventories, 
cultivated assets and certain intangible 
assets. Intangible produced assets 
may include computer software, 
motion picture films, and research 
and development costs (which 
does not include the startup costs 
associated with capital projects).

Public financial corporation sector
Public financial corporations (PFCs) 
are bodies primarily engaged in the 
provision of financial intermediation 
services or auxiliary financial services. 
They are able to incur financial 
liabilities on their own account (e.g. 
taking deposits, issuing securities 
or providing insurance services).

Estimates are not published for the 
public financial corporation sector.

Public non-financial 
corporation sector
The public non-financial corporation 
(PNFC) sector comprises bodies 
mainly engaged in the production of 
goods and services (of a non-financial 
nature) for sale in the market place 
at prices that aim to recover most 
of the costs involved (e.g. water and 
port authorities). In general, PNFCs 
are legally distinguishable from the 
governments which own them.

Receivables
Includes amounts owing from 
government through appropriation 
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receivable, short and long term trade 
credit and accounts receivable, 
accrued investment income, grants, 
taxes and interest receivable.

Sales of goods and services
Refers to income from the direct 
provision of goods and services 
and includes fees and charges for 
services rendered, sales of goods 
and services, fees from regulatory 
services and work done as an agent 
for private enterprises. It also includes 
rental income under operating leases 
and on produced assets such as 
buildings and entertainment, but 
excludes rent income from the use 
of non-produced assets such as 
land. User charges includes sale 
of goods and services income.

Supplies and services
Supplies and services generally 
represent cost of goods sold and the 
day-to-day running costs, including 
maintenance costs, incurred in the 
normal operations of Monash Health. 
Supplies and services are recognised 
as an expense in the reporting period 
in which they are incurred. The 
carrying amounts of any inventories 
held for distribution are expensed 
when the inventories are distributed. 

Taxation income
Taxation income represents 
income received from the State’s 
taxpayers and includes:

• payroll tax; land tax; duties levied 
principally on conveyances 
and land transfers;

• gambling taxes levied mainly on private 
lotteries, electronic gaming machines, 
casino operations and racing;

• insurance duty relating to 
compulsory third party, life 
and non-life policies;

• insurance company 
contributions to fire brigades;

• motor vehicle taxes, including 
registration fees and duty on 
registrations and transfers;

• levies (including the environmental 
levy) on statutory corporations in 
other sectors of government; and

• other taxes, including landfill levies, 
license and concession fees.

Transactions
Revised Transactions are those 
economic flows that are considered 

to arise as a result of policy decisions, 
usually an interaction between 
two entities by mutual agreement. 
They also include flows in an entity 
such as depreciation where the 
owner is simultaneously acting 
as the owner of the depreciating 
asset and as the consumer of the 
service provided by the asset. 

Taxation is regarded as mutually 
agreed interactions between 
the government and taxpayers. 
Transactions can be in kind (e.g. 
assets provided/given free of charge 
or for nominal consideration) or where 
the final consideration is cash. 

Style conventions
Figures in the tables and in the text 
have been rounded. Discrepancies 
in tables between totals and 
sums of components reflect 
rounding. Percentage variations 
in all tables are based on the 
underlying unrounded amounts.

The notation used in the 
tables is as follows:

• zero, or rounded to zero

• (xxx.x) negative numbers
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